# National Service Improvement Framework for Cancer



## CONTENTS

Preamble: National Service Improvement Frameworks

National Service Improvement Framework For Cancer 4

Reduce The Risk Of Cancer

12

1

Find Cancer Early

21

Treatment And Support During Active Treatment 33

Management And Support After, And Between, Active Treatment

49

Care And Support At End Of Life 54

Rationale For The Components Of Optimal Services And Critical Intervention Points

56

Critical Intervention Points For Cancer Control 61

National Priority Actions For Change 63

Acknowledgements

64

Reference List

65

## PREAMBLE: NATIONAL SERVICE IMPROVEMENT FRAMEWORKS

### INTRODUCTION

In October 2002, the Australian Health Ministers' Advisory Council agreed to the development of National Service Improvement Frameworks for the national health priority chronic conditions of cancer, diabetes, asthma, cardiovascular disease and stroke, and arthritis and musculoskeletal conditions, under the auspices of the National Health Priority Action Council. The Frameworks are joint initiatives of the Australian and State and Territory Governments.

The National Health Priority Action Council's purpose is to drive health service improvements to achieve better health outcomes for all Australians, including disadvantaged groups, for the national health priority chronic conditions.

The National Service Improvement Frameworks are an integral component of a broader National Chronic Disease Strategy, being developed by the National Health Priority Action Council under the health reform agenda.

The Frameworks draw upon the expertise of a range of stakeholder groups including leading clinicians, Australian and State and Territory policy makers, consumers and members of non-government and other health organisations. The cancer Framework is the first to be developed.

## WHY NATIONAL SERVICE IMPROVEMENT FRAMEWORKS?

The National Service Improvement Frameworks are important tools to bring about more person centred, equitable, timely, effective and affordable care for all Australians and a more cohesive approach to health care delivery.

They recognise that the provision of high quality health services is complex, as it is a shared responsibility of Australian and State and Territory Governments, the public and private sectors and non-government organisations. Service delivery partnerships, multidisciplinary teams, and seamless, coordinated and psychosocial care are strongly encouraged as part of optimal care.

The Frameworks also recognise that the health of individuals and populations is influenced by many factors (e.g. biomedical, lifestyle and behaviour, knowledge attitudes and beliefs, genetic and environmental factors) that may act alone or in conjunction with others. They acknowledge that the existence of co-morbidities in individuals and populations can lead to complex care needs.

In driving improvements in health services for people with National Health Priority Area chronic conditions, the aims of the Frameworks are to:

- Prevent and limit the progression of these chronic conditions;
- Slow the onset of the complications that can cause severe disabilities;
- Reduce preventable hospital admissions;
- Reduce variations in care that are provided:
  - by different clinicians and health services;
  - to people from metropolitan, regional, rural and remote areas; and
  - to disadvantaged groups.

## WHAT ARE NATIONAL SERVICE IMPROVEMENT FRAMEWORKS?

The National Service Improvement Frameworks are high level guides for health services to inform:

- Consumers;
- Clinicians;
- Planners and designers;
- Policy-makers, funders and providers; and
- Professionals and managers.

They are designed to support and complement State and Territory clinical frameworks and local plans as well as the range of national initiatives already established or in train. These broader public health strategies are aimed at reducing the burden of chronic non-communicable diseases such as the national tobacco, alcohol, nutrition and physical activity strategies.

Many chronic diseases have common risk factors (e.g. nutrition, obesity and physical activity). Attention to lifestyle behaviours may prevent or delay their onset as well as reduce progression and complications.

The Frameworks are not intended to replace clinical practice guidelines and pathways, or processes of accreditation, clinical audit or benchmarking approaches. Rather, they are provided to encourage the adoption of processes so as to translate evidence into practice. They don't attempt to prescribe what services will look like at the jurisdictional or local level. The Frameworks therefore state <u>what</u> needs to happen to achieve optimal care in cancer. They are <u>not</u> however implementation plans or guides as to <u>how</u> to achieve change. Separate implementation plans will be developed in consultation with State and Territory Governments and other key stakeholders.

Many of the building blocks already exist to facilitate the delivery of optimal services. States and Territories have their distinctive arrangements and programs to deliver care to their communities, including a range of local service plans, service frameworks and strategies. These, together with Australian Government programs, joint national initiatives, and activities of non-government organisations, are consistent with, supported and complemented by the Frameworks. Examples include diagnostic and screening services (for example, breast cancer screening services), and treatment and rehabilitation services provided by States and Territories.

## **GUIDING PRINCIPLES**

The following guiding principles are being applied in mapping out the health service needs of the Australian community through the National Service Improvement Frameworks:

- Placing people, families and communities affected by chronic diseases at the centre of care;
- Spanning the continuum of care and life course for the condition – embracing where required, prevention, screening, diagnosis, management, rehabilitation, living with the condition, and palliation;
- Spanning different clinical and community settings;
- Supporting the application of evidence-based practice; and
- Focusing on disadvantaged and special population groups having appropriate health services.

People, carers and families affected by chronic disease are acknowledged as part of the broader experience of these conditions. Disadvantaged groups include people with mental disorders, people who are socio-economically disadvantaged, people in regional, rural and remote communities, people from culturally and linguistically diverse communities, and particularly Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. Additionally, it is acknowledged that special population groups such as people who are frail aged, people who are younger or with disabilities may have special needs.

### **ACTION POINTS**

The National Service Improvement Frameworks identify "critical intervention points" – those opportunities representing aspects of prevention and care where Australia might most usefully invest.

Critical intervention points have been selected through identifying the:

- Needs of the well community for information about a chronic disease;
- Needs of people with a chronic disease;

- Optimal system or service response;
- Gaps between the optimal system or service and what currently happens; and
- Gaps representing the best opportunity for gains in health outcomes and improvement at the system level.

Broad strategies for the adoption of the Frameworks and improvements to care focusing on the critical intervention points are also outlined, covering national, regional, rural, remote and local levels. Specific performance measures will be used to assess whether service improvements are taking place.

## NATIONAL SERVICE IMPROVEMENT FRAMEWORK FOR CANCER

Cancer is a chronic and complex set of diseases with different tumour sites. For some cancers, there is considerable knowledge about their causes and optimal treatment. This varies for other cancers. The outcomes for people with cancer also vary markedly, as does the experience of each individual, often referred to as the 'cancer journey'.

The Australian health system is complex. Initiatives related to cancer control are many and diverse. The Australian Government has a leadership role in policy making and particularly in national issues like public health, research and national information management. State and Territory governments are primarily responsible for the delivery and management of public health services and for maintaining direct relationships with most health care providers, including the regulation of health professionals. The Cancer Councils, the National Cancer Control Initiative, the National Breast Cancer Centre and the Clinical Oncological Society of Australia play an important role in research; education; programs for prevention and detection; and management. Also important are consumer groups, community organisations, general practitioners, allied health professionals, professional bodies, educational institutions and the private sector.

To coordinate these differing roles and improve the efficiency of health care, the Australian and State and Territory governments work together on a range of major health initiatives, including cancer control, through the National Health Priority Area (NHPA) initiative.

Cancer became a NHPA in 1996. Eight priority cancers have been identified by all jurisdictions where significant health gains may be made through prevention, early detection and evidencebased management. These are breast cancer, cervical cancer, bowel cancer, lung cancer, melanoma, non-Hodgkins lymphoma, nonmelanoma skin cancer and prostate cancer.

Those cancers which represent the highest burden of disease are bowel cancer for its high incidence and lung cancer for its high mortality. The highest incidence of cancer in males is prostate cancer and breast cancer for females. Cancer continues to rise with a disproportionate rate of cancers in disadvantaged groups (for example high rates of lung cancer in low socioeconomic populations<sup>1</sup>.

In 2002 approximately 459,000 people were newly diagnosed with cancer<sup>1</sup>. This includes 85,000 cases other than common skin cancers and about 374,000 non-melamona skin cancers (a less threatening form of skin cancer). Excluding these skin cancers, cancer will affect one in three males and one in four females in Australia before the age of 75 years<sup>1</sup>. In 2001 there were an estimated 267,600 people in Australia with malignant cancer living in private households<sup>2</sup>.

Cancer is the most common cause of years of life lost for Australians between the ages of 25 and 64 years – economically important years. Most cancer deaths in males are from lung cancer overall and breast cancer in females. Cancer currently accounts for about one-third of male deaths and one quarter of female deaths<sup>1</sup>.

Five-year survival rates for the most common cancers affecting men (prostate cancer) and women (breast cancer) are now more than 80%. In international comparisons, our cancer survival rates are second only to the USA with death rates in Australia falling, on average, by about 1.9 percent during the last decade alone. In 2002 more than 37,000 Australians died of cancer<sup>2</sup>.

While Australia is doing very well in relation to both survival and quality of life indicators, we could do much better by systematically implementing best practice treatments for people with cancer from the time of diagnosis. Cancer requires highly specialised care. Care is delivered in a number of settings, by a number of health professionals, and through varying modes of treatment, for example surgery, chemotherapy, and radiotherapy. Increasingly, this care is being delivered in the community rather than only in acute-care settings. Contributing to this growing trend has been increased survival with more periods of remission, new technologies and outpatient treatment options, such as chemotherapy services.

The National Service Improvement Framework for cancer (hereafter referred to as "the Framework") is the first to be developed and will serve as the prototype for the other health priority area chronic conditions. The Frameworks are intended to be tools to drive improvement in health services for people with national health priority conditions to achieve better health outcomes for all Australians, including disadvantaged groups.

## OVERVIEW OF NATIONAL SERVICE IMPROVEMENT FRAMEWORK FOR CANCER

This Framework is intended to outline what all Australians with, or at risk of, cancer should expect to be provided through the Australian health care system, irrespective of where they live.

For people with cancer, the patient journey is complex and difficult. Indeed modern health care is probably the most complex activity ever undertaken by human beings.

Every person with cancer is unique. So each cancer journey is different. Yet drawing together evidence from studies and stories helps identify where critical improvements can be made at the national level and provides ideas about what we know about successful health service arrangements.

This National Service Improvement Framework for cancer describes what is currently known about high quality care for cancer. It also takes into account where in the body cancer is located as this is critical to optimal care.

As services are organised and resourced very differently in different parts of Australia, this Framework does not attempt to prescribe what services will look like at the jurisdictional or local level. It focuses instead on what should be expected to happen for all people with cancer, based on optimal pathways of care.

The adoption of the National Service Improvement Framework for cancer will require a systematic implementation plan developed in consultation with States and Territories, professional colleges, non-government organisations, consumer groups and other key stakeholders.

## APPROACH TO THE NATIONAL SERVICE IMPROVEMENT FRAMEWORK FOR CANCER

A number of principles underlie the development of the Framework:

- The Framework includes strategies for prevention through to care at the end of life.
   Prevention is a critical component of cancer control since prevention can best reduce both future new cancers (cancer incidence) and therefore the number of people needing treatment for cancer and also decrease the number of people who will die of cancer;
- The Framework is based on the needs of people with cancer, carers, families and communities to reduce the burden of illness and distress associated with cancer. The needs are used to identify optimal cancer services. They are identified in the sequence of the cancer journey and are not in priority order;
- The Framework considers the provision of best practice cancer care to all Australians. This requires the development of appropriate service delivery models for people living in regional, rural and remote areas, for people managed in the public and private sectors and for those aspects of treatment provided outside major centres with particular expertise;
- The Framework recognises that some communities and individuals need special programs and services to ensure that they can access appropriate cancer care. These include, but are not limited to, people living in regional, rural and remote areas of Australia, people from culturally and linguistically diverse communities and lower socioeconomic status, and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander backgrounds;

- The Framework draws on existing international and national plans including the United Kingdom's National Cancer Plan<sup>3</sup> and Australia's cancer plans and policies, including States and Territories. It also draws on a number of other recent documents developed including Optimising Cancer Care in Australia<sup>4</sup>, Priorities for Action in Cancer Control<sup>5</sup>, the report of the Radiation Oncology Inquiry<sup>6</sup>, the report from the Cancer in the Bush conference<sup>7</sup> among others;
- The Framework recognises that, although hospitalisation and specialist treatment are critical components of combating cancer, a large part of the journey for people with cancer takes place in the community, where primary care providers, such as general practitioners and community nurses, are the cornerstones of continuing care; and
- The Framework identifies critical intervention points, which provide an opportunity for improving cancer control. The critical intervention points are based on the best available evidence.

## THE NATIONAL SERVICE IMPROVEMENT FRAMEWORK FOR CANCER

## THE FRAMEWORK AND ITS SCOPE:

The Framework is shown in Figure 1.

It indicates that people and services range across a continuum from well people in their communities, through detection and diagnosis to people living with cancer. Five main phases are identified as follows:

People want to:

- Reduce their risk of developing cancer;
- Find cancer as early as possible, if early treatment is effective;
- Have the best treatment and support during active treatment;
- Have the best treatment and support, after and between, periods of active treatment; and
- Have the best care at the end of life, if the cancer is not cured.

Although the Framework does not address specific tumour sites or target groups (for example Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander populations or paediatric cancers), it does draw upon the available evidence most of which comes from the national priority cancers. The priority cancers are breast cancer; bowel cancer; lung cancer; skin cancer; melanoma; prostate cancer; cervical cancer and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. The Framework also recognises the strong track record of paediatric oncology in relation to best practice care, for example patient enrolment in clincal trials, effective care coordination and multidisciplinary care.

## THE ANALYSIS

The Framework applies a systematic analysis of evidence and consensus to consideration of each phase along the continuum of care by asking:

## What are optimal person-centred cancer services?

The optimal services are defined by an analysis of:

- The needs of people, families and communities affected by cancer; and
- What is known about the effectiveness of different types of service provision.

### What is happening now?

Current care is described in relation to both needs and service provision. In some areas, this analysis is limited by a lack of data about many aspects of current care.

#### What is needed for change to occur?

The Framework identifies system level changes that should assist in improving cancer control. It also identifies, where possible, some models of good and innovative practice.

### What are the priorities for improving care?

The Framework identifies nineteen opportunities for improving cancer control in Australia by comparing optimal services with current provision. The opportunities for improving care or critical intervention points represent those aspects of care where Australia might most usefully invest to reduce death and distress from cancer. The identification of priorities is based on consideration of whether the aspect of care:

- Is important in terms of death, suffering or health care costs;
- Is currently suboptimal given what is known about optimal services and about current care; and
- Can be significantly improved.

## What are the national priority actions for change?

There are eight priority actions which underpin the critical intervention points. If these actions were undertaken by National and State/Territory Governments, the basis for establishing many of the optimal services identified in the Framework would be in place.

Figure Making change from of individuals	1: An Organising Fran AIM – People will be able to: ———————————————————— WHAT ARE THE IDEAL PERSON WHAT ARE THE IDEAL PERSON people's Needs people's Needs Ideal Service          WHAT IS HAPPENING NOW?         WHAT IS HAPPENING NOW?         Urrent practice in meeting consumer needs and providing ideal services         WHAT ARE PRIORITIES FOR IMP	Mell community Well community more at ris of cancer OR PATIENT CENTR	Cancer Service (some of whom are sk than others) Find cancer early RED CANCER SERVICE The need	e Improvements People v Have the best treatment and support during active treatment S? of people who have or at risk of o of people in current care V POINTS)?	vith cancer, carers and families Have the best treatment and support between and after active treatment dncer	Have the best care at the end of life
		V	— Where do the g	laps between ideal and actual pract	ice matter?	
To Lotome	WHAT NATIONAL ACTIONS ARE	NEEDED FOR CHA	NGE TO OCCUR?			
Change						

## **KEY CONSIDERATIONS**

### There are several considerations in interpreting the National Service Improvement Framework for Cancer

- The analysis is limited by a lack of evidence about the costs, benefits and feasibility of different models of service provision in Australia. It is often difficult to generalise strategies and approaches from Europe or North America because of the different organisation of health services, different geography and different population;
- Similarly, the analysis is limited by a lack of data about many ways in which current cancer care is provided in Australia. There have been few patterns of care studies about the provision of treatment and there is very little information about approaches to diagnosing cancer. There are very few studies that have examined the organisation of cancer services. The absence of this information limits the ability to describe current practice or to identify gaps in service provision;
- People with cancer typically spend most time being cared for in the community by their general practitioners, community nurses, family or other care providers. However, most available information relates to the provision of acute treatment services. There is very little information about the care provided to people with cancer between or after periods of active treatment, or indeed about their needs; and
- The Framework shown in Figure 1 identifies four components of cancer control. It is not intended that these components be interpreted as discrete elements. In an effective cancer control program, the seamless linkages and integration between components are important. The improvement of integration between the components of cancer care through the establishment of integrated cancer services is identified by the Cancer Strategies Group's priorities for action.

## CRITICAL INTERVENTION POINTS FOR CANCER CONTROL

The critical intervention points and their derivation are described on pages 61-62. The 19 critical intervention points for cancer are placed in order of the continuum of care and are as follows:

## **Reduce Risk**

- 1. Establish National, State/Territory and local plans to further reduce rates of smoking using evidence-based public health strategies and government actions.
- 2. Establish National, State/Territory and local plans to increase rates of protection of skin from solar and solarium radiation using evidence-based public health strategies and government actions.
- 3. Establish National, State/Territory and local plans to promote healthy eating and active living including healthy weight in collaboration with other national health priorities and policies.

## Find cancer early

- 4. Improve strategies (particularly via primary care) to increase participation in breast cancer screening, and to increase participation by underscreened groups in cervical screening.
- 5. Improve programs to provide more appropriate and accessible breast and cervical screening services for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women.
- 6. Complete and evaluate the bowel cancerscreening pilot which will assist in informing governments about the acceptability, feasibility and cost effectiveness of introducing a national bowel screening program.
- 7. Develop and disseminate support and information for general practitioners and for people with cancer, about the diagnosis of symptoms which may be cancer including recommendations about appropriate investigation and referral pathways.
- 8. Improve systems so that all people with suspected cancers are referred appropriately and assessed promptly and effectively.

## Management and support during active treatment

- Improve access to treatment services for all Australians particularly those living in regional, rural and remote areas and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people.
- Develop systems to improve the coordination of care for people with cancer including defined referral pathways and designated coordinators of care.
- 11. Develop and implement strategies to encourage multidisciplinary care.
- 12. Implement clinical practice cancer guidelines.
- Develop and implement strategies to encourage cancer services and people with cancer to participate in clinical trials.
- 14. Provide information through accreditation of services, credentialing of practitioners or other strategies to help people with cancer assess the quality of care being provided.
- 15. Work towards improving supportive care for people with cancer by implementing the psychosocial clinical practice guidelines.

## Management and support after and between periods of active treatment

- Develop and implement strategies so that the needs of people with cancer after and between periods of active treatment are met.
- 17. Provide appropriate information for people with cancer about follow-up, practical issues, support services and self-care.

## Care at end of life, if cancer is not curable

- Improve timely and appropriate access to adequate palliative care services and medications and monitor the impact.
- 19. Develop models of end of life care that ensure integration with treatment services and coordination among community services and palliative care teams.

## NATIONAL PRIORITY ACTIONS FOR CHANGE

There are eight priority actions which underpin the critical intervention points. If these actions were undertaken by Australian and State/Territory governments, the basis for many of the changes identified in the Framework would be in place.

- 1. Establish integrated and networked cancer services to improve continuity of care from reducing risk to care at the end of life.
- 2. Establish accreditation for cancer services and credentialing of practitioners using as a basis the recommendations about optimal services outlined in the Framework.
- 3. Develop funding structures which support multidisciplinary care in hospitals and the community through specialist and general practitioner payment schedules.
- 4. Develop National, State/Territory and local approaches to monitoring all aspects of cancer control including performance indicators.

- 5. Provide evidence-based consumer information about the environmental, behavioural and genetic risks of cancer, prevention, early detection, diagnosis and treatment, and supportive care.
- Establish national approaches to assist primary care providers especially general practitioners to offer high quality and appropriate assessment of risk, detection of cancer, referral to treatment, coordination of treatment and supportive care (from diagnosis to palliative care).
- 7. Implement and evaluate culturally appropriate programs to improve cancer control with special emphasis on the needs of disadvantaged groups, particularly Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people.
- Review the evidence, gaps in research and opportunities for action within a specific timeframe, at least every three years.

## **REDUCE THE RISK OF CANCER**

The risk of developing some cancers can be reduced by modification of lifestyle or the environment. We do not yet know what causes some cancers and for others, the factors that are known to increase risk cannot be changed (e.g. genetic inheritance).

## **PEOPLE'S NEEDS**

People want to:

- Understand their risk of developing cancer;
- Know how to reduce their risk of cancer;
- Have a safe environment;
- Be able to access risk prevention programs that are affordable and appropriate;
- Understand how their family history affects their risk of cancer; and
- Access highly credible nationally consistent evidence-based information about the risk of cancer and the ability to reduce cancer risk.

## **OPTIMAL SERVICES**

People in the community will have access to consistent and evidence-based information about opportunities for risk reduction:

- Nationally consistent evidence-based information about the risk of cancer and opportunities to reduce cancer risk will be available to the community, health professionals and the media. This information could be provided by existing organisations. The information will:
  - enable individuals to assess whether they are at increased risk of developing a particular cancer because of their family history or other factors;
  - indicate the amount of risk reduction that might occur from adopting the recommended behaviours so that individuals can make informed choices where possible;

- indicate its source and the approach used to assess the evidence so that individuals can be sure of the quality of the information;
- be provided in an integrated manner across cancers (and where possible with other diseases) so that people can readily understand how to take action to reduce their risk of cancer; and
- be appropriate for different groups within the community particularly those disadvantaged groups, notably those from lower socioeconomic status, culturally and linguistically diverse and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander backgrounds.

## People will be provided with an environment that encourages risk reduction:

- People will be confident that their environment supports risk reduction. They will know that their governments have a coordinated plan to reduce the most important cancer risks through application of legislation; financial incentives and disincentives and policy;
- To reduce rates of smoking, the plan will include:
  - strategies to provide smoke free environments;
  - financial disincentives for smoking; and
  - limitations on advertising.
- To increase rates of skin protection, the plan will include:
  - policies for shade provision in public places;
  - safe and affordable skin protection; and
  - policies in schools, child care centres and workplaces to support skin protection.
- To increase rates of healthy physical activity, the plan will include:
  - policies for the establishment of appropriate public spaces for physical activity (e.g. walk and bike ways);

- policies in schools to encourage healthy physical activity; and
- reduction in financial disincentives to participate in formal physical activity programs.
- To increase healthy eating, the plan will include:
  - policies in schools and workplaces to encourage healthy eating choices; and
  - strategies to ensure that all people have access to good quality fruit and vegetables at an affordable price.

## People will be encouraged to take action to reduce their cancer risks:

- There will be regular media information programs promoting the value of cancer risk reduction behaviours;
- The media programs will be accompanied by community based programs;
- Health professionals will assist individuals to identify their own cancer risk and relevant risk reduction behaviours and will have the knowledge and skills to assist individuals to reduce their risk of cancer;
- Smokers will have access to cessation programs which are appropriate to their needs and affordable; and
- Individuals who are overweight or obese will have access to weight reduction programs or strategies to achieve a healthy weight.

# People with special needs and disadvantaged groups will have access to appropriate, tailored information and programs:

- People will have access to information and programs for reduction of cancer risk that meet their needs including:
  - those from lower socioeconomic backgrounds;
  - Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders; and
  - people from culturally and linguistically diverse communities.

## RATIONALE FOR THE COMPONENTS OF OPTIMAL SERVICES AND CRITICAL INTERVENTION POINTS

## INFORMATION ABOUT RISK REDUCTION

### **Optimal Services**

People in the community will have access to consistent and evidence-based information about opportunities for risk reduction. The information will be provided in an integrated manner across cancers so that people can readily understand how to take action to reduce their risk of cancer. It will indicate the amount of risk reduction that might occur from adopting the recommended behaviours (where possible) so that individuals can make informed choices. The information will be developed to be appropriate for different groups within the community particularly those with lower socioeconomic status, people from culturally and linguistically diverse communities and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, and the media will be encouraged to use evidencebased information. Information which will enable individuals to assess whether they are at increased risk because of their family history will be available. People will feel confident that they will receive accurate information about new opportunities for risk reduction in cancer.

## **Opportunities to reduce cancer risk**

Research over the past 40 years has identified opportunities to reduce the risk of cancer as follows:

**Reduce smoking:** Tobacco smoking causes the following cancers: lung; oral; nasal cavity and paranasal sinuses; naso-, oro- and hypopharynx; larynx; oesophagus; bowel; pancreas; stomach; liver; kidney; urinary tract; cervical; myeloid leukaemia; vulva; penis; bladder; renal parenchyma and renal pelvis<sup>8-11</sup>. In 2001, 19.5% of Australians

(3.07 million Australians) aged 14 years and older smoked daily and 3.6% (0.57 million Australians) smoked less than daily<sup>12</sup>.

*Limit alcohol intake:* Alcohol is a causal factor for cancer of the mouth; pharynx; liver; bowel; larynx; oesophagus<sup>13</sup> and breast cancer in women<sup>8;11</sup>. The Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) has estimated that 12% of breast cancer may be attributable to alcohol intake. In 2001, 9.9% of people consumed alcohol in a manner that put them at risk of long-term harm, while 34.4% put themselves at risk of short-term alcohol-related harm on at least one drinking occasion<sup>12</sup>.

#### Increase protection of skin from the sun:

Basal cell carcinoma, squamous cell carcinoma and melanoma are caused by sun exposure<sup>14</sup>. In 1999, between 78-82% of Australian secondary students, aged 12-17 years reported being sunburnt last summer. Amongst this age group, 42-56% regularly wore hats, 18-25% regularly wore protective clothing and 56-61% regularly wore maximum SPF (Sun Protection Factor) sunscreen<sup>15</sup>.

Improving diet mainly by increasing the intake of fruit and vegetables: The expert panel of the World Cancer Research Fund concluded that inappropriate diets cause around one-third of all cancer deaths<sup>16</sup>. It recommended dietary diversity to maximise the likelihood of more balanced as well as more adequate diets, noting that there was convincing evidence of dietary protection against cancer of many sites. The evidence was strongest and most consistent for diets high in fruits and vegetables. In 1995 in Australia approximately 44% of males and 34% of females did not consume fruit in the 24 hours preceding the National Nutrition Survey, and 20% of males and 17% of females did not consume vegetables<sup>17</sup>. The 1995 National Nutrition Survey results show that only one in five Australian adults met the "5 or more serves of vegetables per day" recommendation and around one in two met the "2 serves per day" recommendation for fruit<sup>18</sup>.

#### Reduction in rates of overweight and obesity:

There is sufficient evidence for a cancer-preventive effect of avoidance of weight gain for cancer of the bowel, breast (post-menopausal), endometrium, kidney (renal-cell) and oesophagus (adenocarcinoma)<sup>19</sup>. For premenopausal breast cancer, the available evidence suggests a lack of a cancer-preventive effect. In 2001, an estimated 2.4 million Australian adults were obese (16% of men and 17% of women aged 18 years and over). A further 4.9 million Australian adults were estimated to be overweight but not obese (42% of men and 25% of women)<sup>20</sup>.

**Increased physical activity:** There is sufficient evidence for a cancer-preventive effect of physical activity for cancer of the bowel and breast, limited evidence for a cancer-preventive effect for cancers of the endometrium and prostate, and for all other sites the evidence is inadequate<sup>19</sup>. In 2000, 57% of Australian adults, aged 18-75 years, were spending sufficient time (ie, at least 150 minutes of walking, moderate and/or vigorous activity per week) being physically active for health benefits<sup>21</sup>.

**Increased rates of safe sex:** Prevention of Human Papilloma Virus (HPV) infection would prevent cervical cancer<sup>22</sup>. However, there is inconsistent evidence about whether condoms can reduce the risk of HPV infection<sup>22</sup>. Meta-analyses of completed research suggest that there is little benefit<sup>23;24</sup>. However, ongoing randomised trials suggest there may be some value<sup>25</sup>.

**Understanding familial risk:** Both genes and the environment cause cancer. A person's family history is a way of knowing about their genetic inheritance.

People understand that cancer can run in families and understandably can be anxious and want more information if they have a family history of cancer. In general, people tend to overestimate the importance of family history<sup>26</sup> and they need accurate information to help them understand their risk. Testing is available for some genetic mutations linked with some cancers. However, even when an individual is known to carry a relevant genetic mutation, there is often little that can be done to reduce potential risk. People with a strong family history and some high risk mutations may have the option of preventive strategies such as surgery. There is currently a considerable research effort to understand the mechanisms underlying the development of cancer, and the genetic characterisation of specific cancer types. It is likely that this research will enable the development of drugs targeting specific parts of the cancer pathway and result in other benefits which are unforeseen at this point in time. At present, the broader implications of developments in genetics for clinical practice and health service delivery are unclear. However, services should be developed in a planned manner to provide care in accordance with the best available evidence such as outlined in the Australian Cancer Network and National Health and Medical Research Council's Familial aspects of cancer: a guide to clinical practice<sup>27</sup>.

*Emerging issues:* Australia should monitor research to identify emerging opportunities for prevention. For example, there may be opportunities to reduce the risk of cancer through the use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs or aspirin to prevent bowel cancer, vaccines against HPV to prevent cervical cancer, the reduction of hepatitis B and the prevention of Helicobacter pylori infection to reduce stomach cancer. It will be of value to continue to monitor and control exposure to ionising radiation, occupational exposures, medicinal drugs and environmental pollution.

## Understanding risk of cancer

Australians understand that cancer is a major health issue<sup>28</sup>. People consistently overestimate the lifetime risk of developing cancers by a margin of 20-25% for most cancers<sup>28</sup>.

There appears to be high community awareness of some modifiable risk factors of cancer. For example, in a NSW study, the majority of a community sample was aware of smoking (96%) as a risk factor for lung cancer and of sun exposure (80%) for melanoma<sup>28</sup>. However a substantially smaller proportion indicated that diet (35%), consuming too little fibre (22%) or too much fat (12%) were risk factors for bowel cancer<sup>28</sup>. Most people have an accurate understanding of the extent to which cancer can be prevented. A survey of NSW residents reported that 37% think they can reduce their cancer risk greatly or completely<sup>28</sup>. Approximately half believed that lung cancer; melanoma and other forms of skin cancer are very or completely preventable. Cervical cancer and bowel cancer were perceived to be very or completely preventable by about 20% of respondents. Less than 20% thought that breast cancer and prostate cancer are very or completely preventable?<sup>8</sup>.

## Availability of information

There has been a lack of consistency in the information given to the community about the risk of cancer. For example, a national review conducted over a decade ago of written educational material related to the prevention of cancers highlighted a lack of consistency in the messages generated by cancer organisations<sup>29</sup>.

More recent research has identified partial and inconsistent information available from cancer organisations, government health departments, and mammographic screening programs throughout Australia about the benefits of mammography<sup>30</sup>.

Recently, The Cancer Council Australia has made substantial attempts to develop nationally consistent information about risk reduction through its *National Cancer Prevention Policy*<sup>31</sup>. Information for the community is also available through The Cancer Council Australia's website as well as through printed and other information disseminated through its member organisations.

Information is also available through the National Cancer Helpline which is used by more than 120,000 Australians each year<sup>32</sup>. An evaluation of the breast cancer information provided by the Helpline found that consistent and accurate information was provided<sup>33</sup>. However, more could be done to ensure that the community is aware of the service – 39% of NSW residents in 2001 were not aware of the Cancer Helpline<sup>\*</sup>.

\* Associate Professor Afaf Girgis, Centre for Health Research and Psycho-oncology, personal communication

Information is available to the major non-English speaking background groups through a number of sources, including translated printed materials (available nationally) and the Cancer Helpline provides access to bilingual information officers (currently available in Victoria and NSW only). There have been some limited attempts to provide more appropriate information to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people about cancer risk reduction.

However, inconsistent and inaccurate information about risk and cancer continues to be widely available. There are many internet websites with information about cancer risk and it is difficult for people to judge which of these are providing accurate and dependable information. There are often reports about 'new' risk factors for cancer in the media which can be very misleading. For example, in an analysis of media reporting of breast cancer, it was noted that there was a predominance of stories about young women with breast cancer, despite the fact that it is primarily a disease of ageing. The report noted there was no consistency in the information given about risk factors for breast cancer with more than 28 different risk factors for breast cancer being mentioned. Age was mentioned as a risk factor in only 4% of articles<sup>34</sup>.

Epidemiological research about risk factors can be complex and requires careful analysis before conclusions about the real impact on cancer risk can be drawn. Opportunities exist to integrate information about risk factors for cancer with those for other diseases (e.g. cardiovascular disease and diabetes).

There are opportunities to reduce the risk of cancer among Australians. Overall, there is a need to increase the consistency and accuracy of information about risk and cancer.

 $\diamond$   $\diamond$   $\diamond$ 

## ENVIRONMENTS TO REDUCE CANCER RISK

#### **Optimal Services:**

People will be provided with an environment that encourages risk reduction. People will be confident that their environment supports risk reduction. They will know that their governments have a coordinated plan to reduce the most important cancer risks though application of legislation, financial incentives and policy. To reduce rates of smoking, the plan will include: strategies to provide smoke free environments: financial disincentives for smoking; limitations on advertising. To increase rates of skin protection, the plan will include: policies for shade provision in public places; safe and affordable skin protection; policies in school, child care and workplaces to support skin protection. To increase rates of physical activity, the plan will include: policies for the establishment of public spaces for physical activity (e.g. walk and bike ways); policies in schools to encourage physical activity; reduction in financial disincentives to participate in formal physical activity programs. To increase healthy diet, the plan will include: policies in schools and workplaces to encourage healthy eating choices; and strategies to ensure that all people have access to good quality fruit and vegetables at an affordable price.

Cancer risk can be reduced by ensuring that the environment limits exposure to risks, through the application of legislation, financial incentives and disincentives and policy approaches. Over the past 40 years, many strategies to modify cancer risk have been implemented and evaluated including:

## Environmental strategies to reduce rates of smoking

Other non-environmental strategies to reduce smoking rates are included under *Encouraging risk reduction.* 

Strategies to provide smoke free environments: Comprehensive, multi-component strategies for smoke free environments effectively reduce smoking within public places<sup>35</sup>. Policies, regulations and laws banning smoking in workplaces and other public venues have been successful in reducing exposure to environmental tobacco smoke<sup>36</sup> and smoke-free workplaces encourage smokers to quit or reduce their tobacco consumption<sup>37</sup>. In Australia, there are State and Territory legislation and/or regulations for smoking in enclosed public areas<sup>38</sup>. There are variations to legislation in each jurisdiction, with some banning smoking in all enclosed public places with few exceptions, and others only prohibiting smoking in specified venues.

*Financial disincentives for smoking:* Higher tobacco prices significantly reduce tobacco use<sup>39</sup>. In Australia, large price increases on cigarettes occurred in the 1990s<sup>40</sup>, in particular in 1999, when the method for calculating excise was changed.

#### Limitations on tobacco advertising:

Comprehensive bans on tobacco advertising can reduce tobacco consumption<sup>41</sup>. However more limited partial advertising bans will have little or no effect<sup>41</sup>. In Australia, there is a complete ban on all forms of tobacco advertising in print, television, radio and in cinemas<sup>42</sup>. The *Tobacco Advertising Prohibition Act 1992* is currently being reviewed to ensure it remains an effective tobacco control measure.

**Labelling of tobacco products:** Health warnings on cigarette packets have been shown to be effective in reducing cigarette consumption<sup>43</sup>. In Australia there has been labeling of tar and nicotine levels on cigarette packages since 1982, with stronger warnings implemented in 1994<sup>42</sup>.

**Sales to minors:** Interventions with retailers can lead to large decreases in the number of outlets selling tobacco to youths<sup>44</sup>. In Australia, efforts to reduce the access of minors to tobacco products include a minimum age of purchase of 18 years in all jurisdictions, with penalties imposed on those selling to minors or in some cases, supplying to minors<sup>42</sup>.

Restrictions on the locations of vending machines in most jurisdictions also apply<sup>42</sup>. Despite this policy, the sale of cigarettes to minors is still prevalent. In 2001, 82.6% of underage smokers most commonly obtained tobacco from a shop or retail outlet<sup>12</sup>. **School based programs:** There is inconsistent evidence about the value of school based programs in discouraging smoking<sup>45</sup>.

**Promoting cessation of tobacco use:** Smoking cessation is a major means of reducing smoking-related mortality as it prevents the occurrence of disease and reduces the risk of further disease in those who quit<sup>46</sup>. Strategies such as mass-media campaigns, medical practitioner interventions, offers of support to smokers and effective Quitline services all play critically important roles in reducing the proportion of people in the population who smoke on a regular basis.

## Environmental strategies to increase rates of skin protection

### Policies for shade provision in public places:

Guidelines for shade planning and design have been published by The Cancer Council NSW and NSW Health<sup>47</sup>. There are opportunities to improve shade in public places. For example, in 2001, only 25% of Victorian local government authorities had a shade policy applying to parks and gardens<sup>48</sup>, 38% of council parks and gardens were estimated to have high levels of shade, 41% moderate levels and 23% inadequate levels of shade<sup>48</sup>.

**Safe and affordable skin protection:** Australia has rigorous standards related to skin protection. It is less clear that skin protection measures are affordable for all Australians.

*Policies in schools, child care and workplaces to support skin protection:* Most sun protection interventions increase knowledge and attitudes, although they are less effective in producing behaviour change, particularly amongst adolescents<sup>49</sup>. There is evidence that childcare<sup>50</sup> and worksite<sup>51</sup> interventions have some impact on sun protection behaviours as well as attitudes. NSW Health with The Cancer Council NSW has developed and is implementing a strategic plan to encourage sun protection including a collaborative inter-sectoral approach<sup>52</sup>. The strategy focuses on environmental and policy changes in primary schools and child care centres. The *SunSmart* 

Accreditation Program has been operating in Victorian primary schools, preschools and childcare centres since 1993 and has been adopted throughout most of Australia<sup>53</sup>.

In Victoria in 2002, 49% of preschools, 44% of childcare centres, 73% of primary schools and 20% of secondary schools had accredited sun protection policies<sup>53</sup>. In 2001, 76% of Victorian local government authorities had a written sun protection policy for council outdoor workers and 26% for contract outdoor workers<sup>48</sup>.

## Environmental strategies to increase rates of physical activity

Policies for the establishment of public spaces for physical activity (e.g., walk and bike ways): Interventions to alter environments by removing barriers and providing more opportunities for physical activity can be effective<sup>54</sup>. It is recognised that more could be done to improve access to public spaces for physical activity in Australia<sup>55</sup>.

**Policies in schools to encourage physical activity:** There is inconsistent evidence about the impact of school based programs in encouraging physical activity<sup>56</sup>.

**Reduction in financial disincentives to participate in formal physical activity programs:** There is no evidence about the role of financial barriers in preventing participation in formal physical activity programs in Australia.

## Environmental strategies to increase healthy diet

**Policies in schools and workplaces to encourage healthy eating choices:** There is some evidence that school based programs can improve diet among school children<sup>57</sup> and good evidence that worksite interventions are effective in increasing fruit and vegetable consumption<sup>58;59</sup>.

*Eat Well Australia: an agenda for action for public health nutrition*<sup>60</sup> provides direction for improvements in diet in Australia. This document outlines the need to equip educators such as teachers and health professionals with the knowledge, skills, framework and tools to encourage healthy changes in diet.

Strategies to ensure that all people have access to good quality fruit and vegetables of an affordable price: Price reductions are an effective strategy to increase the purchase of healthy foods in community-based settings such as work sites and schools<sup>61</sup>. In Australia, lower-income adults are more likely than their higher income counterparts to report that price is a barrier to increasing their fruit and vegetable consumption<sup>17</sup>. Socio-economic differences in fruit and vegetable consumption are apparent in Australian adults<sup>17</sup>.

There is an opportunity to reduce the risk of cancer by providing environments that better prevent smoking, exposure to tobacco smoke and encourage skin protection, healthy diets and physical activity.

 $\diamond$   $\diamond$   $\diamond$ 

## **ENCOURAGING RISK REDUCTION**

### **Optimal Services:**

People will be encouraged to reduce their cancer risk. There will be regular media and community information programs promoting the value of cancer risk reduction behaviours. Health professionals will assist individuals to identify their own cancer risk and relevant risk reduction behaviours and will have the knowledge and skills to assist individuals to reduce their risk of cancer. Smokers will have access to cessation programs which are appropriate to their needs and affordable. Individuals who are overweight or obese will have access to weight reduction programs.

In addition to safe environments, people and communities can be encouraged to take active steps to reduce their own risk of cancer. Over the past forty years, several strategies have been implemented and trialed to encourage people to reduce their cancer risk:

## Mass media campaigns

Mass media campaigns have been found to be effective in reducing smoking among both adults<sup>62;63</sup>

and adolescents<sup>64;65</sup>, with enduring effects noted when the campaign is part of a comprehensive tobacco control program including legislative change and community based programs<sup>66;67</sup>.

Launched in 1997, Australia's National Tobacco Campaign featured televised graphic advertisements portraying the certain, as opposed to probablistic, damage smoking inflicts on the body<sup>68</sup>. Evaluation of the campaign over a four year period showed increases in ad-specific learning, more favourable anti-tobacco attitudes, increased intentions to guit, guit attempts and positive changes in smoking behaviour among adults<sup>69;70</sup> as well as positive effects on adolescents<sup>71</sup>. Skin cancer control programs have been running for more than 20 years: the Slip! Slop! Slap! Campaign from 1980-1988; the SunSmart program from 1988-present<sup>72</sup>; the Life. Be in it Campaign, was launched at a national level in 1977 to promote an active lifestyle; statewide campaigns have been implemented to promote increased consumption of vegetables and fruit.

### **Health Professionals Advice**

There have been mixed results of health professional advice about risk reduction. A review of the effectiveness of promoting lifestyle change in general practice suggested that although many general practice-based lifestyle interventions show promise in producing small changes in behaviour, substantial changes in behaviour are not apparent<sup>73</sup>. There is evidence that brief smoking cessation advice from doctors has a small but significant increase on quit rates among people who smoke<sup>74</sup>. More intensive advice is marginally more effective than minimal advice<sup>74</sup>.

If general practice-based interventions are to have an impact, more general practitioners will need to provide programs on a routine basis. A survey of general practitioners in New South Wales reported that only 34% provide smoking cessation advice during every consultation with a smoker<sup>75</sup>. However, health care professionals who receive smoking cessation training are more likely than their untrained counterparts to provide advice<sup>76</sup>. Specific evidence-based approaches recommended in national guidelines are under-utilised<sup>75</sup>. Other health professionals are also important in providing consistent advice about the benefit of cessation<sup>77</sup>.

### Smoking cessation programs

With regard to specific interventions, there is some evidence that individual and group counselling<sup>78;79</sup> and nicotine replacement therapies<sup>80</sup> increase the chance of quitting, although most smokers who quit will not use any specialist services. Telephone counselling can be an effective and economic way of providing smoking cessation advice79;81. In Australia, the Quitline telephone service is available for the cost of a local phone call in metropolitan areas and no charge to callers outside of metropolitan areas<sup>82</sup>. A Quit pack can be sent to individuals free of charge. Quit resources are available in 13 languages: Arabic; Cambodian; Chinese; Croatian; Greek; Italian; Macedonian; Polish; Russian; Serbian; Spanish; Turkish and Vietnamese; and bilingual workers are available to provide telephone support in a language other than English to those who contact the Quitline.

There is an opportunity to reduce risk of cancer by continuing media awareness programs and increasing advice from health professionals.

 $\diamond \diamond \diamond$ 

## REDUCING RISK IN SPECIAL NEEDS COMMUNITIES

#### **Optimal Services:**

People with special needs will have access to appropriate, tailored information and programs. People from lower socioeconomic groups, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and those from culturally and linguistically diverse communities will have access to information and programs that meet their needs. Communities and individuals with special needs will have access to appropriate information and programs to help them reduce their risk of cancer. The risk profile is different for different communities. For example:

- People from lower socioeconomic groups have higher rates of many cancers. Lower socioeconomic status, for example, is associated with higher rates of smoking and of obesity<sup>84</sup> and lower rates of physical activity and of fruit and vegetable consumption<sup>17;83</sup>;
- Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people have much higher incidence rates than other Australians of cancers of the lung, liver, and cervix<sup>85</sup>. Lower rates of cervical cancer screening have been reported in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women in some populations<sup>86</sup>. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples are twice as likely as other Australians to smoke<sup>87</sup>; and
- There are some studies reporting that people from different cultures and different countries have higher rates of some cancers<sup>88</sup>, but more research in this area is required.

Relatively little is known about how to develop information and programs for different communities, although some strategies are in place:

- Information resources are developed to be comprehensible to those with limited reading ability;
- The State and Territory cancer organisations provide information about risk in languages

other than English. Translated printed materials are available nationally to major non-English speaking background groups through a number of sources and the Cancer Helpline provides access to bilingual information officers in Victoria and NSW; and

 The difficulties faced by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people include affordability, distance and appropriateness of information and services. It is recognised that there is poor access to culturally appropriate services for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and that much more needs to be done to provide acceptable programs to reduce smoking and encourage participation in screening.

Better understanding of, and improved programs for, risk reduction in special communities is a priority. While these programs may be resource intensive, they represent an opportunity to significantly impact on communities where risk may be much higher than the Australian norm.

There is an opportunity to reduce risk of cancer through programs that meet the special needs of people from lower socioeconomic, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander and people from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds.

 $\diamond \diamond \diamond$ 

## **FIND CANCER EARLY**

For many cancers, the chances of survival and quality of life are better if the cancer is found early. For some cancers, like breast, it may be possible to find the cancer before it has spread to other parts of the body and when an effective cure is possible. For other cancers, like ovarian, it may be difficult to find the cancer early as symptoms are either diffuse or may not be present. For other cancers, even when they are found early, it may not be possible to treat them effectively.

Cancer can be found while the person has no signs or symptoms by participation in a screening program; it can also be found by investigation of a change that may be diagnosed to be cancer. This section covers both approaches to finding cancer.

## **PEOPLE'S NEEDS**

#### People want to:

- Have cancer found as early as possible, if early treatment is beneficial;
- Have enough information to decide whether to participate in population screening programs;
- Be able to access appropriate population screening and diagnostic services;
- Be confident that population screening programs and diagnostic services are providing high quality care;
- Understand their test results; and
- If they are diagnosed with cancer, to be told appropriately and provided with support.

## **OPTIMAL SERVICES**

### **Screening**

People will have access to high quality population screening programs:

• All screening programs will be set up to meet national and international benchmarks and will have quality improvement programs; and • People will know that there is a system in place for ensuring the quality of screening which includes mechanisms like accreditation and public reports.

## People will have information about population screening programs for cancer including:

- The purpose of screening, its benefits, downsides and limitations, and differences between cancers;
- Which cancers can be detected early;
- Information to assist in their decision about whether to participate in population screening programs including:
  - the criteria for eligibility or the people who may benefit from participating in screening;
  - the absolute benefit of participation including reference to population risks;
  - the downsides and limitations of screening including information about false positives, treatment of *in situ* disease or disease which would not have become evident in their lifetime, with specific reference to their own circumstances; and
  - the steps involved in screening and diagnosis including any discomfort, cost, time and possible need for further tests and treatment.
- Information appropriate for people from disadvantaged groups, especially Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and people from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds.

### Cost effective population screening programs will be readily accessible to all Australians and their participation will be facilitated:

 People eligible for screening will not be prevented from participating by cost or access barriers. Population screening programs will be available to people close to where they live throughout Australia;

- Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and people from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds will have access to services that are appropriate to their needs. There will be targeted programs to address special barriers to participation for people from disadvantaged groups, especially Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and people from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds;
- Health professionals will provide advice about participation in population screening programs to eligible people; and
- Information about the reasons for screening and screening intervals will be provided to all participants in screening programs. Reminders will be sent to participants to notify them when screening is due.

### **Diagnosis**

All people in the community will have access to information about what might be an early sign of cancer:

- Balanced information about early signs of cancer will be available in the community through a number of sources including general practice, mass media and community programs;
- Appropriate information will be available for people from disadvantaged groups, especially Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and people from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds; and
- People with a sign or symptom that may be cancer will have access to information and the chance to discuss: the likelihood that their sign or symptom is cancer and other possible causes of the changes; where to go for diagnosis and the time frame during which they should seek to receive treatment; what is involved in treatment; and, what to do if they have questions.

People with a sign or symptom that may be cancer will have access to high quality diagnostic services regardless of where they live:

- People with a sign or symptom that may be cancer will know where to get appropriate care including: where to go as a first step to have the symptom investigated; how to be sure that they are receiving best care at this first step; information about how to access diagnostic services, the costs and the procedures involved;
- There will be support and information for general practitioners about the investigation of signs and symptoms that may be cancer, providing appropriate investigation pathways and information about referral. Similar information will be available for people with signs and symptoms when they attend for investigation; and
- There will be a planned approach to ensuring that diagnostic services are available throughout Australia to provide adequate care to those living in regional, rural and remote areas. People will know about the quality of diagnostic services through a process of accreditation or credentialing.

People will have information about, and be supported through, the process of diagnosis regardless of whether they have an abnormality detected by a population screening program or a sign or symptom that may be cancer:

- People will have information that helps them understand that the process of diagnosis is one of increasing certainty rather than a moment of truth;
- People will know about the steps in the pathway of diagnosis, what is involved in each test and what the results mean. This will include information about the likelihood of false positives and false negatives; and
- People will be provided with support throughout the process of diagnosis recognising that this is a time of increased anxiety.

## People will be provided with their results in an appropriate and timely manner:

- Both positive and negative results will be provided in an appropriate manner meeting best practice guidelines about breaking bad news;
- People will be provided with information about the short and long term significance of their diagnosis;
- People diagnosed with cancer will be provided with information about the next steps in treatment, and critical timeframes; and
- People diagnosed with cancer and their families will be provided with appropriate support and counselling.

## People with cancer will be appropriately referred to treatment:

- There will be established referral pathways between diagnostic and treatment services.
   People will experience the transition between diagnosis and treatment as seamless and continuous care; and
- People will know that they are being referred to a high quality treatment service. This might be established through accreditation and links to major treatment centres as outlined in the next section.

## RATIONALE FOR THE COMPONENTS OF OPTIMAL SERVICES AND CRITICAL INTERVENTION POINTS

## HIGH QUALITY SCREENING PROGRAMS

### **Optimal Services:**

People will have access to appropriate and high quality population screening programs. All screening programs will be provided to meet national and international benchmarks with quality improvement programs. People will be able to judge whether the screening service is of high quality through mechanisms like accreditation and public reports.

Australia's population-based breast cancer and cervical screening program, BreastScreen Australia and the National Cervical Screening Program, have been in operation since 1991. A pilot is currently underway to examine the acceptability, feasibility and cost effectiveness of bowel cancer screening in Australia.

## Breast cancer screening

There is evidence from randomised control trials that mammography screening reduces deaths from breast cancer at least among women 50-69 years<sup>89</sup>. BreastScreen Australia provides high quality screening performing at a level consistent with international benchmarks in relation to small cancer detection rate and interval cancers<sup>90</sup>. Information about the program is available to the community and there is a formal accreditation process.

## **Cervical screening**

Screening for pre-cancerous abnormalities and cancer of the cervix has reduced both mortality and morbidity from the disease<sup>91</sup>. In Australia, the population screening program performs at a level consistent with international benchmarks.

Information about the program is available to the community; laboratories are formally accredited by National Association of Testing Authorities (NATA); those who take smears for the Pap test are not usually accredited but are well trained.

### Bowel cancer screening

There is evidence from randomised trials that targeted screening for bowel cancer using the faecal occult blood test reduces the incidence of and mortality from bowel cancer<sup>92</sup>. A national screening program for bowel cancer in Australia is currently being piloted.

#### **Prostate cancer**

Although a screening test for prostate cancer exists, the current evidence is not adequate to demonstrate that its use will reduce deaths from prostate cancer<sup>93</sup>. The most thorough systematic review of screening for prostate cancer has been conducted and recently updated by the United States Preventive Services Taskforce. Its conclusions are that "current evidence is insufficient to recommend for or against routine screening for prostate cancer using the Prostate Specific Antigen [PSA] test or digital rectal examination"94. There are substantial side effects from the treatment of prostate cancer, which must be considered in the introduction of a population based screening program. Since screening is not occurring as part of an organised population based program, it is not possible to assess its quality. There is no accreditation program for providers.

A large randomised controlled trial of prostate cancer screening, the European Randomised Study of Screening for Prostate Cancer (ERSPC)<sup>95</sup>, is currently being undertaken. The aim of the trial is to determine whether the effect of early detection and treatment of prostate cancer will reduce deaths from prostate cancer. The first results from the study are expected before 2010; it will be of value to monitor the results of this trial.

#### There is an opportunity to reduce mortality from cancer through organised population based screening programs for breast, cervical and bowel cancer.

## INFORMATION ABOUT SCREENING PROGRAMS

#### **Optimal Services:**

Information will be readily available about population screening programs for cancer generally including the purpose of screening, its benefits, downsides and limitations, and which cancers can be screened for currently. People will be able to access information to assist in their decision about whether to participate in screening programs including: information about the issues to be considered for each cancer and screening program; the criteria for eligibility or the people who may benefit from participating in screening; the absolute benefit of participation including reference to population risks; the downsides and limitations of screening including information about false positives and treatment of in situ disease; the steps involved in screening and diagnosis including any discomfort; cost; time and possible need for further tests and treatment: and an opportunity to discuss the benefits and downsides of screening given individual circumstances.

Population screening for cancer is the systematic application of a suitable screening test to identify individuals with (i) pre-cancerous changes that increase their risk or (ii) early stage disease where treatment can be effectively implemented. It is undertaken amongst <u>asymptomatic</u> individuals. Importantly, population screening is an organised process that involves call and recall of the population to regular screening, as an aid to early detection and appropriate follow up of people requiring further treatment.

There has been a significant shift in views regarding the type of information that people need in considering whether or not to participate in population screening programs. Persuasive communication strategies that downplay the disadvantages of screening are being replaced by more explicit sharing of information concerning the benefits and risks of entering screening programs. The latter approach is now considered more ethical, as it reduces the chances of negative outcomes such as increased anxiety, false alarms, false re-assurance, unnecessary diagnostic tests, over-diagnosis and over-treatment<sup>96</sup>.

The UK General Medical Council's guidelines<sup>96</sup> specify that informed consent should include information about:

- The purpose of the screening;
- The uncertainties and risks attached to the screening process;
- The likelihood of positive/negative findings and the possibility of false positive/negative results;
- Any significant medical, social or financial implications of screening for the particular condition or preposition, and
- A follow up plan, including the availability of counselling and support services<sup>78</sup>.

There is increasing understanding of how best to convey information about screening including the use of absolute risk reduction and visual displays of information<sup>97;98</sup>.

Information about population screening programs is available to Australians from the screening programs and from the State and Territory cancer organisations. However, misconceptions in the community about the purpose of screening and the accuracy of screening tests seem prevalent. Women are not aware of the limitations of breast screening tests and commonly overestimate their sensitivity and specificity<sup>99</sup>. Women in Australia and New Zealand misunderstand their risk of developing and dying from breast cancer, and the benefits of screening<sup>100</sup>. For instance, only 1% of women in an Australian study correctly stated that screening mammograms are for asymptomatic women<sup>101</sup>. The information provided by the breast and cervical cancer programs does not provide information about absolute risk reduction.

Men experience particular difficulty in accessing accurate and balanced information about prostate cancer testing. There is some evidence that a decision aid may be of value in assisting men to decide whether to participate in being tested for prostate cancer<sup>102</sup>.

There are opportunities to improve information available to people about population screening for cancer.

 $\diamond \diamond \diamond$ 

## ACCESS TO, AND PARTICIPATION IN, SCREENING PROGRAMS

### **Optimal Services:**

Cost-effective population screening programs of demonstrated benefit will be readily accessible to all Australians and their participation will be facilitated. People eligible for screening will be provided with information through a number of channels and will not be prevented from participating by cost or access barriers. Participation in screening will be facilitated. There will be appropriate programs for people from disadvantaged groups, especially Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and people from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds.

## Access to and participation in cervical screening

Australia's cervical screening program is provided in primary care and mainly by general practitioners. In those mainly rural areas where access to general practice is more limited, there will be poorer availability of cervical screening. For some women, the ability to access a female provider will be an important determinant of participation.

In 1999/2000, 62.6% of eligible women participated in cervical screening. Rates of screening were lower among women aged over 55 years although rates of cervical cancer are higher in this age group<sup>103</sup>. Rates of participation in cervical screening are lower among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women and rates of cervical cancer are higher<sup>86</sup>. Australian screening recommendations are different to those of other countries – Australia recommends 25 screens in a woman's lifetime compared with seven in the Netherlands and Finland. There is a recommended screening interval of 2 years compared with 5 years in Finland and the Netherlands<sup>104</sup>.

## Access to, and participation in, breast cancer screening

BreastScreen provides screening to all Australian women with symptoms free of charge. Women aged 50-69 are targeted, although women aged 40-49 and 70 years and older are able to attend for screening. In 2000/2001, 56.9% of eligible women participated in mammographic screening through BreastScreen Australia<sup>90</sup>. The proportion of women being screened outside the organised screening program is unknown. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women are less likely to participate in population screening programs. There is little evidence that women from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds, lower socioeconomic communities or those living in regional, rural or remote areas are less likely to participate<sup>90</sup>.

### Barriers to, and opportunities for, improving participation in mammographic screening programs

The reasons that people decide not to participate in screening have been extensively studied in Australia and internationally. A systematic review found the following factors were consistently identified: financial concerns; concern about radiation; embarrassment; poor access, including travel difficulties; anxiety about test results; inconvenience; forgetting or procrastination; and discomfort associated with the screening test<sup>105</sup>.

There has also been considerable research about strategies to improve participation. The most effective strategies will be dependent upon the way in which the population screening program is organised. A Cochrane Collaboration review found that five strategies were effective in encouraging women to participate in population based mammographic screening: letter of invitation; mailed education material; letter of invitation plus phone call; training activities plus direct reminders for women<sup>106</sup>. However, the involvement of primary care providers and letters of invitation and reminders are consistently identified as important<sup>107;108</sup>. There is evidence that invitation

letters from the woman's doctor with a fixed appointment time are more effective. In Australia, it is likely that primary care providers will be critical in increasing rates of screening for breast and cervical cancer among the targeted population.

## Screening in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women are less likely to take part in both cervical<sup>87</sup> and breast cancer screening in Australia<sup>86,109</sup>. Primary care providers (both general practitioners and Aboriginal health workers) are central to improving participation rates for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. The national population screening programs for both breast and cervical cancer have developed, and are trialing, approaches to encouraging Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women to take part in screening – it is too early to tell whether these approaches will be effective. A better understanding of how to make screening services appropriate for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples will be important.

## Good practice: increasing access to population screening programs

The recurrent problem of providing access to cervical and breast cancer screening and diagnostic services for people in regional, rural and remote areas has been recently addressed. In 1999, the Australian Government established a fly-in fly-out female general practitioner program, now known as the Rural Women's GP Program, in conjunction with the Royal Flying Doctor Service for women who do not have access to a female general practitioner. In some regional areas, the Cervical Cancer Prevention Program is being conducted by female Aboriginal health workers with the idea that personal invitations are more appropriate than mailed reminders<sup>86</sup>

There is an opportunity to decrease mortality from cancer by (i) increasing participation in mammographic population screening programs among women aged 50-69 and (ii) increasing participation in screening for breast cancer and cervical screening among underscreened groups.

INFORMATION ABOUT SIGNS AND SYMPTOMS

#### **Optimal Services:**

All people in the community will have access to information about early signs of cancer and their significance. People with a sign or symptom that may be cancer will have access to information about and the chance to discuss: the likelihood that their sign or symptom is cancer and other possible causes of the changes; the benefits of early treatment on length and quality of life; where to go for diagnosis and the time frame during which they should seek to receive treatment: what is involved in treatment and where to go to have the symptom investigated.

Although there is general agreement that the early diagnosis and treatment of cancer improves survival, there is a lack of evidence about the value of encouraging people or their doctors to search for possible symptoms. This seems paradoxical but may be because many symptoms are not sufficiently sensitive or specific for cancer or cannot be found early enough to make a difference in treatment effectiveness. This has resulted in confusing messages both for health professionals and for the community.

## Skin cancer

There appears to be little current evidence that individual or general practitioner based population testing for skin changes that may be a sign of a skin cancer or melanoma improves outcomes<sup>110;111</sup>.

#### Breast cancer

The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) working group on screening for breast cancer concluded that there is inadequate evidence for the efficacy of screening women by clinical breast examination<sup>89</sup> and that breast self examination does not improve outcomes and may contribute to additional tests<sup>89</sup>. However, there is some evidence that prompt investigation of breast symptoms results in improved outcomes<sup>89</sup>.

#### Bowel cancer

There is inconsistent evidence about the value of recommending that people and their doctors seek prompt investigation of bowel symptoms. However, after considering the small amount of available evidence, both Australian<sup>112</sup> and UK<sup>113</sup> guidelines conclude that earlier diagnosis of people presenting with rectal bleeding may be of value.

#### Prostate cancer testing

At present there is no generally accepted population screening test for prostate cancer. The decision to be tested for prostate cancer is a personal choice to be made by men in consultation with their doctor.

There is no organised population screening program for prostate cancer in Australia. However, in 1992-1996, 47% of men 60-69 years had one or more PSA tests. The age standardised rate of testing for PSA increased by 68% from 1994 to 2001114;\*.

#### Information

Information about symptoms and cancer is available from the State and Territory cancer organisations and other sources. The most appropriate public health messages based on available evidence appear to be that people should know that breast changes, bleeding from the bowel and a change in a mole may be signs of cancer and that they should seek advice if they notice such changes. However, it is not clear that the available evidence strongly support major public health programs to encourage active checking for these symptoms.

There is an opportunity to improve information about signs and symptoms that may be cancer.

 $\diamond \diamond \diamond$ 

\* Dr David Smith, The Cancer Council NSW, personal communication. 2004

# ACCESS TO HIGH QUALITY DIAGNOSTIC SERVICES

### **Optimal Services:**

People with a sign or symptom that may be cancer will have access to high quality diagnostic services. They will know where to get appropriate care including where to go as a first step to have the symptom investigated and how to be sure that they are receiving best care at this first step. The diagnosis will be undertaken according to best evidence. People will know how to judge the quality of the diagnostic services through a process of credentialing and/or specialised clinics. They will also have access to information about the recommended approaches to diagnosis.

There is no systematic organisation of diagnostic services across Australia or within States and Territories. The process of diagnosis will differ according to the cancer and according to the services available locally. It will often involve visiting a number of different and independent services. It can be difficult for people to know whether their symptoms have been investigated according to best practice.

There are few summaries of evidence or clinical practice guidelines which provide algorithms for the diagnosis of cancer. The National Breast Cancer Centre has published guidelines for general practitioners for the investigation of breast changes<sup>115</sup> and some guidance about the diagnosis of bowel cancer is provided in the clinical practice guidelines<sup>112</sup>. In the absence of agreement about appropriate strategies, it is difficult to judge the extent to which diagnosis is currently adequate in Australia.

There is little information about the diagnosis of cancer in Australia. The NSW patterns of care study of bowel cancer<sup>116</sup> suggested that there are opportunities to improve the diagnosis of bowel cancer by increasing the rate of endorectal ultrasound, colonoscopy, and pre-operative histological diagnosis of rectal cancer.

A retrospective Victorian survey of people with lung cancer concluded that there was no evidence of any clear approach to disease assessment. In the judgment of the authors, diagnosis and staging was inadequate. Half of the people with lung cancer did not have the size of the primary tumour recorded, many had a chest X-ray but fewer (68%) had a Computer Tomography (CT) scan for evaluating mediastinal node involvement, and very few had mediastinoscopy (the gold standard for these nodes). Less than half of the people with lung cancer had investigations for distant metastases, and 109 (12%) did not have a histological diagnosis<sup>117</sup>.

An Australian study compared the diagnostic strategies used by general practitioners with women presenting with a breast symptom with those in the guidelines *Investigation of a new breast symptom*<sup>97</sup>. Practice differed from the guidelines in some significant respects including lower than expected rates of: surgical referral after an examination indicating suspicious or malignant changes; biopsy when imaging results were normal and clinical findings were not; surgical referral for a cyst with bloody fluid<sup>118</sup>.

There is agreement that prompt diagnosis and treatment of cancer improves treatment options and survival. For example, in one study of people with breast cancer, a delay of more than 3 months between noticing a symptom and treatment was associated with poorer survival<sup>119</sup>.

Delays in diagnosis contribute significantly to anxiety and concern for people with cancer. Two Australian studies have examined the timing of cancer diagnosis. Schofield et al documented retrospective recollections of people with melanoma diagnosed approximately four months prior to the study<sup>120</sup>. The majority (66%) reported that the time interval from seeking help to diagnosis confirmation was "about right", whilst a third felt that it was "far too long" or "a bit long". The actual time between first seeking medical advice and being told the diagnosis was not recorded in this study. Butow et al documented recollections of, and satisfaction with, the delivery of the diagnosis of cancer of 187 people with breast cancer and melanoma, diagnosed, on average, four years prior to the study<sup>121</sup>. Most people reported receiving

their diagnosis within one week of seeking medical help. However, a significant minority of people (16%) reported not receiving confirmation of diagnosis for more than one month after seeking medical help and the majority of these people (96%) felt that this was too long. Twenty six percent reported waiting for the diagnosis confirmation for more than one week, and the majority of those (63%) felt that this time period was too long. People with breast cancer were less satisfied with the amount of time taken to confirm diagnosis than people with melanoma.

There is little information for people to help them judge the quality of their diagnosis. The National Breast Cancer Centre has published a consumer guide<sup>122</sup> that provides information about the recommended steps in investigating a breast symptom in parallel to the guideline for general practitioners<sup>115</sup>. There is no credentialing or other program that enables people to know whether their general practitioner or other care provider is competent in the diagnosis of cancer.

### There are opportunities to improve diagnosis by the establishment of guidelines and the audit of current practice.

 $\diamond \diamond \diamond$ 

## INFORMATION AND SUPPORT IN DIAGNOSIS

### **Optimal Services:**

People will have information about, and be supported through, the process of diagnosis, regardless of whether they have an abnormality on screening or a sign or symptom that may be cancer. They will have information that helps them understand that the process of diagnosis is one of increasing certainty rather than a moment of truth. They will know about the steps in the pathway of diagnosis, what is involved in each test and what the results mean. This will include information about the likelihood of false positives and false negatives. People will be provided with support throughout the process of diagnosis recognising that this is a time of increased anxiety. Health professionals and people can approach population screening programs and the investigation of symptoms with different agendas, consumers seeking reassurance that they do not have a condition whilst practitioners are looking for a sign of possible disease or abnormality. Such differing agendas may often result in different information needs and discrepancies in information provision<sup>123</sup>. For example, consumers and health practitioners often do not differentiate between screening and diagnostic testing. The process of diagnosis can be more anxiety provoking than knowing that a cancer exists.

Information and support needs of people with abnormal test results include<sup>124</sup>:

- Receiving information about test results and planned diagnostic procedures;
- Receiving information about possible diagnosed conditions and their causes, effects and treatment;
- Being directed to reliable sources of information;
- Having an educational approach tailored to people's preferences;
- Feeling able to ask questions;
- Receiving emotional support from the person presenting results; and
- Being referred to appropriate support services.

Most people find the uncertainty associated with an abnormal screening result or investigation of a symptom very stressful. It is important to minimise the delay between the findings of test results and a referral to further diagnostic tests or to a treatment team. Typically, people have very inaccurate knowledge about the pre-test and post-test probabilities of common diseases and about the characteristics of tests used to diagnose those diseases<sup>98;125</sup>. For example, an Australian populationbased study of women's attitudes to information, and involvement in decisions, about test results found that most women were shocked to hear that mammograms are not 100% accurate<sup>126</sup>. Having experience with the disease does not improve people's knowledge about the disease

characteristics and probabilities<sup>126</sup>. Many people do not understand the purpose of, and differences between, different tests and that the process of diagnosis is one of increasing certainty<sup>126</sup>.

While people may vary in their need to understand this information, it is important that the key issues are clearly communicated so that people can fully understand the meaning of their test results. There is growing research about how best to communicate information about test results including the development of decision aids and visual guides<sup>102</sup>.

There is little information about the adequacy of information for people undergoing cancer tests in Australia. One study assessed provision of the information about test accuracy and pre- and posttest probabilities related to cancer diagnostic and screening tests currently used in Australia. Most publications lacked the quantitative information women needed in order to make informed choices<sup>127</sup>. The failure to acknowledge that a test can give falsepositive and false-negative results may mislead people when they are interpreting their own results.

Little is known about the special information needs of people with symptoms from disadvantaged groups especially Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples and people from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds.

## There is an opportunity to improve the information about diagnostic tests for cancer.

 $\diamond \diamond \diamond$ 

## ACCESS TO DIAGNOSTIC SERVICES FOR COMMUNITIES WITH SPECIFIC NEEDS

### **Optimal Services:**

People will have access to high quality and appropriate diagnostic services regardless of where they live. People from disadvantaged groups especially Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples and people from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds will have access to culturally appropriate diagnostic services. There is little information about the availability of diagnostic services throughout Australia. However, regional, rural and remote areas of Australia are more poorly provided with diagnostic services; for example, diagnostic breast clinics are uncommon outside urban areas. A recent report by The Cancer Council of NSW noted that five year relative survival from all cancers, considered together for both men and women in NSW Australia, was lower for people from remote areas. The reasons for this were not clear, but access to diagnostic services may be a contributing factor<sup>128;129</sup>.

Little is known about the extent to which special communities can access appropriate diagnostic services. There is some evidence that cancer is diagnosed later among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people<sup>130</sup>. A recent qualitative study of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women's perceptions of breast cancer diagnosis and treatment in Queensland interviewed 101 Aboriginal women<sup>131</sup>. The women reported a number of barriers to timely presentation with breast symptoms, which included the need for services to be central and easily accessible for women who lacked access to public or private transport. The women preferred services to be available in known and familiar surroundings. Aboriginal Health Workers were said to be important for promoting a "culturally safe" environment and increasing community awareness of breast cancer. Women saw the fixed appointment system as a major barrier to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women attending services, as it conflicted with "Aboriginal time" and precluded the possibility of women dropping in for a consultation.

## There is an opportunity to improve diagnostic services for communities with special needs.

 $\diamond \diamond \diamond$ 

## **PROVISION OF RESULTS**

### **Optimal Services:**

People will be provided with their results in an appropriate and timely manner. Both positive and negative results will be provided in an appropriate manner meeting published guidelines about breaking bad news. People will be provided with information about the short and long term significance of their diagnosis and about the next steps in treatment. People diagnosed with cancer and their families will be provided with appropriate support and counselling.

### **Test results**

In order for people with cancer to fully understand test results, they need to know: what the test can test for; the range of possible test results (e.g. normal, benign disease, cancer, uncertain); what these results mean; that tests are not 100% accurate; the chance of a normal result in a person who does not have cancer (true negative) and the chance of normal result in a person who does have cancer (false negative); the chance of an abnormal result in a person who does have cancer (true positive) and the chance of an abnormal result in a person who does not have cancer (false positive); the next steps and test options. In practice, this amount of information is rarely given, either by the clinician or in written form<sup>127</sup>.

### A diagnosis of cancer

Guidelines for telling people that they have cancer or a recurrence have been developed in Australia. They emphasise that the doctor should clearly and honestly state the test results, and make it very clear that the diagnosis is now certain, to avoid confusion and denial<sup>132</sup>. Adequate preparation beforehand concerning possible outcomes of testing will make the final diagnosis less of a shock. Rapid clarification of the next steps will ease the emotional impact. People have high needs for information and support at the time of diagnosis. Most people want a great deal of information; clear information about prognosis and treatment options has been found to assist adjustment after the shock of the diagnosis<sup>121</sup>. However many people report difficulty absorbing and processing information at this time, and benefit from having information staged, and repeated several times. The best approach is to tailor information to the individual's needs.

A large survey of people with different types of cancers found that they value supportive aspects of health professional communication almost as much as the content<sup>133</sup>. The way in which a diagnosis of cancer is delivered affects not only the person's understanding of the illness, but can also impact on their long term psychological adjustment. For example, an Australian study linking people's reports of their experience of being told the cancer diagnosis to their subsequent adjustment<sup>134</sup>, found that people were less anxious and more satisfied 4-13 months later, if they: felt prepared for a possible diagnosis of cancer; had the people they wanted present to hear the diagnosis; had as much information about the diagnosis as desired; were provided with written information; felt the information was presented clearly; had their questions answered on the same day; and had an opportunity to talk about their feelings and felt reassured<sup>134</sup>. People were less depressed if the doctor used the word 'cancer'; discussed the severity of the situation; their life expectancy; and how the cancer might affect their lives; and if they were encouraged to be involved in treatment decisions.

Few Australian studies have reported people's experiences of communication at the time of their diagnosis. In one study of people with melanoma<sup>134</sup>, several disparities between people's experiences and preferences were reported, the most notable being perceived delays in receiving the diagnosis, and having inadequate opportunity to ask their clinician questions. Just over half the people reported receiving the amount of information they wanted at diagnosis. Most people appeared to be satisfied with the way their diagnosis was given, but would like more information, particularly about prognosis<sup>134</sup>. In a study of people with breast cancer and melanoma, 63% rated the communication at diagnosis as excellent or good, and a further 18% rated it as satisfactory<sup>121</sup>.

In another study, 25% of people with breast cancer and melanoma reported being told their diagnosis over the telephone, 34% reported that the situation lacked privacy, and 36% reported that the diagnosis was a complete surprise, suggesting a lack of adequate preparation<sup>121</sup>. Some 76% reported that their doctor was caring and sympathetic, but only 46% reported being told about cancer support services. A population based study of women with early breast cancer in Australia found that most women were satisfied with the way in which they were told their diagnosis and that they reported care in accord with most aspects of evidence-based guidelines<sup>135</sup>.

There are opportunities to improve understanding of test results and their significance.



## **REFERRAL TO TREATMENT**

#### **Optimal Services:**

People with cancer will be appropriately referred to treatment. There will be established referral pathways between diagnostic and treatment services. People will experience the transition between diagnosis and treatment as seamless and continuous care. People will know that they are being referred to a high quality treatment service. This might be established through credentialing and links to major treatment centres as outlined in the next section.

There is good evidence that, for some cancers, prompt referral to a multidisciplinary team or centre

of expertise will increase survival<sup>136</sup>. The referral is usually made by a general practitioner either at the point of diagnosis of cancer or because of a high suspicion of cancer.

Referral pathways are often established historically or by personal knowledge of a specialist or specialist team. There is no detailed information available to general practitioners to assist them in providing advice to people with cancer about appropriate referral options. Likewise, there is no standard information available about the differences between services and the quality of care that they provide.

There is little information about referral pathways in Australia or the extent to which they result in optimal care.

There are opportunities to significantly improve referral pathways by providing information to primary care providers and to people with cancer about cancer services.

 $\diamond \diamond \diamond$ 

## TREATMENT AND SUPPORT DURING ACTIVE TREATMENT

The treatment of cancer will depend upon the type of cancer and its spread at diagnosis and upon the person's needs and wishes. For many people with cancer, surgery will be the first step in treatment. This may be followed by combinations of radiotherapy, chemotherapy and other treatments. For some people, the cancer will not recur after the initial treatment, while for others the cancer will recur after a period when the cancer does not appear to be present. For some people with cancer, the disease will continue to be active from the time of diagnosis. Issues for people after and between periods of active treatment are discussed in the next section.

Survival rates among people with cancer in Australia generally compare well with other similar countries. Overall, Australia is second only to the United States<sup>137</sup>. When treatment practices are compared with evidence-based guidelines or practice in other similar countries, people with cancer in Australia are usually found to be receiving high quality care<sup>4;138</sup>.

It is recognised that the opportunities to improve treatment and support for people with cancer lie mainly in modifying the ways in which cancer care is organised and services are delivered<sup>4</sup>. Australia has a very complex health system – people with cancer often move between the private and public sectors and also, care must be provided to people in regional, rural and remote parts of Australia. A more coordinated approach to cancer care is required which enables networked integrated services to be provided within a person centred and multidisciplinary framework.

## **PEOPLE'S NEEDS**

### People want to:

- Understand what may happen to them during active treatment;
- Trust their treatment team to provide them with best care;
- Know who is coordinating their care and who can answer their questions and that their care is well coordinated and seamless;

- Have access to the best and most appropriate care regardless of where they live or their cultural and linguistic background;
- Be told honestly and clearly about their disease and treatment options so that they can make the best decisions;
- Limit the symptoms of the disease and the side effects of treatment to maintain the best possible quality of life;
- Limit the impact of the cancer and its treatment on their daily lives and that of their families and carers; and
- Be able to discuss their concerns and feelings and to receive support if needed for themselves and their families.

## **OPTIMAL SERVICES**

People with cancer will have access to all relevant expertise and facilities regardless of where they live:

- The core treatment team will include but not be limited to surgery, medical oncology, radiation oncology, pathology, radiology, nursing and supportive care;
- Facilities for high quality radiology, pathology, surgery, medical oncology and radiation oncology will be available;
- People with cancer will also be able to access other care as relevant to their needs including: genetic testing and counselling, psychiatry, physiotherapy, and nuclear medicine;
- Models of service provision will ensure that people with cancer in regional, rural and remote areas can access high quality care by linking smaller centres to large specialist centres. This might be achieved through personal visits, teleconferencing or multidisciplinary case conferencing; and
- Adequate support for travel and accommodation will be provided for people who need to travel for treatment and consideration will also be given to the needs of their families.
People with cancer will experience the cancer journey as seamless and continuous care provided by one integrated service:

- People with cancer will move from one component of care to the next and from one treatment modality to another as though they are part of one service. The transition from screening or diagnosis to treatment, and from treatment to the community, will be experienced as phases of care rather than movement from one separate service to another. Likewise, people with cancer will experience the provision of surgery, radiation oncology and medical oncology services as integrated components of one organised service;
- This feature will require close liaison nationally and integration between different components of the screening, diagnostic, treatment and support services;
- Communication strategies will be in place to ensure that general practitioners and other community care providers are fully informed about the diagnosis, treatment and supportive care for each person with cancer in their care;
- People with cancer will have a designated coordinator of care who knows about all aspects of their disease, treatment and support. The care coordinator will help people with cancer move between treatment components, ensure that they have access to appropriate information and support and ensure that the treatment team is fully aware of a person's preferences and situation. The care coordinator might be a cancer nurse, general practitioner, case manager, cancer specialist or other health professional. The care coordinator may be a different person at different times in the cancer journey but the person with cancer should always be clear about who is their care coordinator;
- The care and referral pathways available to people with cancer will be clearly defined and any options identified;
- Referrals for diagnosis and treatment will be to individuals or centres with recognised expertise. This may include referral to smaller centres linked to larger centres of expertise. Referrals

will ensure that diagnosis and treatment are provided within a time frame which will not cause people with cancer undue anxiety or compromise the effectiveness of their treatment; and

• People with cancer will be provided with information about care and referral pathways so that they understand what will happen next.

# People with cancer will be confident that they are being treated according to the best available evidence:

- There will be agreed national clinical practice guidelines covering the diagnosis and management of the priority cancers;
- There will be agreed national psychosocial clinical practice guidelines covering information, support and counselling for the priority cancers;
- Processes will be in place to assess the extent to which clinical practice guidelines are adopted and to encourage their implementation;
- Services will have local protocols for the treatment and support of people with cancer based on agreed national guidelines (where they exist) and based on best available evidence in the absence of guidelines;
- Services will have audit systems for collecting information about the care of people with cancer which enable an evaluation of the extent to which care is in accord with the evidence and their protocols. Information from the audit will be provided to treatment teams and used to develop quality improvement programs;
- People with cancer will have access to information about the guidelines and/or the protocols used by their service providers;
- People with cancer will be invited to participate in clinical trials, when appropriate, and receive as much information as they need to enable them to make informed decisions about participation; and
- Health professionals will have access to up to date information and continuing information about cancer treatment and support.

# People with cancer will know that their treatment providers are working together with them as a team:

- People with cancer will know who is part of the team providing their care;
- The team will have strategies (such as local protocols and multidisciplinary case conferencing) for agreeing on the options for treating each person with cancer; and
- People with cancer will know that there is good exchange of information among the team members including their general practitioners.

# People with cancer will receive care that is acceptable, accountable and appropriate:

- People with cancer will be offered information about the extent to which their treatment facilities meet agreed national benchmarks and implement quality improvement and training programs;
- People with cancer will have the opportunity to provide feedback and comment about the care provided and will be confident that it will be attended to;
- Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people with cancer and people with cancer of culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds will receive care that is culturally appropriate; and
- People with cancer will have the opportunity to contribute to the planning of cancer services.

#### People with cancer and their families will receive adequate information appropriate to their needs at all stages of the cancer journey and make decisions about their treatment:

- Both verbal and written information will be available about: prognosis, treatment options, benefits, risks and possible complications of treatment, pain and symptom management, reconstructive surgery, experience of the disease and its treatment and supportive care;
- People with advanced cancer will receive copies of letters/notes about treatment or be able to access their own healthcare record;

- Information will be suitable for people's educational status and cultural and linguistic background;
- People with cancer will be able to discuss their concerns openly with their treatment team. They should receive information that is given in a supportive, caring way and have the opportunity to express their feelings. Information should be given and discussed in a private environment, with plenty of time given for discussion;
- Adequate information about treatment options will be available;
- People with cancer will be able to be involved in decisions about their treatment to the extent that they wish; and
- People with cancer will have a written treatment and follow-up plan that takes account of individual circumstances.

# People with cancer and their families will receive appropriate support:

- People with cancer will receive detailed information about supportive care services;
- People with cancer and their families will have the opportunity on repeated occasions to discuss their needs with a member of the treatment team and with community health providers;
- People with cancer will have access to supportive care services including psychologists, psychiatrists and physiotherapists, if needed;
- People with cancer will have access to services to assist in managing the side effects of their disease and its treatment;
- People with cancer will be provided with information about entitlements to financial assistance for costs associated with treatment including travel, accommodation and prostheses; and
- People with advanced cancer will have access to specialist palliative care advice and services when required and in accordance with the National Palliative Care Strategy<sup>263</sup>.

## RATIONALE FOR THE COMPONENTS OF OPTIMAL SERVICES AND CRITICAL INTERVENTION POINTS

#### ACCESS TO TREATMENT

#### **Optimal Services:**

People with cancer will have access to all relevant expertise and facilities regardless of where they live. The core treatment team will include, but not be limited to, expertise in surgery, medical oncology, radiation oncology, pathology, radiology, nursing and supportive care. Facilities for high quality radiology, pathology, surgery, medical oncology and radiation oncology will be available. People with cancer will also be able to access other care as relevant to their needs including: genetic testing and counselling, psychiatry, physiotherapy and nuclear medicine.

Models of service provision will ensure that people with cancer in regional, rural and remote areas can access high quality care by linking smaller centres to large specialist centres. This might be achieved through personal visits, teleconferencing or multidisciplinary case conferencing. Adequate support for travel and accommodation will be provided for people who need to travel for treatment and their families.

#### Access to expertise and services

The treatment and support of people with cancer requires many different types of services and skills including expertise in surgery, medical oncology, radiation oncology, pathology, radiology and supportive care. People with cancer may also need to be able to access other care as relevant to their needs including: genetic testing and counselling, psychiatry, physiotherapy, nuclear medicine.

There is evidence of poor access to some components of care throughout Australia. Poor access to specialist psychiatrists and psychologists is a barrier to the provision of adequate supportive care services<sup>132</sup> and the lack of radiation oncology services has been repeatedly identified. The Baume Inquiry Report on Radiation Oncology<sup>6</sup> noted that only eighty percent of the desirable number of people with a new diagnosis of cancer receive radiotherapy and that waiting times for treatment are too long. The Inquiry concluded that there are shortages of the critical workforce and lack of modern machines, resulting in considerable waiting times<sup>6</sup>.

#### Access in regional, rural and remote areas

The provision of services close to where the person with cancer lives is inevitably limited by the local population density and the distance from major centres of population. Some services such as radiotherapy are not available outside of capital cities and a few major towns. It is estimated, however, that around 30% of people with cancer live outside of a major population centre<sup>7</sup>.

Health services in regional areas have lower caseloads than services in metropolitan centres. Caseload is not simply a count of the number of procedures performed or the people treated, but is associated with several complex interacting factors, each of which may affect outcomes including: the relevant experience and training of the provider; processes of care in the institution in which care is delivered; institutional characteristics, including infrastructure and equipment; the availability of multi-disciplinary expertise; and the appropriateness of people selected for the procedure performed. The association between caseload and outcomes varies with the type of cancer and the type of procedure performed<sup>139-141</sup>.

The evidence about caseload, care provision and outcomes in the treatment of cancer in Australia is somewhat inconsistent. The national survey of breast cancer care found that surgeons with small caseloads provided similar care to those with large caseloads<sup>138</sup>. Although women seen by clinicians who treated a large number of women with breast cancer were more likely to receive breast conserving surgery than those managed by surgeons with a lower caseload, this does not in itself constitute poorer care<sup>138</sup>. In contrast, it appears that women with ovarian cancer who are treated in units that care for a smaller number of cases have poorer survival<sup>142</sup>.

Within Australia, providing adequate access to care for people in regional, rural and remote areas will depend upon resolving two challenges:

# Providing local high quality access for some services

Many people with cancer will continue to receive components of their care outside major treatment centres and close to where they live. There is evidence that, for some cancers, people treated by multidisciplinary teams have care more in accord with evidence and better survival<sup>136;143</sup>. The challenge is to provide services in regional, rural and remote areas using a multidisciplinary approach with specialist input as required.

Services outside major treatment centres should be encouraged to develop links with centres of expertise. This might be achieved in a number of ways including visiting specialists and participation in multidisciplinary case conferencing through videoconferencing or by telephone. Links already exist between many regional, rural and remote areas and major centres of cancer expertise. These links have developed historically and are often based on relationships between individual health professionals. A more systematic and planned approach to linking all regional, rural and remote facilities to centres of expertise would appear to be of value. It is anticipated that these links will include the development of extended teams which enable professionals working in regional, rural and remote areas with specialist teams in major hospitals to work together as one multidisciplinary team. Some models for this distant linkage already exist<sup>144</sup>.

There may also be the opportunity to improve specific aspects of care in rural areas. For example, studies have reported considerable variation in standards and policies in the administration of chemotherapy in rural settings<sup>145;146</sup>. Improved education and training for health professionals from rural Australia and the accreditation of chemotherapy services may also improve access to this component of care. There are some models for improving education for regional, rural and remote health professionals, in administering chemotherapy<sup>147</sup>.

## Good practice: Linking centres of expertise with regional, rural and remote areas

A video conferencing link has been established for some time between Adelaide and Darwin to enable Darwin clinicians to participate in multidisciplinary oncology meetings at the tertiary referral centre in Adelaide. This is supplemented by regular visits by the Adelaide oncologists. An evaluation of the videoconferencing link reported that all clinicians found the link to be useful enabling remote area clinicians to participate in multidisciplinary cancer meetings, better support of isolated clinicians, decreased travel for people with cancer and enhanced education and peer review<sup>144</sup>.

#### Support for people who need to travel

It is unlikely that people treated in regional, rural and remote areas will ever be able to access all services locally and there will be an ongoing need for people to travel for some components of their care. There is also often a competing tension about access to services and quality of care. A recent review of studies of the impact of travel on people with cancer and their experiences of treatment identified eleven studies which consistently described travel to cancer treatment as inconvenient and a practical hardship for many people with cancer and their families<sup>148</sup>. These issues may cause some patients in remote areas to choose not to have some treatments.

Financial schemes are available to help subsidise the costs of travel and accommodation for people with cancer needing to travel long distances for treatment. However, these schemes have been criticised on grounds of equity and affordability and they do not always work well for the people who need them. People with cancer report that they are often given insufficient information about financial assistance schemes. For example, in one population based study, less than half (47%) of 204 women with breast cancer from rural areas who traveled for treatment received financial assistance and 13% of these women had difficulty organising or claiming financial assistance<sup>149</sup>. Similarly, one quarter of 192 people with haematological malignancies surveyed in Queensland who travelled for treatment had never heard of the patient access and travel schemes<sup>150</sup>.

Other people who are required to travel long distances may encounter discrimination in being eligible for financial schemes, given the variation that exists within and between jurisdictions for the patient access and travel schemes in Australia. Some States and Territories will provide assistance for people living more than 100km away (the majority of States/Territories) while one State sets the cut off at 50kms and another at 200km. People who want an escort/family member to accompany them may also face difficulties with receiving financial assistance for travel and accommodation<sup>4</sup>. A national review of travel support has been suggested<sup>4</sup>.

#### The problem: the impact of cancer

I had my first blood tests on a Tuesday morning and that afternoon I was told I had cancer. During my first few nights in hospital my husband slept in a chair beside my bed. My parents were forced to stay in a guesthouse nearby at \$120 per night. My sister lived 40 minutes from the hospital, so her household grew from 3 to 10 people... tension was high and relationships strained. These living arrangements meant that no one had any routine or normality to their lives. It would have been a load off my mind had my family been able to stay somewhere close by, without being a burden on anyone, or on their savings. I went from wondering if I had many tomorrows left, to stressing about where my family would stay.

Janelle – living in regional Victoria and travelling into Melbourne for treatment<sup>177</sup>.

#### Appropriate access for special populations

The provision of standard services may not be sufficient to create appropriate access for some groups. For example, Aboriginal people living in regional, rural and remote areas, or even in Darwin, are reported as being particularly disadvantaged in accessing cancer services, especially radiotherapy<sup>4</sup>. Treatment often requires long periods at, or frequent visits to, places that are unfamiliar, alienating, often lacking in cultural awareness and sometimes seen as overtly discriminatory. The Aboriginal liaison officer at the treatment institution, if there is one, is typically over-stretched<sup>4</sup>. Indigenous health workers with cancer training might assist in navigating the system. The gender of the clinician may be a barrier to having symptoms investigated or the provision of treatment.

The diagnosis of cancer is often regarded as meaning death and the person may be living in a community that must regularly deal with premature death. In addition, there are cultural and crosscultural issues – such as fear, disfigurement, failure to be given or to fully understand the treatment options - which play a substantial part in treatment 'choices'. The long time away from a workplace may also lead to the loss of a job with consequent financial and other impacts.

Little is known about how to provide appropriate cancer care for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people or for people from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds

There is an opportunity to improve access to services, (especially radiotherapy), particularly for people living in regional, rural and remote areas and from Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander backgrounds.

 $\diamond \diamond \diamond$ 

### SEAMLESS AND CONTINUOUS CARE

#### **Optimal Services:**

People with cancer will experience the cancer journey as seamless and continuous care, provided by one organised service. They will move from one component of care to the next and from one treatment modality to another as though they are part of one service. The transition from screening or diagnosis to treatment and from treatment to the community will be experienced as phases of care rather than movement from one separate service to another. Likewise, people with cancer will experience the provision of surgery, radiation oncology and medical oncology services as integrated components of one organised service. This will require close liaison and integration between different components of the screening, diagnostic and treatment services and communication to ensure that general practitioners and other community care providers are fully informed about the diagnosis. treatment and supportive care for each person with cancer. People with cancer should have a coordinator of care who knows about all aspects of their disease, treatment and support. The care coordinator will help people with cancer move between treatment components, ensure that they have access to appropriate information and support and ensure that the treatment team is fully aware of the person's preferences and situation. The care coordinator might be a cancer nurse, general practitioner, case manager or other health professional. The care coordinator may be a different person at different times in the cancer journey but the person should always be clear about who is their care coordinator. The care and referral pathways available to people with cancer will be clearly defined and any options identified and referrals for diagnosis and treatment will be to individuals or centres with recognised expertise. This will include referral to smaller centres linked to larger centres of expertise. Referrals will ensure that diagnosis and treatment are provided within a time frame which will not cause people with cancer undue anxiety or compromise the effectiveness of their treatment. People with cancer will be provided with information about care and referral pathways so that they understand what will happen next.

Continuity of care for people with cancer requires linkages and coordination:

- Among different modalities (surgical, radiation and medical oncology);
- Among providers from different professions and disciplines (e.g. general practitioners and specialist doctors, nurses, allied health practitioners, technical personnel, and psychologists);
- Among different individuals within the same discipline (e.g. medical or nursing staff on rosters);
- Within any single service, over time;
- Across the full spectrum of comprehensive cancer care, from cancer detection through treatment and follow-up to palliative care; and
- Across different service types and settings (public and private, inpatient and ambulant, general and specialist hospitals).

There is some evidence from international studies that continuity of care results in better outcomes<sup>151;152</sup>. It is also suggested to play a role in reducing medical errors and improving patient safety<sup>153</sup>. However, it is not clear how these studies relate to care in Australia.

The establishment of continuity of care is particularly difficult in the Australian health care system where people may be treated in both the private and public sector and at different geographic locations. The components of care (screening, diagnosis, treatment and ongoing care) may be provided by different and separate services with different funding and governance arrangements. Even within one component of care, like treatment, people with cancer may move between a number of different services.

There is evidence from international studies that some strategies improve continuity of care. For example, specialist breast nurses have been found to effectively function as coordinators of care and to improve continuity of care<sup>154;155</sup>. There is also some evidence that patient held records can contribute to improving the continuity of care<sup>156</sup>. However, relatively little is known about approaches to ensuring continuity of care in Australia or the extent to which people with cancer currently experience continuity of care. The lack of continuity of care is a common complaint of people with cancer in Australia<sup>4;157;158</sup>. In one survey, women with breast cancer reported that: they see a different doctor every time they visit the hospital and that they do not clearly understand who in the treatment team does what<sup>157</sup>. However, a report of a national consumer survey of women with early breast cancer found that 94% of women said they understood who was coordinating their care, although 42% said that they would have liked to have had access to one main contact person<sup>158</sup>. This study also reported that only about one in five women reported access to a specialist breast nurse. Patient-held records for people with cancer are uncommon in Australia.

In Australia's diverse health system, it seems likely that other approaches will be needed to improve continuity of care between services such as diagnosis and treatment. It has been proposed that population based integrated cancer services may be a potential approach.

The integrated cancer service would create an overarching framework for a number of separate services; these services would remain separate entities but be linked through common approaches to quality assurance, protocol development, education and monitoring. The integrated cancer service would be established to provide all cancer care including public information, screening, diagnosis, treatment, support and special services. The service would be built to provide a seamless transition between services, to provide care to a defined population and include both public and private sector services.

The integrated cancer service would seek to provide a doorway to quality care; once people enter an integrated cancer service (e.g. at the point of attending for screening or investigation of a symptom) they would be assured of an organised, integrated and high quality approach to all aspects of care. The integrated cancer service would be well defined with named facilities and health practitioners who provide care within the service. Information would be readily available in the community and to health practitioners about the integrated service's approach to care and facilities that are part of the service.

The integrated service might have a coordination centre which is responsible for fostering communication, linkages and the overall model within the area. It should be noted however, that as yet there has been no evaluation of this concept.

There is an opportunity to improve continuity of care within service components and to improve continuity of care between service components through the development of integrated cancer services.

 $\diamond \diamond \diamond$ 

#### EVIDENCE-BASED TREATMENT

#### **Optimal Services:**

People with cancer will be confident that they are being treated according to the best available evidence. There will be agreed national clinical practice guidelines covering the diagnosis and management of cancer and the provision of information, support and counselling. Services will have local protocols for the treatment and support of people with cancer based on guidelines where they exist and based on best available evidence in the absence of agreed national guidelines. Services will have systems for collecting information about an individual's care which enable an evaluation of the extent to which care is in accord with the evidence and their protocols. Information from the audit will be provided to treatment teams and used to develop quality improvement programs. People with cancer will have access to information about the guidelines and/or the protocols used by their service providers. People with cancer will be invited to participate in clinical trials and receive as much information as they need to enable them to make informed decisions about participation.

#### **Clinical practice guidelines**

There is substantial evidence that cancer care varies across services and settings<sup>159</sup> and that it is not always in accord with the best available evidence<sup>160;161</sup>. Clinical practice guidelines are summaries of evidence and are often a first step in encouraging evidence-based practice. There is considerable research demonstrating that evidence-based clinical practice guidelines are effective in improving the quality of clinical practice and the outcomes of care for people with cancer<sup>162;163</sup>. A targeted review of the impact of clinical practice guidelines on oncology treatment processes and outcomes showed that improvements have been demonstrated in compliance with guidelines, in short-term length of stay, complication rates and financial outcomes<sup>164</sup>.

However, implementation strategies are usually required to ensure the full adoption of clinical practice guidelines. The specific strategies will depend on the guidelines and the barriers to evidence-based practice. Intervention strategies may include those targeting change in: the systems, funding or policies; knowledge; attitude or skills of health professionals or consumer knowledge<sup>165</sup>. Implementation programs that use more than one method tend to be more successful<sup>162;165;166</sup>.

In Australia, substantial effort has been directed at the development of clinical practice guidelines for cancer and guidelines are available, or soon will be, for most of the priority cancers including:

- Early breast cancer (NHMRC endorsed)<sup>167</sup>;
- Advanced breast cancer (NHMRC endorsed)<sup>168</sup>;
- Skin cancer and melanoma (NHMRC endorsed)<sup>169</sup>;
- Non-melanoma skin cancer (NHMRC endorsed)<sup>170</sup>;
- Bowel cancer (NHMRC endorsed)<sup>112</sup>;
- Prostate cancer (NHMRC endorsed)<sup>171</sup>;
- Familial aspects of cancer (NHMRC endorsed)27;
- Lung cancer (NHMRC endorsed); and
- Ovarian cancer (NHMRC endorsed).

Guidelines for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma are under development.

Guidelines for the psychosocial care of people with cancer<sup>132</sup> have also recently been endorsed by the NHMRC.

However, the dissemination, implementation, evaluation and maintenance of these guidelines have generally not been sufficiently well supported and resourced, with the possible exception of breast cancer.

Clinical practice guidelines, or agreed standards of care, also make it possible to evaluate the extent to which current practice is in accord with the evidence. Population based patterns of care studies have been undertaken at the national and state levels. There have been two national invasive breast cancer patterns of care<sup>138;163</sup>; a national colorectal study<sup>172</sup>; two lung cancer studies<sup>117;173</sup>. There has also been a state based prostate cancer study<sup>174</sup>. Other patterns of care studies, including a skin cancer survey are in progress. The completed studies have indicated aspects of care which require further attention. There have been no similar surveys for some other priority cancers and it is therefore not possible to know whether care is in accord with the evidence.

#### Good practice: measuring current care

A national survey of care<sup>172</sup> of 2,015 people with bowel cancer indicated that care for people with this cancer was overall of high quality and in accord with the guidelines.

However, several aspects of care emerged as possibly requiring additional attention:

- Increasing rates of referral of people with lower third rectal cancer to specialist bowel surgeons;
- Increasing rates of adjuvant chemotherapy in node positive colon cancer and combined modality therapy in high risk rectal cancer; and
- Increased participation in clinical trials.

#### Local protocols, audit and quality improvement

Clinical practice guidelines are used at the service level to develop protocols about the delivery of care. The audit of practice against local protocols and clinical practice guidelines assists services in understanding where care could be strengthened. The establishment of strategies to modify practice can be developed from this information.

There is little information about the extent to which services currently develop protocols, audit and review practice or implement quality improvement programs. In a survey of 60 hospitals, written protocols covering multiple aspects of care for women with breast cancer, were reported in 45% of high caseload hospitals only. In 40% of low, 25% of medium and 15% of high caseload hospitals, no protocols for the management of women with breast cancer existed<sup>175</sup>. All high caseload hospitals had some form of data collection but 60% had no process for review of data. Forty percent of low and 20% of medium caseload hospitals had no data collection system<sup>175</sup>.

One Australian study has explored the impact of a systematic approach to quality improvement in cancer services. It demonstrated in a randomised trial that a quality improvement program based on analysis of local data and needs was effective in improving care<sup>176</sup>. The extent to which such processes are routinely in place is unknown.

#### **Clinical trials**

There is also a need to continue to develop the evidence base for improving care. Clinical trials are fundamental to establishing whether there is benefit in new treatments. There is also evidence that people with cancer enrolled in clinical trials receive better care and have longer survival. It has been estimated that around 2-3% of people with cancer participate in clinical trials with around 20-30% eligible for current trials<sup>4</sup>. Among people with breast cancer, participation is somewhat higher at around 6%<sup>138</sup>. In a recent population based survey, 12% of women with breast cancer reported being offered an opportunity to

participate in a clinical trial with 6% of women agreeing<sup>135.</sup>

There are opportunities to encourage greater adoption of clinical practice guidelines and to better support participation in clinical trials.

 $\diamond \diamond \diamond$ 

### MULTIDISCIPLINARY CARE

#### **Optimal Services:**

People with cancer will know that their treatment providers are working together with them as a team. They will know who is part of the team providing their care and the team will have strategies for agreeing on the options for treating each individual. People with cancer will know that there is good exchange of information among the team members including their general practitioners.

#### The problem: multidisciplinary care<sup>177</sup>

My surgeon told me that I wouldn't need radiotherapy but I ended up having to have it (woman with breast cancer: National Multidisciplinary Care Demonstration Project)

My surgeon told me that my cancer was oestrogen receptor negative but my oncologist said it was positive and prescribed tamoxifen. (woman with breast cancer: National Multidisciplinary Care Demonstration Project)

There are many different disciplines involved in the treatment and support of people with cancer. There is evidence from overseas studies that care is more in accord with the evidence and that survival is improved when treatment is provided by experts working together as a team than by individual clinicians seeing people with cancer sequentially. *This team approach to care is often referred to as multidisciplinary care. In a multidisciplinary approach to care, the treatment options are considered by a team including specialists with all of the relevant expertise. The treatment plan is developed by the team together rather than through sequential input by individual specialists.* 

A summary of evidence about the benefits of multidisciplinary care is provided in a recent publication by the National Breast Cancer Centre<sup>177</sup>.

There is evidence that people with cancer treated in large centres with a multidisciplinary approach are provided with better care and have better outcomes<sup>136;143</sup>. For example, Gillis & Hole reported that the five year survival rate of women with breast cancer was 9% higher and the 10 year survival rate 8% higher if they were treated by specialist teams<sup>143</sup>. In Australia, women not treated within three months of diagnosis of ovarian cancer in a principal referral hospital (and therefore presumably without access to multidisciplinary care), were found to have lower survival<sup>142</sup>. There is also evidence that treatment recommendations made by a multidisciplinary panel are more in accord with the evidence than those by individual doctors<sup>178</sup>. A recent study found that in the UK multidisciplinary care improved: survival; recruitment of people with cancer into clinical trials; personal satisfaction; and mental well-being of team members<sup>179</sup>.

A multidisciplinary model of care is increasingly common in the United Kingdom where most treatment of people with cancer occurs in designated cancer clinics. It is not clear how these findings apply in the more diverse delivery systems in Australia or indeed how multidisciplinary care might be defined in this context. In Australia, clinicians believe that a multidisciplinary approach will provide better care<sup>180</sup>. Multidisciplinary approaches to the treatment of cancer are recommended in Australian clinical practice guidelines<sup>167</sup>.

Different approaches to implementing multidisciplinary care in Australia will be required. In Australia, multidisciplinary care is more difficult to achieve because specialists treating a person with cancer may work in geographically separate places and a person with cancer may be treated in the private and/or public sectors. Innovative service delivery models will need to be developed to provide multidisciplinary care to all people with cancer in Australia. It is likely that the models will be different in different parts of Australia. The National Breast Cancer Centre has developed a set of principles to describe an operational definition of multidisciplinary care in Australia<sup>180;181</sup>. Service delivery models should be developed to achieve these. There is evidence that a multidisciplinary approach to care can be facilitated even in remote areas. Olver & Selva-Nayagam have described the development of a multidisciplinary approach to treating women with breast cancer based on the team at the Royal Adelaide Hospital and linking with clinicians in Alice Springs and Darwin through videoconferencing and visits<sup>144</sup>.

The National Multidisciplinary Care Demonstration Project followed three multi-site collaborations who were implementing strategies to foster increased multidisciplinary care. The collaborations were able to establish regular multidisciplinary treatment planning meetings often across geographical separate sites. Multidisciplinary care was found to improve supportive care, improve communication between clinicians and provide clinicians with greater emotional and intellectual support. The participating clinicians also reported that the multidisciplinary strategies were worthwhile and had improved the care of women with breast cancer<sup>177</sup>.

Little is currently known about the extent to which care for people with cancer in Australia is provided using a multidisciplinary approach. There are no simple indicators of multidisciplinary care. Treatment in a larger centre does not necessarily mean that care is multidisciplinary and treatment in a rural centre may be multidisciplinary through the use of videoconferencing, specialist visits or other approaches<sup>182</sup>. The only study that has specifically examined service organisation surveyed 60 hospitals providing care for women with breast cancer. While 70% of large case load hospitals had regular multidisciplinary meetings, only 50% considered all women with breast cancer. Fifty five percent of medium caseload hospitals held regular treatment planning meetings but only 35% considered all cases. Only one hospital in the low caseload category had regular multidisciplinary meetings<sup>175</sup>.

Several strategies may facilitate the establishment of multidisciplinary care for people with cancer in Australia including:

- The establishment of population based cancer services that link smaller facilities with larger centres for treatment planning and multidisciplinary education;
- The development of accreditation processes for cancer services which include the provision of multidisciplinary care as a criterion;
- Financial support for videoconferencing in regional, rural and remote areas and for coordination of the meetings; and
- Reimbursement for participation in multidisciplinary meetings.

## There is the opportunity to improve multidisciplinary care in Australia.

 $\diamond \diamond \diamond$ 

### ACCEPTABLE, ACCOUNTABLE AND APPROPRIATE CARE

#### **Optimal Services:**

People with cancer will receive care that is acceptable, accountable and appropriate. People with cancer will have access to information about the extent to which their treatment facilities meet agreed national benchmarks and implement quality improvement and training programs and will have the opportunity to provide feedback and comment about the care provided and will be confident that it will be attended to. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people with cancer and people with cancer from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds will receive care that is appropriate.

The provision of person centred care implies that services are seen as acceptable and appropriate by people with cancer. There should be methods in place to ensure that people with cancer can find out about the quality of care being provided and feedback on those aspects of care that they do not find acceptable. Care for all people with cancer should be appropriate to their needs. Given the cultural diversity of the Australian population, particular attention should be paid to ensuring that services meet the needs of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and people from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds.

Feedback from people with cancer will help to indicate whether the cancer services are seen as acceptable and appropriate. Feedback can either be solicited from the person with cancer, or generated spontaneously. Giving people with cancer the opportunity to express their views and preferences, and the incorporation of those views and preferences are integral parts of person-centred care.

There should be opportunities to provide feedback to local services. This will require commitment from senior management and service providers, and the skills to respond effectively to the feedback received. Mechanisms must be in place to ensure that appropriate communications and interactions occur with people with cancer (and any other party concerned), that the feedback or complaint is responded to in a timely manner, and that any actions or changes implemented as a result of the feedback are monitored and evaluated. Most importantly, people with cancer should feel that they have really been heard. In Australia there are several other mechanisms for people with cancer to address complaints or concerns about medical treatment: directly to the doctor involved or the hospital or practice management; State-based medical ombudsmen; the Medical Board, the police, or civil litigation through the courts<sup>183</sup>.

Evidence suggests that people with cancer are aware of their rights as consumers, and that they welcome opportunities and avenues for providing feedback and making complaints<sup>184</sup>. While it has been claimed that most people who make a complaint simply want an apology or acknowledgement of harm, in a sample of 290 complainants to the NSW Health Care Complaints Commission, only 16% would have been satisfied with such a response. In addition, most complainants were disappointed with both the process and the outcome of their complaint<sup>184</sup>. Most complaints fell into two groups: complaints about clinical care and allegations of incompetence or negligence (64%); and poor or inadequate communication, including rude and inconsiderate behaviour, (22%)184.

In order for services to be fully accountable, people with cancer need to be able to judge the standard of service provided. It is difficult, if not impossible, for people with cancer to know whether they are receiving high standard clinical care. Accreditation of services and credentialing of health professionals provide a mechanism through which individuals can be confident that their treatment service meets agreed standards of practice.

#### There are opportunities to improve the quality and accountability of cancer services through accreditation and credentialing

 $\diamond \diamond \diamond$ 

#### INFORMATION ABOUT TREATMENT

#### **Optimal Services:**

People with cancer and their families will receive adequate information appropriate to their needs at all stages of the cancer journey to make decisions about their treatment. Both verbal and written information will be available about: prognosis, treatment options, benefits risks and possible complications of treatment, pain management, and reconstructive surgery, experience of the disease and its treatment and supportive care. People with advanced cancer will receive copies of letters/notes about treatment or be able to access their own health care record. Information will be suitable for the educational and cultural/linguistic background of different individuals. People with cancer will be able to discuss their concerns openly with their treatment team. They will receive information that is given in a supportive, caring way and have the opportunity to express their feelings. Information will be given and discussed in a quiet and private environment, with plenty of time given for discussion. Adequate information about treatment options will be available and people with cancer will be able to be involved in decisions about their treatment to the extent that they wish. People with cancer will have a written treatment and follow-up plan that takes account of individual circumstances.

Most people with cancer would like access to a considerable amount of information about their disease and its treatment<sup>185</sup>. A good understanding of their choices and what may happen to them improves people's satisfaction with care, psychosocial well being and compliance with treatment<sup>4</sup>.

There is somewhat inconsistent evidence about the extent to which people with cancer in Australia currently receive adequate information; it is very likely that information is better for some cancers than others. In a population based survey of women with breast cancer, most women reported that they had enough information about all aspects of their disease and its management<sup>132</sup>. However, other reports note that people with cancer are dissatisfied with the information that they received<sup>4</sup>.

People can be assisted to understand their disease and its treatment through the provision of written information, their own treatment plans and through good communication with their treatment team.

#### Written information

There is some research about how best to provide written information for people with cancer. For example, with regard to treatment decisions, information should include evidence-based statements about the benefits and harms associated with treatment options and the quality and consistency of the empirical studies underlying these statements. Information should also be presented in a balanced way using concise, jargon-free language<sup>186</sup>.

For several cancers, consumer guides have been developed to provide evidence-based information for people with cancer in parallel to the clinical practice guidelines.

The consumer guides include evidence about treatment effectiveness. The guides appear to be judged by people with cancer as very useful. Among people with early breast cancer, between 66% and 90% report receiving a copy of the consumer guide<sup>135</sup>.

#### Patient held records and treatment plans

The recall of information by people with cancer increases when they are provided with individualised information<sup>187</sup>. Patient held records are relatively uncommon in Australia, as is written information about the individual's own treatment. In a population based survey of women with early breast cancer, only 22% were provided with written information about their diagnosis. Only 5% received a written follow up plan<sup>135</sup>.

#### Communication with the treatment team

Substantial evidence confirms that good communication has many positive effects on adjustment to cancer and its treatment<sup>188;189</sup>. Several Australian publications provide guidance to clinicians for good communication practices with people with breast cancer, most of which are likely to be relevant to people with other cancers<sup>189;190</sup>. There is evidence that people with cancer prefer audiotapes of consultations to written material<sup>191</sup>.

Interactive training can improve clinicians' communication skills<sup>192</sup>. There is some evidence that Australian clinicians recognise the need for communication skills training with only 29% of a sample of 143 surgeons believing they are very competent in skills like breaking bad news<sup>193</sup>.

There are opportunities to improve the information available to people with cancer and their families through the provision of consumer guides for cancer and individualised information and by improving communication skills of health professionals.

 $\diamond \diamond \diamond$ 

#### APPROPRIATE SUPPORT

#### **Optimal Services:**

People with cancer and their families will receive appropriate support. They will receive detailed information about supportive care services and have the opportunity on repeated occasions to discuss their needs with a member of the treatment team and with community health providers. People will have access to supportive care services including psychologists, psychiatrists and physiotherapists and to consumer support groups and services to assist in managing the side effects of their disease and its treatment. People will be provided with information about entitlements to financial assistance for costs associated with treatment including travel, accommodation and prostheses.

Supportive care can be defined as care which helps the person with cancer and their family to cope with cancer and the treatment of it from pre-diagnosis, through the process of diagnosis and treatment, to cure, continuing illness or death and into bereavement. It helps the person with cancer to maximise the benefits of treatment and to live as well as possible with the effects of the disease. It is given equal priority alongside diagnosis and treatment<sup>194</sup>.

Supportive care is provided to people with cancer and their carers throughout the cancer pathway. It should be given equal priority with other aspects of care and be fully integrated with diagnosis and treatment. It is not stage-ofdisease dependent; people have supportive care needs from the time that the possibility of cancer is first raised. Supportive care is not a distinct specialty but is the responsibility of all health and social care professionals delivering care that is informed and driven by theories, models and frameworks drawn from diverse sources.

It is underpinned by open and sensitive communication and by organisations and teams who work in a coordinated way to ensure the smooth progression of people with cancer from one service to another.

The recently published *Clinical practice guidelines for the psychosocial care of adults with cancer*<sup>132</sup> provides evidence that enhanced psychosocial support is associated with improved outcomes for the person with cancer and their family outcomes, including early recognition of support needs, and improvements in psychosocial adjustment, decision-making, treatment compliance, satisfaction with care, and physical recovery<sup>132</sup>. The guidelines make over thirty recommendations with supporting evidence from meta-analysis or randomised trials. There is evidence to support the benefit of:

- Effective communication skills, including discussions about prognosis; 'breaking bad news'; information about treatment options; and preparing people with cancer for potentially threatening procedures and treatment. There is demonstrated benefit from communication skills training<sup>195;196</sup>;
- Offering information and the opportunity to participate in decision making<sup>195</sup>;
- Providing emotional counselling and support using a range of different strategies<sup>195;197</sup>;
- Coordinators of care, particularly specialist breast nurses<sup>154;155</sup>; and
- The identification and treatment of those with more serious anxiety or depression. Evidence suggests that the prevalence of long-term psychological distress in people with cancer with cancer ranges from 20% to 66% and 12-30% experience clinically significant anxiety problems<sup>198;199</sup>. Only a very small proportion will be referred for professional assistance<sup>200</sup>.

Supportive care in cancer also includes a range of practical assistance: for example, the provision of wigs, prostheses, assistance with travel or child minding. These issues are often identified in people's comments about care. People with cancer want to know that different types of support services are available to them and also their families. Consumer groups recognise the important role that cancer support groups have in assisting many people with cancer in dealing with the psychosocial impact of diagnosis, treatment and recurrence<sup>201</sup>.

People with cancer also note the value of various forms of peer support, including self-help groups for men with prostate cancer, and one-on-one programs for women with breast cancer<sup>202</sup>.

A central concern for many people is how their family, carers and friends will cope with cancer. As family and friends are often an integral part of a person's cancer care, the person with cancer will want to ensure that the impact on their family is minimal and that their family can access support services. Partners of people with cancer may experience comparable or even higher levels of distress than the person with cancer themselves<sup>132</sup>.

There is little information at the population level about the extent to which people with cancer in Australia receive adequate supportive care. One population based survey of women with breast cancer found that most people reported receiving adequate care for themselves but not for their families<sup>135</sup>. However, complaints about lack of support are often received from people with cancer. People with cancer report that they want opportunities to discuss their feelings and concerns during and after treatment has concluded. For example, a study of more than 800 people with cancer in NSW demonstrated that they experience high levels of unmet needs, particularly in the psychological area, including concerns such as knowing whether their cancer would return or spread<sup>203</sup>.

People with cancer want their health care providers to be aware of and respond to their emotional concerns and provide appropriate support. Australian evidence has suggested that oncologists' awareness of their patients' physical and psychosocial well-being is less than optimal. A study of medical oncologists showed that clinicians tended to overestimate patients' levels of perceived supportive care needs but underestimated patients' levels of anxiety and depression<sup>204</sup>. Similarly, a study of 298 Australian people with cancer found that oncologists were less observant of, and less able to address their cues for, emotional support compared to cues for information<sup>121</sup>. The Specialist Breast Nurse Project found that 36% of women recently diagnosed with breast cancer were depressed, as defined by the General Health Questionnaire, but few had sought professional help<sup>200</sup>. In this study, specialist breast nurses were found to be skilled in identifying individuals with high levels of distress.

Strategies for improving supportive care have been implemented through the recent national program Strengthening Support for Women with Breast Cancer. Some of the implementation issues include:

- Lack of funded positions for specialist cancer nurses;
- Limited access to specialist psychiatry and psychology services; and
- Lack of knowledge and coordination of support services at the local level.

There is the opportunity to improve supportive care for people with the cancer and their families, including the implementation of the Psychosocial clinical practice guidelines: providing information, support and counselling to adults with cancer.

 $\diamond \diamond \diamond$ 

# MANAGEMENT AND SUPPORT AFTER, AND BETWEEN, ACTIVE TREATMENT

The time after, and between, periods of active treatment is a distinct phase for people with cancer. During this time, there may be different needs to those experienced during the period of active treatment and the person will be adjusting to living with a chronic condition. People will be resuming their daily lives and making adjustments necessary to cope with the ongoing side effects of the disease and its treatment. They will also be dealing with uncertainty and fear of recurrence. They will access many health professionals and other agencies within the community and it is likely that their general practitioner and community services will be key reference points for all aspects of their care.

#### **PEOPLE'S NEEDS**

#### People want to:

- Know what may happen to them at, and following, the completion of treatment;
- Have information about, and help dealing with, uncertainty and fear of recurrence;
- Have information about, and help preventing and dealing with ongoing side effects of treatment and disease;
- Understand how they can tell if the cancer has come back or is progressing;
- Know who is coordinating their care, or who they can use as a reference point or system navigator;
- Know how to take care of themselves and to maintain optimal health; and
- Have help to maintain a maximum level of independence and physical, psychological and social functioning.

#### **OPTIMAL SERVICES**

People with cancer and their families will receive appropriate management and support after, and between, periods of active treatment:

- Systems will be in place to ensure that people with cancer have an effective transition between care at the treatment centre and in the community. People will know about the plan for the transition of their own care. There will be effective liaison and integration between service providers in the treatment setting and community;
- People with cancer will have a care plan for treatment and support which will include identification of a coordinator of care or system navigator. The system navigator might be a general practitioner, cancer nurse or other health professional;
- There will be good communication between the patient's hospital and community based health professionals;
- Systems will be in place to promote communication and liaison among health professionals providing care and support in the community;
- People will know how to access high quality and reliable information about all aspects of their disease, management and support;
- People will have access to services, support and information including general practitioners, allied health services and community based organisations to help them:
  - take care of themselves including advice about diet and lifestyle;
  - manage the side effects resulting from the disease or its treatment to maximise their quality of life;

- cope with fears of recurrence; and
- resume their daily lives, as far as possible.
- Appropriate systems and services will be in place to identify recurrence or progression of disease. People will understand the approach to surveillance of their own cancer. People will have information about possible signs and symptoms of their cancer progressing and know where to seek help; and
- Services will focus on maintaining and improving quality of life and the concept of palliative care will be considered if appropriate throughout this period.

### RATIONALE FOR OPTIMAL SERVICES AND CRITICAL INTERVENTION POINTS

Issues in cancer survivorship and living with cancer

"Cancer survivorship is a tumultuous experience of balancing the elation of surviving [a] life-threatening illness with the demands of chronic health concerns and altered life meaning."<sup>205</sup>

More than half of all people diagnosed with cancers will be cured of their disease, excluding non-melanoma skin cancers. Non-melanoma skin cancers, if treated early, are much less life threatening than most other cancers. Another substantial percentage will have time without the effects of cancer troubling them after initial treatment.

The time after, and between, periods of active treatment is a distinct phase for people with cancer. During this time, there may be different needs to those experienced during the period of active treatment and the person will be adjusting to living with a chronic condition. People will be resuming their daily lives and making adjustments necessary to cope with any ongoing side effects of the disease and its treatment. They will also be dealing with uncertainty and fear of recurrence. They will access many health professionals and other agencies within the community and it is likely that their general practitioner and community services will be key reference points for all aspects of their care.

People want to be able to get on with their lives after recovering from cancer. There has been little research regarding the needs of people who have survived cancer. A review of studies of people with cancer who had survived for five years or more reported that many continued to experience negative effects of cancer and/or treatments on their daily lives<sup>206</sup>. Issues of concern for cancer survivors include: physical symptoms such as fatigue; impaired sexual function; specific emotional issues related to survival and concerns about recurrence. Other themes described by cancer survivors include the struggle between independence and dependence, a sense of wholeness, life purpose, reclaiming life, dealing with multiple losses, having control, the altered meaning of health, and surviving cancer from a family perspective<sup>207</sup>.

Research in this area highlights the need to be aware of the physical, emotional and social impact of cancer, even in the longer-term, and the importance of understanding the unique meaning of the cancer experience to the individual.

Quality of life in survivors of cancer includes physical, psychological, social and spiritual well being<sup>208;209</sup>. Physical issues impinge least on quality of life after the treatment of cancer, while spiritual and psychological issues have the most impact<sup>209</sup>. Survivors of cancer use mental health services more often than people of the same age who have not had cancer, with rate of use increasing further with co-morbid illnesses<sup>210</sup>. These rates rise further with younger age at diagnosis of cancer. At a population level, survivors of cancer have poorer global health ratings, more limited activities of daily living or other function limitations and more psychological problems. For younger people after treatment for cancer, working was less likely when compared to similar groups in the population as a whole<sup>211</sup>. Two decades after diagnosis, health problems are still frequently encountered in survivors of cancer including treatment specific and global health issues<sup>212</sup>.

There is a perception that the diagnosis of cancer is a life-changing event. Survivors of cancer often change life-style after the diagnosis in areas such as smoking or diet. At least one study by contrast also documented a decrease in physical activity in survivors of cancer<sup>213</sup>.

Caregiver anxiety is also an issue. Caregivers of survivors of cancer have levels of distress about a diagnosis of cancer or a diagnosis of recurrence that may be higher than the person who had the diagnosis of cancer<sup>214</sup>.

There have been few studies in Australia about the needs of people between, and after, active treatment for cancer.

#### Transition from active treatment

The concept of making a transition from a person with cancer undergoing active treatment to a survivor of cancer (after and between episodes of active treatment) is one that has not been widely explored. People making that transition reflect on the fact that it is a time of anxiety and uncertainty after a period of relatively intense support. Understanding this transition will be important to developing services that adequately meet the needs of people at this time in their lives<sup>215.</sup>

A heightened form of this transition is from treatment to no treatment because of progressive disease. Health professionals must balance the withdrawal of active treatment while still providing supportive care<sup>216</sup>. Excellent communication will be necessary to ensure that people do not feel abandoned because of changes in their treatment. Health professionals may need special training to deal with this transition and to optimize outcomes for people with cancer and their carers.

# Care planning for follow up of cancer survivors

Clinical practice guidelines often include recommendations about the frequency of, and approach to, follow up<sup>167</sup>. There is little information about the extent to which follow up recommendations are implemented. In breast cancer, there is some evidence that, in practice, follow up schedules are more frequent than the recommendations<sup>138</sup>. Again for people with breast cancer, it has been demonstrated that follow up by general practitioners is at least as effective as follow up by specialist teams; however, follow up in primary care is not routine practice in Australia. There are similar issues for other cancers – for example, follow-up schedules for many solid tumours fail to account for the fact that if a diagnosis of recurrence is made, it is likely to be incurable. Intense follow up for many solid tumours is expensive without delivering improved health outcomes.

There are likely to be complex reasons for more frequent and more intensive follow up. These may be as much to do with individual's concerns about recurrence as about benefit in terms of outcomes.

#### Managing effects resulting from treatment

#### Adult survivors of adult cancers

Site-specific long term problems is defined for most cancers where cure has been achieved, especially in the setting of systemic chemotherapy and/or curative doses of radiotherapy. Each cancer specific treatment has its own side-effect profile. For example, people who have been treated for Hodgkin's disease have problems with lung and thyroid disease later in life<sup>212</sup>. In women who have been treated for breast or ovarian cancers, specific advice on long term bone health should be routinely given, although limited data suggests that it is given in less than one third of cases<sup>217</sup>. Women treated for Hodgkin's disease should be provided with advice about ongoing surveillance for breast cancer<sup>218</sup>. Women may experience early menopause following chemotherapy. This has wide implications including decreased bone density with the risks of increased fractures later in life. Infertility for males and females remains a significant issue. Even with the availability of sperm/ova storage and fertility services, the emotional impact of treatment-induced infertility cannot be underestimated<sup>219</sup>. Memory loss may cause problems for people after treatment<sup>212</sup>. Neuro-psychological impairment following systemic chemotherapy is well documented. The magnitude of decline for each individual affected may not be enormous, but the total effect is substantial and may affect between one quarter and one third of all people who have systemic chemotherapy<sup>220</sup>. Second tumours are a major concern for people who have been treated for cancer.

People have concerns about survivorship, regardless of their age; older people frequently express concern about the effects on family of the diagnosis and treatment of cancer and about their survival<sup>221</sup>.

There is a psychological impact of surviving cancer including increased rates of depression and stress. A small number of people experience posttraumatic stress disorder<sup>222;223</sup>. However, most people surviving cancer, in the absence of residual or recurrent disease, have quality of life comparable to that of the rest of the population<sup>224</sup>. For some people, the diagnosis is a transforming process with positive outcomes ultimately<sup>225</sup>.

#### Adult survivors of childhood cancers

One in every thousand people reaching the age of 20 will have had treatment for cancer<sup>226</sup>. Every system in the body has long term effects from systemic chemotherapy and childhood cancer and its treatment may also impact on growth and body composition<sup>226;227</sup>. Health generally, mental well being, level of function and limited activity are worse in adult survivors of childhood cancers than age matched controls. There may also be long term effects on social function including lower highest educational qualification and lower income in those who have had cancer<sup>228</sup>.

Second cancers, including leukaemia and thyroid cancer, are also more common. Rates of solid tumours amongst survivors of childhood cancers are seven times that of the population as a whole before the age of forty. Living with bone marrow transplantation and its long term effects, if graft-versus-host disease is present is an ongoing issue for many children who are being treated successfully for a number of malignancies with intense treatment regimens<sup>217</sup>. The need for life-long follow up generates its own burden<sup>227</sup>. Complications later in life will be increasingly described as the cohort of people cured of malignancies such as acute lymphoblast leukaemia ages. The full extent of late side-effects of treatment has not yet been realised<sup>229</sup>. The long term effects of high dose chemotherapy and ionising radiation in the children of people who suffered from childhood cancer is largely unknown.

The need to cope with uncertainty about the future and challenges in transition to independence are concerns of survivors of childhood cancer entering adulthood. Body image and the impact of treatment on it is also a concern in this group of people<sup>230</sup>. The transition from childhood through adolescence to adulthood is potentially a more difficult transition than for people who have not had childhood cancers. An appropriate balance of reasonable vigilance against increased anxiety is required.

#### Resumption of daily life after treatment

There are significant long term health problems following the successful treatment of a cancer including persistent fatigue years after therapy was completed<sup>211;231</sup>. Many cancer treatments increase fatigue. There are prospective randomised trials that indicate that aerobic exercise improves the rating of quality of life, physical and functional well being<sup>232-234</sup>. Fatigue and other symptoms persist in populations with cancer treated with curative intent and fatigue at six months after commencing treatment predicts the ability of people to ultimately return to work<sup>235</sup>. Increasing age and physical complaints lessen the likelihood of returning to a previous level of function. There is evidence that rehabilitation for people after cancer treatment increases the likelihood of returning to the previous level of function (including work)<sup>236</sup>.

In Australia, treatment of people after active treatment for cancer is increasingly likely to include individually tailored programs to specifically address fatigue<sup>237,238</sup>.

Previous treatment for cancer also impacts on other clinical conditions. For example, people who had been treated for cancer had more pre- and post-operative problems during hip replacement and were significantly more likely to be overweight at the time of surgery when compared to an age matched cohort<sup>239</sup>.

#### Service provision

In the Australian context, issues of transition from treatment to observation appear to be managed on an *ad hoc* basis. A rehabilitation paradigm is rarely present despite good evidence that intervention can improve function, quality of life and likelihood of returning to work.

The National Institue of Clincal Excellence has developed draft guidelines on supportive care for people with cancer<sup>240</sup>. These guidelines demonstrate that a considerable part of the cancer journey occurs between and after active treatment. Very little is known about the best ways to provide care during this period. As described in the next section, there is some evidence that discharge planners, written care plans and coordinators of care can improve outcomes during this period. Care planning and communication between health professionals is described in the next section on end-of-life care.

There is little or no information about the adequacy of services in Australia during this period. There is no planned approach to ensuring that services are available to meet the needs of people between, and after, active treatment for cancer. It seems likely that some people receive excellent care coordinated by their general practitioner (or other health professional) while others are left to seek support, information and management where they can. Non-government, community based and consumer organisations also play a major supportive role for people with cancer after treatment is completed. There is likely to be a great deal of variation in terms of quality of information and support provided by these groups and their availability.

The absence of research about good practice, guidelines for care provision or data about current practice in Australia illustrates the relative lack of attention outside the treatment context. There is an urgent need for increased research data and the development of organised and coordinated approaches to care.

## CARE AND SUPPORT AT END OF LIFE

In this document, the term 'end of life' has been used to describe the point where people with incurable cancer come to feel that the cancer is preventing them from leading the life they would like to live and that this will not improve. They may feel that either physically or psychologically they are not living as actively as they would like or experiencing the quality of life that they would like.

In using this definition, it is recognised that people will reach this point differently. For some individuals, this will occur at the time of diagnosis while others may not feel this way until very close to death. Individuals will move along a continuum rather than between discrete phases of treatment and end of life care.

It therefore follows that adequate care during the end of life period is fundamentally based upon the provision of supportive care and the development of effective relationships with health professionals much earlier in the cancer journey. For some people with cancer, these services may be provided by generalist health providers, while for others, specialist palliative care services may be needed. There should be a seamless transition between services and a high level of communication and collaboration between the health professionals involved. Health professionals may be reluctant to broach the issue of palliative care early in the cancer journey.

#### INDIVIDUAL AND FAMILY NEEDS

People want to:

- Have the best possible quality of life;
- Be free of pain and have their symptoms under control;
- Be able to prepare for death and feel a sense of completion;
- Find a sense of meaning in their life and illness;
- Be involved in decision making about their care as much as they wish;
- Know that their family is being supported;
- Not feel like a burden;
- Feel able to cope with the disease in the way that feels right to them;
- Have their practical needs met;
- Be treated by a team (which might be virtual) that is built around their needs and has good communication;
- Understand what is happening to them and what may happen in the future, as their disease progresses; and
- Be cared for in an environment of their choice be it at home, hospital or hospice.

#### Families want to:

- Be supported during their family member's illness;
- Be able to maintain their own quality of life while caring for their family member;
- Be confident their family member is receiving the best care;
- Be able to access information specific to their needs (which may differ from those of their family member);
- Receive help when needed in caring for their family member, physically and psychologically; and
- Be supported through the bereavement period.

### **OPTIMAL SERVICES**

People with cancer and their carers will have access to:

- Supportive care services from the time of diagnosis, to provide continuous and seamless care into the end of life period;
- Care which is coordinated and multidisciplinary including partnerships between specialists, primary care providers and the community;
- Treatment and palliative care services which are coordinated and integrated;
- Services that assist in meeting their physical, psychological, social, sexual, spiritual and practical needs;
- Services which are accessible to primary clinical carers twenty four hours a day;
- Services which are person centred and enable the person and their family to be in control of decisions about their care;
- Information in formats which are easy to understand and which meet their needs, taking into account that these may change over time, and that the person with cancer and the family may have different needs;
- A specific primary care coordinator, often their general practitioner and/or community nurse, who will assess needs and preferences and plan care taking into account the fact that these may change over time;
- A care plan which is based on management by a team which will be developed to meet the specific needs of each individual. The teams may be virtual and may include individuals to meet special cultural or other needs;
- A choice about where they will die taking into account that preferences may change over time. This will require adequate palliative care services and adequate community based support for those who choose to die at home;

- Adequate bereavement services including the active identification of needs; and
- Professional carers who are adequately trained and supported.

## RATIONALE FOR THE COMPONENTS OF OPTIMAL SERVICES AND CRITICAL INTERVENTION POINTS

#### Needs of people with a life limiting illness

The needs of people with cancer at the end of life are complex. In a large cross-sectional study in the USA, there was strong agreement about priorities among people who were aware that they had advanced cancer, family members between six and twelve months after the death of a relative with cancer, their doctors, nurses and allied health staff. Issues that were rated as important by all groups included:

- Pain and symptom management;
- The ability to prepare for death (psychologically and getting affairs in order);
- The ability to achieve a sense of completion (in relation to relationships and life goals);
- Being able to be involved in decision making; and
- The need to be treated as a whole person.

Issues that were far more important to people with cancer than their families or carers included, not being a burden, coming to peace with God, helping others and maintaining a sense of humour. Similar issues were identified in a prospective study in the United Kingdom<sup>242</sup>.

In Australia, information about end of life care has been obtained from carers after the death of the person with cancer. Most people indicate that they were satisfied with the care received, but that more easily available practical support would be valued. The place of care was felt to be appropriate<sup>243</sup>.

# Organisation of services: palliative care, coordination and integration

#### Palliative care

Specialised palliative services can improve outcomes for people at the end of life. These improved outcomes include patient and carer satisfaction, improved symptom control, improved provision of family information needs and shorter hospital stays<sup>244</sup>. In adequately randomised trials, benefits also include greater satisfaction with information transfer, improved likelihood of being cared for in the place of choice, fewer hospital admissions<sup>244</sup>.

The World Health Organisation refined its 12 year old definition of palliative care in 2002<sup>245</sup>. Among the very significant changes that reflect the world-wide evolution in end-of-life care across the 1990s, the new definition emphasises:

- The need for timely involvement of palliative services. The issue of timeliness will vary from person to person, and be informed by their needs, those of their carers and family, and also the health professional involved in their care;
- A smooth transition from active treatment to palliative and supportive care with substantial shared care between treating teams and the palliative care team<sup>246</sup>;
- The breadth of palliation to include the prevention of suffering (where able) and bereavement follow-up; and
- The need for palliative care teams to have sufficient depth of skill for 'impeccable assessment' of the person with the life limiting illness in the context of their life and illness.

There is no evidence at this time that one particular model of service provision in palliative care optimises outcomes and resource utilisation<sup>247;248</sup>. For example, the benefits of hospital-based palliative care teams are not well defined in the literature. The studies that have been done generally use end-points that may well fail to capture the breadth of the practice that is carried out in hospitals. The few studies available need to be interpreted with caution<sup>249</sup>, although a more recent study concluded that there were overall benefits<sup>250</sup>. Prospective evaluations of the impact of community teams have been carried out around the world. The presence of a palliative care community team may decrease the duration and frequency of hospital admission at the end of life for people with cancer<sup>251</sup>. The extent of benefit and the key elements that need to be in place for this benefit are not well defined in the literature<sup>252</sup>.

There are currently 260 specialised palliative care teams in Australia. However, there is little information about access to, and use of, palliative care services or the extent to which there is a seamless transition from other services to palliative care.

At a whole-of-health level, the two most comprehensive pictures of palliative service provision available currently in Australia are the national snapshot of palliative services carried out by Palliative Care Australia in 1998<sup>253</sup> and the national sub-acute and non-acute patient casemix classification work done in the mid-1990s<sup>254</sup>. Both studies drew data from the established funding services, rather than defining optimal service models. However, there are some estimates of the needs generated by people with cancer at the end of life and the resources needed to meet these needs<sup>254-256</sup>.

Few studies have evaluated the economic impact of palliative care<sup>252</sup>. Any evaluation needs to include the costs to the community of providing the care, benefits derived and the costs if this care were not to be provided. The impact on carers in the longer term is a key issue that needs to be addressed in any economic model.

#### Referral to palliative care services

Optimal care requires timely referral from oncology services to palliative care early in the disease trajectory. Palliative care is referral based and therefore limited by how effectively the interface with other service providers identifies and refers the appropriate cases. It is a continuing challenge to achieve the current World Health Organisation recommendations about shared care. In Australia, information about the proportion of people with cancer who are adequately referred is not available; however, the opinions of both professionals and people with cancer suggest that referral could be improved. There is some evidence that people are being referred earlier to palliative care services<sup>245</sup>.

#### Coordination of care, general practitioners and community care

In Australia, there is considerable variation in the extent to which a seamless service is provided from the time a life-limiting illness is recognised through until death. Early studies in palliative care demonstrated that better coordination of existing resources can improve outcomes including satisfaction with care and less time spent in hospital. Randomised trials support this role of specialised palliative services<sup>244</sup>.

Case conferencing is still being evaluated in health care in general, and in palliative care specifically in randomised prospective studies in the Australian context<sup>246</sup>. The role of case conferencing in palliative care has not yet been articulated. If bringing health practitioners together can improve patient outcomes in measurable ways, then their cost and the coordination difficulties may be worthwhile.

Continuity of care as people with cancer move into the community can be facilitated by discharge planners and by timely availability of information<sup>255</sup>. The appointment of care coordinators would assist in improving continuity of care. In Australia, general practitioners often take this role. The interface between general practice (and by inference community nursing) and specialised palliative care services is not optimal<sup>257</sup>.

Despite the key role played by general practitioners in providing care and support for people at the end of life, it forms a very small part of their total workload<sup>258;259</sup>. Engaging general practitioners in multidisciplinary care through case conferencing in the Australian context is not easy, with low uptake rates and the perception of time-consuming processes to access reimbursement<sup>246</sup>. There remains however, little information about the ways in which general practitioners are involved in the provision of palliative care in Australia.

#### Multidisciplinary care

Optimal care at the end of life acknowledges the complexity of needs for people with cancer and their carers and therefore the range of different services required<sup>245</sup>. *The Palliative Care Service Provision in Australia: A Planning Guide* articulates the disciplines required and the quantum of input for good palliative care across all care settings<sup>260</sup>. Volunteers are widely used to complement professional clinical services in the provision of social, emotional and practical support<sup>260</sup>. Acknowledged as being a vital component of many palliative care services<sup>261</sup>, the provision of volunteer services requires support by way of training, supervision, and administration infrastructure<sup>262</sup>.

Multidisciplinary care must include the full spectrum of tools that can improve care; for example, improving sense of well being is an important goal and can be met with focused interventions including relaxation<sup>263</sup>. It is not clear that Australian palliative care services are currently funded within models which enable multidisciplinary care and adequate use of allied health services<sup>254;264</sup>.

#### Person centred care

Services should be person centered. The Palliative Care Australia guidelines<sup>260</sup> point directly to ensuring that services are built around a person with cancer so that there is a virtual team to support each individual. People with cancer and their families should be involved in decision making about care to the extent to which they are comfortable. This is not always fully provided<sup>265</sup>.

# Supportive network: family, friends and other caregivers

Family, friends and other carers (referred to here as the 'primary carer') are the resource around which community-based palliative care is built. In Australia, the strongest indicator of receiving home care and home death is the presence of a primary carer<sup>266;267</sup>.

The roles that primary carers take on are broad<sup>268</sup> and few are adequately trained or supported. Although rewarding, caring causes major life changes and is at times (especially with uncontrolled symptoms) very distressing<sup>258</sup>. Caregiver outcomes depend on a number of variables including the length of time for which care is given and the relationship to the person for whom care is given<sup>269</sup>. There are significant health costs for carers. Adequate support for carers needs to include mechanisms for reducing anxiety through support and an ability to mobilise informal support networks<sup>270</sup>. Carers find the role challenging and only half report finding the role rewarding, with the potential for many unmet needs while trying to maintain the role<sup>258;271</sup>.

There are also economic costs associated with caring for someone at the end of life. In a multi-site study in the USA, there was a relationship between complexity of need at the end of life and economic costs. The more complex the care needs, the greater the rate of subjective economic burden reflected in higher rates of loans to pay for care, or where more than 10% of household income was spent on health care<sup>272</sup>. Overall, cost reductions to funded health services can be seen because of a shift to community care (and hence informal carers who are not costed in the models) with cost savings modest at best<sup>244;248</sup>.

Research is only just beginning to explore approaches to addressing the needs of primary carers in a more comprehensive way. Interventions that may be of benefit include group support<sup>273</sup>. There is also evidence that using a palliative care team may result in improved survival at 18 months for spousal carers<sup>274</sup>, improved satisfaction with care<sup>244</sup> and shortened grief<sup>275</sup>. Working with whole families can have a positive impact on outcomes<sup>276</sup>.

Respite care can do much to assist primary carers. However, Australia does not have a strong record in providing respite for carers particularly in late disease where the physical burden and around-theclock demands mean that carers tire.

# Services that meet physical, psychological, social and other needs

#### Symptoms

Fear of uncontrolled symptoms is still the major fear of people facing end of life and of their

carers<sup>265</sup>. Major symptoms in order of magnitude and frequency include fatigue, pain, dyspnoea and nausea and/or vomiting. Data suggest that of these, significant benefits are derived from treatment for all but fatigue. Ongoing research with fatigue suggests that even this is amenable to tailored intervention. For the vast majority of people with cancer, symptoms can be substantially improved. Equally, despite best efforts, there will continue to be a small number of people with significant refractory symptoms.

Pain, however, is the second most frequently encountered symptom, and increasing evidence is that for the vast majority of people (> 98%), pain can be controlled so that sleep is not interrupted and people are able to be comfortable at rest during the day<sup>277</sup>. Dyspnoea, when all reversible causes have been treated, can be improved with non-pharmacologic interventions such as breath control, functional pacing, relaxation and visualisation techniques and improved breathing habits. A meta-analysis and adequately powered study also indicate that low dose opioids are useful in opioid naive people with cancer in helping with dyspnoea<sup>278;279</sup>.

The extent to which people with cancer in Australia receive adequate symptom control towards the end of their life is unknown.

#### **Psychological issues**

The psychological burden of cancer, its diagnosis and treatment is substantial. Towards the end of life, loss is a major issue and there can be demoralisation which is beyond simply sadness<sup>276</sup>. A great range of emotions is encountered which may be out of character for that particular person and may particularly challenge their primary caregivers.

Ensuring adequate psychological support within the Australian context is difficult as there are very few clinical psychologists employed in oncology and even fewer in palliative services. The costs for private psychology and psychological support are out of the reach of many people. The extent to which people in Australia receive adequate access to psychological support services during this period of their life is unknown.

#### Practical needs

Practical needs are of great importance. Declining functional status mirrors the disease course for most people with cancer. Needs at the end of life are complex<sup>280</sup> and adequately supporting people in the activities of daily living, finances, wills and other legal issues is valued by people with cancer and their families<sup>265</sup>.

#### Other issues

The importance of social support, management of sexual issues and spiritual care are recognised as very important to the well being of people towards the end of life. However, little is known about the extent to which these aspects of care are provided in Australia at this time.

# Providing care to groups with special needs

There are many people who have special needs which must be addressed during the end of life period. This includes people from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds, young children, those with Alzheimers or other types of dementia, people in communities where they have watched someone else die from this illness (particularly groups such as motor neuron disease or HIV/AIDS, and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples).

There has been no systematic approach to developing appropriate services for groups with special needs and little is known about the care provided or the extent to which needs of people in these groups are met. However, the following comments can be made:

- Providing care for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders is not about adapting models of care so much as examining with communities the care that they would expect at the end of life and, in close consultation, how that community can best be supported to provide that care<sup>281</sup>;
- For elderly people, managing symptoms encountered at the end of life will often be in the context of significant comorbidities that will need special attention. In the setting of residential aged care facilities, adequate resources for staff

development and deployment, and adequate time remain significant challenges<sup>282</sup>. The lack of identified carers will impact in coming decades on place of care for many Australians;

- Children with advanced cancer need to be supported in the context of their family<sup>283</sup>. Both inpatient and home-based care have advantages and disadvantages. These need to be weighed for each child at different times along their disease trajectory. Special needs exist for parents caring for children who are dying. Although there are advantages to home based care at the end of life, the challenge of providing adequate support across wide geographic regions remains<sup>283</sup>;
- The limited evidence available suggests that people from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds are less likely to access palliative care services<sup>284</sup>. They may be less likely to derive the spectrum of benefits from the involvement of palliative services enjoyed by the rest of the community including choice of place of care and physical symptom control<sup>285</sup>. There is evidence that Australian palliative care workers could benefit from training in cross-cultural issues<sup>286</sup>; and
- There is a major challenge of isolated practice for health professionals working in palliative care in Australia<sup>287</sup>. Providing multidisciplinary care is possible even with Australia's dispersed population through tele-medicine and other strategies<sup>288</sup>. Coordination of the resources already available is important particularly in regional, rural and remote areas to support outcomes that are focused around identified issues by people with cancer. This can be achieved even in those settings where members of the team may not meet face-to-face frequently<sup>288</sup>.

# Information and choice for people with cancer

People with cancer and their families need appropriate information, provided in a timely way as the disease progresses. For example, providing information on the physical care of the body at home after death is not appropriate early in the course of treatment but is imperative in the last few days to few weeks of life if carers are going to have confidence in providing that care later on. Care of the physical needs of people with cancer, particularly as they become debilitated, is a major focus for the caregivers. There are lots of information resources available but not a single resource that meets these complex needs.

Preference for place of care at the end of life may change over time<sup>289,290</sup>. Eliciting from people with cancer and separately from their carers the key factors that influence these decisions may at times prove to be a difficult task. Choice of the place of care may be tempered by the resources available – the availability of health care professionals (both during the day and after hours), the availability of a primary caregiver in the household and the concerns, skills and fears of those involved in the care<sup>291-293</sup>.

Optimal care will enable open discussion about these issues. It will ensure that these decisions can be revisited comfortably without caregivers feeling that they have failed the dying person.

#### Bereavement

Bereavement begins with the threat of loss; adequate support, often from the time of the diagnosis of advanced progressive disease, is necessary<sup>294</sup>.

For people at low risk of complicated bereavement, there is little evidence that any interventions will be of value. However, for those at high risk of chronic grief, there is some evidence to support interventions from trained health care providers with particular skills. There is as yet no agreed, validated screening tool to enable the identification of those likely to experience chronic grief and no evidence that the early identification and management will improve outcomes<sup>295</sup>.

In Australia, there is diverse practice in the provision of bereavement care in terms of who provides assessment, who provides follow-up, the qualifications and background discipline of the health professionals involved in bereavement and in the interventions offered. Bereavement services should be adequately resourced and work across the whole health spectrum<sup>296</sup>.

## **CRITICAL INTERVENTION POINTS FOR CANCER CONTROL**

The critical intervention points represent those aspects of care where Australia might most usefully invest to reduce death and distress from cancer. The identification of critical intervention points is based on consideration of whether the aspect of care:

- Is important in terms of death, suffering or health care costs;
- Is currently suboptimal, given what is known about optimal services and about current care; and
- Can be improved.

## SELECTION OF CRITICAL INTERVENTION POINTS

The critical intervention points were selected as follows:

- The needs of people and the optimal services within the Framework shown in Figure 1 were identified;
- A detailed review of the evidence about people's needs and the value of the optimal services were undertaken;
- Patterns of care in Australia were assessed to identify where services are currently different from the optimal. This analysis was hindered by the lack of data about many aspects of care and about service provision;
- The issues identified through these analyses were compared with priorities identified through a number of recent documents developed including: Optimising Cancer Care in Australia<sup>4</sup>; the Priority Actions for Cancer Control<sup>5</sup>;the report of Radiation Oncology Inquiry<sup>6</sup>; Report for Cancer in the Bush conference<sup>7</sup> and State Plans (New South Wales and Victoria); and
- The proposed critical intervention points were reviewed by: the National Service Improvement Framework Expert Panel; the National Health Priority Action Council; the Cancer Strategies Group; participants at the Clinical Oncological Society of Australia conference and consumer groups.

# THE CRITICAL INTERVENTION POINTS

The 19 critical intervention points for cancer are placed in order of the continuum of care and are as follows:

#### **Reduce risk**

- 1. Establish National, State/Territory and local plans to further reduce rates of smoking using evidence-based public health strategies and government actions.
- 2. Establish National, State/Territory and local plans to increase rates of protection of skin from the sun using evidence-based public health strategies and government actions.
- Establish National, State/Territory and local plans to promote healthy eating and active living including healthy weight in collaboration with other national health priorities and policies.

#### Find cancer early

- 4. Improve strategies (particularly via primary care) to increase participation in breast cancer screening, and to increase participation by underscreened groups in cervical screening.
- 5. Improve programs to provide more appropriate and accessible breast and cervical screening services for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women.
- 6. Complete and evaluate the bowel cancer screening pilot which will assist in informing governments about the acceptability, feasibility and cost effectiveness of introducing a national bowel screening program.
- Develop and disseminate support and information for general practitioners and for people with cancer, about the diagnosis of symptoms which may be cancer including recommendations about appropriate investigation and referral pathways.
- 8. Improve systems so that all people with suspected cancers are referred appropriately and assessed promptly and effectively.

# Management and support during active treatment

- Improve access to treatment services for all Australians, particularly those living in regional, rural and remote areas and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people.
- Develop systems to improve the coordination of care for people with cancer including defined referral pathways and designated coordinators of care.
- 11. Develop and implement strategies to encourage multidisciplinary care.
- 12. Implement clinical practice cancer guidelines.
- 13. Develop and implement strategies to encourage cancer services and people with cancer to participate in clinical trials.
- 14. Provide information through accreditation of services, credentialing of practitioners or other strategies to help people with cancer assess the quality of care being provided.
- 15. Work towards improving supportive care for people with cancer by implementing the psychosocial clinical practice guidelines.

# Management and support after and between periods of active treatment

- 16. Develop and implement strategies so that the needs of people with cancer after and between periods of active treatment are met.
- 17. Provide appropriate information for people with cancer about follow-up, practical issues, support services and self care.

#### Care at end of life, if cancer is not curable

- Improve timely and appropriate access to adequate palliative care services and medications and monitor the impact.
- 19. Develop models of end of life care that ensure integration with treatment services and coordination among community services and palliative care teams.

## NATIONAL PRIORITY ACTIONS FOR CHANGE

### **OVERVIEW**

Significant improvements in cancer control as outlined in the National Service Improvement Framework will require change at the local, State/Territory and national level.

A number of strategies may facilitate improvements in cancer control in Australia including: the establishment of State/Territory cancer plans; the establishment of integrated networked cancer services; improvements in primary care management of cancer; improved access to services; the improvement of care for regional, rural and remote communities; the establishment of accreditation systems; strengthening training and professional development; targeted funding systems; the improvement of data and monitoring systems; strengthened approaches to research and planning strategies for the future.

The adoption of the National Service Improvement Framework for cancer will require a systematic implementation plan developed in consultation with States and Territories, professional colleges, nongovernment organisations, consumer groups and other key stakeholders.

Based on the consultations undertaken so far to develop the National Service Improvement Framework for cancer eight initial priority actions are recommended. These national actions underpin the critical intervention points and would provide the basis for many of the changes identified in the Framework.

### **PRIORITY ACTIONS**

The priority actions are:

- 1. Establish integrated and networked cancer services to improve continuity of care from reducing risk to care at the end of life.
- Establish accreditation for cancer services and credentialing of practitioners using as a basis the recommendations about optimal services outlined in the Framework.
- 3. Develop funding structures which support multidisciplinary care in hospitals and the community through specialist and general practitioner payment schedules.
- 4. Develop National, State/Territory and local approaches to monitoring all aspects of cancer control including performance indicators.
- 5. Provide evidence-based consumer information about the environmental, behavioural and genetic risks of cancer, prevention, early detection, diagnosis and treatment, and supportive care.
- 6. Establish national approaches to assist primary health care providers (especially general practitioners) to offer high quality and appropriate assessment of risk, detection of cancer, referral to treatment, coordination of treatment and supportive care (from diagnosis to palliative care).
- 7. Implement and evaluate culturally appropriate programs to improve cancer control with special emphasis on the needs of disadvantaged groups, particularly Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people.
- 8. Review the evidence, gaps in research and opportunities for action within a specific timeframe, at least every three years.

### **NEXT STEPS**

An implementation plan for each of these priority actions will be developed based on the national consultations with States and Territories.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This document was developed by the National Service Improvement Framework Expert Panel based on reviews prepared by The Institute for Health Research. The Chair of the Expert Panel is Professor Robert Burton and the members are as follows:

- Professor Roger Allison
- Professor Bruce Barraclough
- Professor Robert Burton
- Professor Alan Coates
- Ms Noreen Dowd
- Professor Mark Elwood
- Ms Susan Garner
- Professor Paul Harnett
- Dr Liz Kenny
- Associate Professor Rosemary Knight
- Mr Russell McGowan
- Dr David Woods
- Associate Professor Patsy Yates

The Institute for Health Research under the leadership of Professor Sally Redman has been contracted to bring together the evidence to support the Framework. The following people assisted with the reviews:

- Dr Emily Banks, National Centre for Epidemiology and Population Health, Australian National University;
- Professor Phyllis Butow, Medical Psychology Research Unit, University of Sydney;
- Professor David Currow, Palliative & Supportive Services, Flinders University;
- Professor Mark Elwood, National Cancer Control Initiative
- Dr Teresa Fisher, Institute for Health Research;
- Professor Michael Frommer, Sydney Health Projects Group, University of Sydney;
- Associate Professor Afaf Girgis, Centre for Health Research & Psycho-oncology, University of Newcastle;
- Dr Anne Kricker, School of Public Health, University of Sydney;
- Ms Ilona Juraskova, Medical Psychology Research Unit, University of Sydney;
- Dr Christine Paul, Centre for Health Research & Psycho-oncology, University of Newcastle;
- Dr Nicole Rankin, Consultant, Institute for Health Research;
- Dr Ros Sorenson, Centre for Clinical Governance Research in Health, University of New South Wales;
- Dr Angela Todd, Sydney Health Projects Group, University of Sydney;
- Ms Flora Tzelepis, Centre for Health Research & Psycho-oncology, University of Newcastle;
- Dr Raoul Walsh, Centre for Health Research & Psycho-oncology, University of Newcastle
- Professor Melanie Wakefield, Centre for Behavioural Research in Cancer, The Cancer Council Victoria

- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Australasian Association of Cancer Registries. Cancer in Australia 2000. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2003.
- (2) Australian Bureau of Statistics. Summary of Results. (Cat. no 4364.0). 2001. Canberra, ABS.
- (3) National Health Service. The NHS cancer plan: a plan for investment, a plan for reform. London, Department of Health, 2000.
- (4) National Cancer Control Initiative, 2003. Optimising cancer care in Australia; a consultative report prepared by the Clinical Oncological Society of Australia, The Cancer Council Australia and the National Cancer Control Initiative, 2003.
- (5) Cancer Strategies Group (CSG). Priorities for Action in Cancer Control 2001-2003. Canberra, Department of Health and Ageing, 2001.
- (6) Radiation Oncology Inquiry. A vision for radiotherapy: report of the Radiation Oncology Inquiry. Canberra: Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing, 2002.
- (7) The Cancer Council Australia, Clinical Oncological Society of Australia, Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing. Cancer in the bush: optimizing clinical services. Sydney: The Cancer Council Australia, 2001.
- (8) English D, Holman C, Milne E, et al. The quantification of drug caused morbidity and mortality in Australia 1995. Canberra: Commonwealth Department of Human Services and Health, 1995.
- (9) Giovannucci E, Rimm EB, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, Ascherio A, Kearney J. A propspective study of cigarette smoking and risk of colorectal adenoma and colorectal cancer in US men. *Journal National Cancer Institute* 1994; 86:183-191.
- (10) International Agency for Research on Cancer. Tobacco smoking and involuntary smoking. Lyons: International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2002.
- (11) Ridolfo B, Stevenson C. The quantification of drug-caused mortality and morbidity in Australia, 1998. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2001.
- (12) Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. 2001 national drug strategy household survey: first results. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2002.
- (13) Cho E, Smith-Warner SA, Ritz J et al. Alcohol intake and colorectal cancer: a pooled analysis of 8 cohort studies. *Annals* of Internal Medicine 2004;603-613.
- (14) Armstrong B, Kricker A. The epidemiology of solar radiation and skin cancer. In: P Giacomoni (Ed). Sun protection in man. Amsterdam: Elsevier Science, 2001: 151.
- (15) National Drug Strategy Unit. Australian Secondary Students Use of Alcohol in 1999. Sun protection data. Unpublished, 1999.
- (16) World Cancer Research Fund, American Institute for Cancer Research. Food nutrition and the prevention of cancer: a global perspective. Washington: World Cancer Research Fund and American Institute for Cancer Research, 1997.
- (17) Giskes K, Turrell G, Patterson C, Newman B. Socio-economic differences in fruit and vegetable consumption among Australian adolescents and adults. *Public Health Nutrition* 2002; 5(5):663-669.
- (18) Marks G, Rutishauser H, Webb K, Picton P. Key food and nutrition data for Australia 1990-1999. Canberra: Commonwealth Department of Health and Aged Care, 2001.
- (19) International Agency for Research on Cancer. Weight control and physical activity. Lyons: International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2002.
- (20) Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. A growing problem: trends and patterns in overweight and obesity among adults in Australia, 1980 to 2000. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2003.

- (21) Bauman A, Ford I, Armstrong T. Trends in population levels of reported physical activity in Australia, 1997, 1999, and 2000. Canberra: Australian Sports Commission, 2001.
- (22) Schiffman M, Castle P. Human papillomavirus: epidemiology and public health. Archives of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine 2003; 127(8):930-934.
- (23) Manhart L, Koutsy L. Do condoms prevent genital HPV infection, external genital warts, or cervical neoplasia? A metaanalysis. Sexually Transmitted Diseases 2002; 29:725-735.
- (24) Shepherd J, Weston R, Peersman G, Napuli I. Interventions for encouraging sexual lifestyles and behaviours intended to prevent cervical cancer (Cochrane Review). In: Cochrane Library, editor. Oxford: Update Software, 2004.
- (25) Bleeker M, Hogewoning C, Voorhorst F, et al. Condom use promotes regression of human papillomavirus-associated penile lesions in male sexual partners of women with cervical intraepithelial neoplasia. *International Journal of Cancer* 2003; 107(5):804-810.
- (26) Paul C, Barratt A, Redman S, et al. Knowledge and perceptions about breast cancer incidence, fatality and risk among Australian women. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health* 1999; 23:296-400.
- (27) National Health and Medical Research Council, Australian Cancer Network. Clinical Practice Guidelines. Familial aspects of cancer: a guide to clinical practice. Canberra, National Health and Medical Research Council, 1999.
- (28) Paul C, Tzelepis F, Walsh R, et al. Has the investment in public cancer education delivered observable changes in knowledge over the past 10 years? *Cancer* 2003; 97:2931-2939.
- (29) Webb G, Jurisich R, Sanson-Fisher R. A critical review of Australian cancer organisation's public education material. *Community Health Studies* 1990; 14(2):171-179.
- (30) Slaytor E, Ward J. How risks of breast cancer and benefits of screening are communicated to women: analysis of 58 pamphlets. *British Medical Journal* 1998; 317:263-264.
- (31) The Cancer Council Australia. National Cancer Prevention Policy: 2001-2003. Sydney, The Cancer Council Australia, 2001.
- (32) The Cancer Council Australia. The Cancer Council 2001 Annual Report. Sydney: The Cancer Council Australia, 2001.
- (33) Pit S, Cockburn J. Cancer Information Services: a pre-/postevaluation of training to promote nationwide consistency of information. *European Journal of Cancer Care* 2000; 9:204-211.
- (34) Shiel E. Don't ask for an opinon ask for a scalpel: print media coverage of breast cancer in Australia in 1995. Woolloomooloo: National Breast Cancer Centre, 1999.
- (35) Serra C, Cabezas C, Bonfill X, Pladevall-Vila M. Interventions for preventing tobacco smoking in public places (Cochrane Review). 3rd ed. Oxford: Update Software, 2003.
- (36) Centres for Disease Control and Prevention. Strategies for reducing exposure to environmental tobacco smoke, increasing tobacco-use cessation, and reducing initiation in communities and health-care systems: a report on recommendations of the Task Force on Community Preventative Services. Atlanta: Centres for Disease Control and Prevention, 2000.
- (37) Fichtenberg C, Glantz S. Effect of smoke-free workplaces on smoking behaviour: systematic review. *British Medical Journal* 2002; 325:188.
- (38) VicHealth Centre for Tobacco Control. Environmental tobacco smoke in Australia. National Tobacco Strategy 1999 to 2002-03 Occasional Paper. Canberra: Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing, 2002.
- (39) Jha P, Chaloupka F. The economics of global tobacco control. British Medical Journal 2000; 321:358-361.

- (40) Winstanley M, Woodward S, Walker N. Tobacco in Australia: facts and issues. Melbourne: Victorian Smoking and Health Program, 1995.
- (41) Saffer H, Chaloupka F. The effect of tobacco advertising bans on tobacco consumption. *Journal of Health Economics* 2000; 19:1117-1137.
- (42) The Commonwealth Department of Health and Aged Care. National Tobacco Strategy 1999 - 2002-03: a framework for action. Canberra: The Commonwealth Department of Health and Aged Care, 1999.
- (43) Jha P, Chaloupka F. Curbing the epidemic: governments and the economics of tobacco control. Washington: The World Bank, 1999.
- (44) Stead L, Lancaster T. Interventions for preventing tobacco sales to minors (Cochrane Review). In: Cochrane Library, editor. Oxford: Update Software, 2003.
- (45) Thomas R. School-based programmes for preventing smoking (Cochrane Review). In: Cochrane Library, editor. Oxford: Update Software, 2003.
- (46) World Health Organisation. Guidelines for controlling and monitoring the tobacco epidemic. Geneva: 1998.
- (47) Greenwood J, Soulos G, Thomas N. Under cover: guidelines for shade planning and design. Sydney: NSW Cancer Council and NSW Health Department, 1998.
- (48) Dobbinson S, Inglis G, Hilditch A. SunSmart policies and practices in Victorian local government: 2001. Melbourne: The Cancer Council Victoria, 2001.
- (49) Cummings S, Tripp M, Herrmann N. Approaches to the prevention and control of skin cancer. *Cancer and Metastasis Reviews* 1997; 16:309-327.
- (50) Crane L, Schneider L, Yohn J, et al. Block the sun, not the fun: evaluation of a skin cancer prevention program for child care centers. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 1999; 17:31-37.
- (51) Girgis A, Sanson-Fisher R, Watson A. A workplace intervention for increasing outdoor workers' use of solar protection. *American Journal of Public Health* 1994; 84:77-81.
- (52) The Cancer Council NSW and NSW Health Department. Skin Cancer Prevention Strategic Plan for NSW 2001-2005. Sydney, 2001.
- (53) The Cancer Council Victoria. SunSmart Strategic Plan 2003 to 2006. Melbourne: The Cancer Council Victoria, 2003.
- (54) Sallis J, Bauman A, Pratt M. Environmental and policy interventions to promote physical activity. *American Journal of Preventative Medicine* 1998; 15:379-397.
- (55) The Commonwealth Department of Health and Family Services. Developing an active Australia: a framework for action for physical activity and health. Canberra: The Commonwealth Department of Health and Family Services, 1998.
- (56) Kahn E, Ramsey L, Brownson R, et al. The effectiveness of interventions to increase physical activity. A systematic review. *American Journal of Preventative Medicine* 2002; 22(4s):73-107.
- (57) Nicklas T, Johnson C, Myers L, et al. Outcomes for a high school program to increase fruit and vegetable consumption: Gimme 5 - a fresh nutrition concept for students. *Journal of School Health* 1998; 68:248-253.
- (58) Emmons K, Linnan L, Shadel W, et al. The Working Healthy Project: a worksite health-promotion trial targeting physical activity, diet, and smoking. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 1999; 41:545-555.
- (59) Sorensen G, Stoddard A, Peterson K, et al. Increasing fruit and vegetable consumption through worksites and families in the Treatwell 5-a-day study. *American Journal of Public Health* 1999; 89(1):54-60.

- (60) Strategic Inter-Governmental Nutrition Alliance (SIGNAL). Eat Well Australia: an agenda for action for public health nutrition, 2000-2010. Canberra: National Public Health Partnership, 2001.
- (61) French S. Pricing effects of food choices. *Journal of Nutrition* 2003; 133:841s-843s.
- (62) McVey D, Stapleton J. Can anti-smoking television advertising affect smoking behaviour? Controlled trial of the Health Education Authority for England's anti-smoking TV campaign. *Tobacco Control* 2000; 9(273):282.
- (63) Pierce JP, Macaksill P, Hill D. Long-term effectiveness of mass media led antismoking campaigns in Australia. *American Journal* of *Public Health* 1990;(80):565-569.
- (64) Siegel M, Biener L. The impact of an anti-smoking media campaign on progression to established smoking: results of a longitudinal youth study. *American Journal of Public Health* 2000; 9:380-386.
- (65) Wakefield M, Flay B, Nichter M, Giovino G. Effects of antismoking advertising on youth smoking: a review. *Journal of Health Communication* 8, 229-247. 2003.
- (66) Biener L, Harris JE, Hamilton W. Impact of the Massachusetts tobacco control programme: population based trend analysis. *British Medical Journal* 321, 351-354. 2000.
- (67) Hu T, Sung H, Keeler TE. Reducing cigarette consumption in California: tobacco taxes vs. an anti-smoking media campaign. *American Journal of Public Health* 1995;(85):1218-1222.
- (68) Tan N, Wakefield M, Freeman J. Changes associated with the National Tobacco Campaign: results of the second follow-up survey. In: Hassard K, editor. Australia's national tobacco campaign. Evaluation report volume two. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia, 2000: 21-76.
- (69) Donovan RJ, Boutler J, Borland R, Jalleh G, Carter O. Continuous tracking of the Australian National Tobacco Campaign: advertising effects on recall, recognition, cognitions and behaviour. *Tobacco Control* 2003; 12(11):30-39.
- (70) Wakefield M, Freeman J, Donovan RJ. Recall and response of smokers and recent quitters to the Australian National Tobacco Campaign. *Tobacco Control* 2003; 12(11):15-22.
- (71) White V, Tan N, Wakefield M, Hill D. Do adult-focused antismoking campaigns have an impact on adolescents? The case of the Australian National Tobacco Campaign. *Tobacco Control* 2003; 12(11):23-29.
- (72) Montague M, Borland R, Sinclair C. Slip! Slop! Slap! and SunSmart, 1980-2000: skin cancer control and 20 years of population-based campaigning. *Health Education and Behavior* 2001; 28:290-305.
- (73) Ashenden R, Silagy C, Weller D. A systematic review of the effectiveness of promoting lifestyle change in general practice. *Family Practice* 1997; 14:160-176.
- (74) Silagy C, Stead L. Physician advice for smoking cessation (Cochrane Review). In: Cochrane Library, editor. Oxford: Update Software, 2003.
- (75) Young J, Ward J. Implementing guidelines for smoking cessation advice in Australian general practice: opinions, current practices, readiness to change and percieved barriers. *Family Practice* 2001; 18:14-20.
- (76) Silagy C, Lancaster T, Gray S, Fowler G. Effectiveness of training health professionals to provide smoking cessation interventions: systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *Quality in Health Care* 1994; 3:193-198.
- (77) European Partnership to Reduce Tobacco Dependence. WHO evidence-based recommendations on the treatment of tobacco dependence. Denmark: World Health Organization Europe, 2001.
- (78) Lancaster T, Stead L. Individual behavioural counselling for smoking cessation (Cochrane Review). In: Cochrane Library, editor. Oxford: Update Software, 2003.

#### NATIONAL SERVICE IMPROVEMENT FRAMEWORK FOR CANCER

- (79) Stead L, Lancaster T, Perera R. Telephone counselling for smoking cessation (Cochrane Review). In: Cochrane Library, editor. Oxford: Update Software, 2003.
- (80) Silagy C, Lancaster T, Stead L, et al. Nicotine replacement therapy for smoking cessation (Cochrane Review). 3rd ed. Oxford: Update Software, 2003.
- (81) Lichtenstein E, Glasgow R, Lando H, et al. Telephone counseling for smoking cessation: rationales and meta-analytic review of evidence. *Health Education Research* 1996; 11:243-257.
- (82) Wakefield M, Miller C. Evaluation of the National Quitline Service. In: Hassard K, editor. Australia's national tobacco campaign. Evaluation report volume one. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia, 1999: 83-126.
- (83) Milligan R, Burke V, Beilin L, et al. Influence of gender and socio-economic status on dietary patterns and nutrient intakes in 18-year-old Australians. *Australian and New Zealand Journal* of *Public Health* 1998; 22(4):485-493.
- (84) Cameron A, Welborn T, Zimmet P, et al. Overweight and obesity in Australia: the 1999-2000 Australian diabetes, obesity and lifestyle study (AusDiab). *Medical Journal of Australia* 2003; 178:427-432.
- (85) Condon J, Armstrong B, Barnes A, Cunningham J. Cancer in Indigenous Australians: a review. *Cancer Causes and Control* 2003;(14):109-121.
- (86) Coory M, Fagan P, Muller J, Dunn N. Participation in cervical cancer screening by women in rural and remote Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities in Queensland. *Medical Journal of Australia* 2002; 177:544-547.
- (87) Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Statistics on drug use in Australia 2002. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2003.
- (88) Taylor R, Morrell S, Mamoon H, et al. Cervical cancer screening in a Vietnamese nominal cohort. *Ethnicity and Health* 2003; 8(3):251-261.
- (89) International Agency for Research on Cancer. Breast cancer screening. Lyons: International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2002.
- (90) Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Breast Screen Australia achievement report 1997 - 1998. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2000.
- (91) Hakama M, Miller A, Day N. Screening for cancer of the uterine cervix. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer, 1986.
- (92) Towler B, Irwig L, Glasziou P, et al. A systematic review of the effects of screening for colorectal cancer using the faecal occult blood test, hemoccult. *British Medical Journal* 1998; 317:559-565.
- (93) Frankel S, Smith G, Donovan J, Neal D. Screening for prostate cancer. *The Lancet* 2003; 361(9363):1122-1128.
- (94) U.S.Preventive Services Task Force. Screening for prostate cancer: recommendation and rationale. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2002; 137:915-916.
- (95) Schroder F, Bangma C. The European randomised study of screening for prostate cancer (ERSPC). *British Journal of Urology* 1997; 79(1):68-71.
- (96) Austoker J. Gaining informed consent for screening. British Medical Journal 1999; 319:722-723.
- (97) Malenka D, Baron J, Johansen S, et al. The framing effect of relative and absolute risk. *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 1993; 8:543-548.
- (98) Schwartz L, Woloshin S, Black W, Welch H. The role of numeracy in understanding the benefit of screening mammography. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 1997; 127:966-972.

- (99) Cockburn J, Redman S, Hill D, Henry E. Public understanding of medical screening. *Journal of Medical Screening* 1995; 2:224-227.
- (100) Ward J. Population-based mammographic screening: does 'informed choice' require any less than full disclosure to individuals of benefit, harms, limitations and consequences? *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health* 1999; 23(3):301-304.
- (101) Barratt A, Cockburn J, Redman S, Paul C. Mammographic screening: results from the 1996 National Breast Health Survey. *Medical Journal of Australia* 1997; 176:521-524.
- (102) O'Connor A, Stacey D, Entwistle V, et al. Decision aids for people facing health treatment or screening decisions (Cochrane Review). In: Cochrane Library, editor. Oxford: Update Software, 2003.
- (103) Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Cervical screening in Australia 1999 - 2000. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2003.
- (104) Van den Akker-van Marle M, van Ballegooijen M, van Oortmarssen G, et al. Cost-effectiveness of cervical cancer screening: comparison of screening policies. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2002; 94(3):193-204.
- (105) Womeodu R, Bailey J. Barriers to cancer screening. *Medical Clinics of North America* 1996; 80:115-133.
- (106) Bonfill X, Marzo M, Pladevall M, et al. Strategies for increasing women's participation in community breast cancer screening (Cochrane Review). In: Cochrane Library, editor. Oxford: Update Software, 2001.
- (107) Stone E, Morton S, Hulscher M, et al. Interventions that increase use of adult immunization and cancer screening services: a meta-analysis. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2002; 136(9):641-651.
- (108) Zorbas H. Breast cancer screening. *Medical Journal of Australia* 2003; 178(12):651-652.
- (109) Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing. BreastScreen Australia monitoring report 2000-2001. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2003.
- (110) Bandaranayake D. PhD thesis. Why do some non-melanocytic skin cancers reach an advanced stage before they are treated?: reasons for delay in presentation, referral and treatment of NMSC at an advanced stage. Newcastle: University of Newcastle, 2003.
- (111) Bennett J, Brewer C, Beyko S, Bennet S. Cancer control strategies in eleven OECD countries. Ottawa: The Canadian Cancer Society and the National Institute of Canada, 1999.
- (112) National Health and Medical Research Council. Guidelines for the prevention, early detection and management of colectoral cancer. Canberra: National Health and Medical Research Council, 1999.
- (113) Department of Health (UK). Referral guidelines for bowel cancer. April. London, The Association of Coloproctology of Great Britain and Ireland, 2002.
- (114) Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing. Medicare statistics. Canberra, Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing, 2003.
- (115) National Breast Cancer Centre. Investigation of a new breast symptom: a guide for general practitioners. Woolloomooloo: National Breast Cancer Centre, 1997.
- Armstrong A, O'Connell D, Leong D, Spigelman A, Armstrong
  B. The NSW Colorectal Cancer Care Survey 2000. The Cancer Council of NSW, The University of Newcastle, 2004.
- (117) Richardson G, Thursfield V, Giles G. Reported management of lung cancer in Victoria in 1993: comparison with best practice. *Medical Journal of Australia* 2000; 172:321-324.

- (118) Cockburn J, Pit S, Zorbas H, Redman S. Investigating breast symptoms in primary care: enhancing concordance with current best practice. *Cancer Detection and Prevention* 2002; 25:407-413.
- (119) Richards M, Smith P, Ramirez A, et al. The influence of survival of delay in the presentation and treatment of symptomatic breast cancer. *British Journal of Cancer* 1999; 79:858-864.
- (120) Schofield P, Beeney L, Thompson J, et al. Hearing the bad news of a cancer diagnosis: the Australian melanoma patient's perspective. *Annals of Oncology* 2001; 12:365-371.
- (121) Butow P, Kazemi N, Beeney L, et al. When the diagnosis is cancer: patient communication experiences and preferences. *Cancer* 1996; 77(12):2630-2637.
- (122) National Breast Cancer Centre. Breast changes. Camperdown: National Breast Cancer Centre, 2000.
- (123) Doust J, Mannes P, Bastian H, Edwards A. Interventions for improving understanding and minimizing the psychological impact of screening (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, editor. Oxford: Update Software, 2003.
- (124) Fink J. Beyond the shock of abnormal Pap. *RN* 2003; 66(6):56-62.
- (125) Hamm R, Smith L. The accuracy of patients; judgements of disease probability and test sensitivity and specificity. *Journal of Family Practice* 1998; 47(1):44-52.
- (126) Davey H, Lim J, Barratt A, et al. Medical tests: well women's decision making preferences and information needs. *Health Expectations* 2002; 5:330-340.
- (127) Croft E, Barratt A, Butlow P. Information about tests for breast cancer: what are we telling people? *Journal of Family Practice* 2002; 57(10):858-860.
- (128) Jong K, Smith D, Yu X, et al. Remoteness and cancer incidence, mortality and survival in New South Wales in 1992 to 1996. Woolloomooloo: The Cancer Council NSW, 2002.
- (129) Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Cancer survival in Australia 1992-1997: Geographic categories and SES. Cancer Series 22. 1999.
- (130) Shaw I, Elston T. Retrospective, 5-year surgical audit comparing breast cancer in indigenous and non-indigenous women in far north Queensland. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Surgery* 2003; 73:758-760.
- (131) McMichael C, Kirk M, Manderson L, et al. Indigenous women's perceptions of breast cancer diagnosis and treatment in Queensland. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health 2000; 24:515-520.
- (132) National Breast Cancer Centre, National Cancer Control Initiative. Clinical practice guidelines for the psychosocial care of adults with cancer. Camperdown: National Breast Cancer Centre, 2003.
- (133) Parker P, Baile W, De Moor C, et al. Breaking bad news about cancer: patient preferences for communication. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2001; 19:2049-2056.
- (134) Schofield P, Butow P, Thompson J, et al. Psychological responses of patients receiving a diagnosis of cancer. *Annals of Oncology* 2003; 14(1):48-56.
- (135) Williams P, Redman S, Rankin N, Davis C. Is breast cancer care in accord with clinical practice guidelines: a consumer audit. *The Breast* 2002; 11(6):509-515.
- (136) Sainsbury R, Hayward B, Johnston C. Influence of clinician workload and patterns of treatment on survival from breast cancer. *The Lancet* 1995; 345:1265-1270.
- (137) Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Australasian Association of Cancer Registries. Cancer survival in Australia 2001, part 1: national summary statistics. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2001.

- (138) Hill D, Jamrozik K, White V, et al. Surgical management of breast cancer in Australia in 1995. Woolloomooloo: National Breast Cancer Centre, 1999.
- (139) Begg C, Cramer L, Hoskins W. Impact of hospital volume on operative mortality for major cancer surgery. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 1998; 280:1747-1751.
- (140) Cowan J, Dimick J, Leveque J-C, et al. The impact of provider volume on mortality after intracranial tumor resection. *Neurosurgery* 2003; 52:45-54.
- (141) Schrag D, Panageas K, Riedel E, et al. Hospital and surgeon procedure volume as predictor of outcome following rectal cancer resection. *Annals of Surgery* 2002; 236(5):583-592.
- (142) Tracey E, Armstrong B. Women with ovarian cancer in NSW 1993 - 1996: the relationship of survival to hospital type and doctor specialty at first admission. Woolloomooloo: The Cancer Council NSW, 2003.
- (143) Gillis C, Hole D. Survival outcome of care by specialist surgeons in breast cancer. *British Medical Journal* 1996; 312:145-148.
- (144) Olver I, Selva-Nayagam S. Evaluating a tele-medicine link between Darwin and Adelaide to facilitate cancer management. *Telemedicine Journal* 2000; 6:213-218.
- (145) McCarthy A, Brodribb T, Brown L, et al. The chemotherapy education needs of nurses working in rural and remote areas of Queensland. Toowoomba: Centre for Rural and Remote Health, 2002.
- (146) Yates P, Goran E, Brown L, et al. Educational preparation for chemotherapy nursing: a survey of Queensland nurses. *Australian Journal of Cancer Nursing* 2003; 4(2):4-10.
- (147) National Breast Cancer Centre. A quality improvement kit for breast cancer treatment. Woolloomooloo. National Breast Cancer Centre, 2000.
- (148) Payne S, Jarret N, Jeff D. The impact of travel on cancer patients' experiences of treatment: a literature review. *European Journal of Cancer Care* 2000; 9:197-203.
- (149) Davis C, Williams P, Redman S, et al. Assessing the practical and psychosocial needs of rural women with early breast cancer in Australia. *Social Work in Health Care* 2003; 36(3):25-36.
- (150) McGrath P. Experience of relocation for specialist treatment for hematological malignancies. *Cancer Strategy* 1999; 157:163.
- (151) Mainous III A, Baker R, Love M, et al. Continuity of care and trust in one's physician: evidence from primary care in the United States and the United Kingdom. *Family Medicine* 2001; 33:22-27.
- (152) Starfield B. Primary care: balancing health needs, services and technology. New York: Oxford University Press, 1998.
- (153) Cook R, Render M, Woods D. Gaps in the continuity of care and progress on patient safety. *British Medical Journal* 2000; 320(7237):791-794.
- (154) Clacey R, Thomas C, Pearson H. Does counseling by nurses for masectomy patients work? In: Watson M, Greer S, Thomas C, editors. *Psychosocial oncology*. Oxford: Permagon, 1998: 159-168.
- (155) McArdle J, George W, McArdle C, et al. Psychological support for patients undergoing breast cancer surgery: a randomised study. *British Medical Journal* 1996; 312(7034):813-816.
- (156) Liaw T, Lawrence M, Rendell J. The effect of a computer generated patient held medical record summary and or written personal health record on patients attitudes, knowledge and behaviour concerning health promotion. *Family Practice* 1996; 13(3):289-293.
- (157) The Cancer Council NSW, Breast Cancer Action Group NSW. Falling between the stools? A survey of women's experience of breast cancer services in NSW. Woolloomooloo: The Cancer Council NSW, 2001.

- (158) Williams P, Rankin N, Redman S, et al. National survey of women with early breast cancer: their perceptions of care. Woolloomooloo: National Breast Cancer Centre, 2003.
- (159) Haward R, Amir Z, Borrill C, et al. Breast cancer teams: the impact of constitution, new cancer workload, and methods of operation on the effectiveness. *British Journal of Cancer* 2003; 89:15-22.
- (160) Cochrane R, Davies E, Singhal H, et al. The National Breast Referral Guidelines have cut down inappropriate referrals in the under 50's. *European Journal of Surgical Oncology* 1999; 25(3):251-254.
- (161) Grimshaw J, Russell I. Effect of guidelines in medical practice: a symptomatic review of rigorous evaluations. *The Lancet* 1993; 342:1317-1322.
- (162) Bero L, Grilli R, Grimshaw J, et al. Closing the gap between research and practice: and overview of systematic reviews of interventions to promote implementation of research. *British Medical Journal* 1998; 317:465-468.
- (163) Craft P, Zhang Y, Brogan J, et al. Implementing clinical practice guidelines: a community based audit of breast cancer treatment. *Medical Journal of Australia* 2000; 172:213-216.
- (164) Smith T, Hillner B. Ensuring quality cancer care by the use of clinical practice guidelines and critical pathways. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2001; 19(11):2886-2897.
- (165) Greco P, Eisenberg J. Changing physician's practices. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1993; 329:1271-1274.
- (166) National Health Service (UK) Centre for Reviews and Dissemination. Effective health care: getting evidence into practice. 5th ed. University of York: Royal Society of Medicine Press, 1999.
- (167) National Health and Medical Research Council. Clinical practice guidelines for the management of early breast cancer. 2nd ed. Canberra: National Health and Medical Research Council, 2001.
- (168) National Health and Medical Research Council. Clinical practice guidelines for the management of advanced breast cancer. Canberra: National Health and Medical Research Council, 2001.
- (169) National Health and Medical Research Council. Clinical practice guidelines for the management of cutaneous melanoma. Canberra: National Health and Medical Research Council, 1999.
- (170) National Health and Medical Research Council. Clinical practice guidelines: Non-melanoma skin cancer - guidelines for treatment and management in Australia. Canberra: National Health and Medical Research Council, 2002.
- (171) National Health and Medical Research Council. Clinical practice guidelines: Evidence-based information and recommendations for the management of localised prostate cancer. Canberra: National Health and Medical Research Council, 2002.
- (172) Clinical Governance Unit HAHS. The national colorectal cancer care survey: an outline of Australian clinical practice in 2000. Melbourne: National Cancer Control Initiative, 2002.
- (173) Vinod SK, Delaney GP, Bauman AE, Barton MB. Lung cancer patterns of care in south western Sydney. *Thorax* 2003; 58(8):690-694.
- (174) McCredie M, Bell J, Lee A, Rogers J. Differences in patterns of care of prostate cancer, New South Wales, 1991. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Surgery 1997; 67(5):296-297.
- (175) Zorbas H, Rainbird K, Redman S, Luxford K. Multidisciplinary care: Australian hospitals can talk the talk but do they walk the walk? Unpublished manuscript.
- (176) Luxford K, Redman S, Boyle F, et al. Encouraging change in hospitals to support best practice for breast cancer care: randomized controlled trial. Unpublished manuscript.
- (177) National Breast Cancer Centre. National Multidisciplinary Care Demonstration Project. Camperdown: National Breast Cancer Centre, 2003.

- (178) Gabel M, Hilton N, Nathanson S. Multidisciplinary breast cancer clinics: do they work? *Cancer* 1997; 79(12):2380-2384.
- (179) Tripathy D. Multidisciplinary care for breast cancer: barriers and solutions. *The Breast* 2003; 326:877-879.
- (180) Zorbas H, Barraclough B, Rainbird K, et al. Multidisciplinary care in the Australian context: what does it mean? *Medical Journal of Australia* 2003; 179(10):528-531.
- (181) Luxford K, Rainbird K. Multidisciplinary care for women with breast cancer: a national demonstration program. NSW Public Health Bulletin 2001; 12:277-279.
- (182) Tulloh B, Goldsworthy M. Breast cancer management: a rural perspective. *Medical Journal of Australia* 1997; 166:26.
- (183) Nisselle P. Angered patients and medical profession. *Medical Journal of Australia* 1999; 170:576-577.
- (184) Daniel A, Burn R, Horarik S. Patient's complaints about medical practice. *Medical Journal of Australia* 1999; 170:185-191.
- (185) Sardell A, Trierweiler S. Disclosing the cancer diagnosis. Procedures that influence patient hopefulness. *Cancer* 1993; 72:3355-3365.
- (186) Holmes-Rovner M, Llewwllyn-Thomas H, Elwyn G. Moving the mainstream. In: Edwards A, Elwyn G, editors. Evidence-based patient choice: inevitable or impossible? Oxford: University Press, 2001: 270-288.
- (187) O'Connor A, Rostom A, Fisest V, et al. Decision aids for patients facing health treatment or screening decisions: systematic review. *British Medical Journal* 1999; 319:731-734.
- (188) Fallowfield L, Jenkins V. Effective communication skills are the key to good cancer care. *European Journal of Cancer* 1999; 35:1592-1597.
- (189) National Breast Cancer Centre. Psychosocial clinical practice guidelines: providing information, support and counseling to women with breast cancer. Woolloomooloo: National Breast Cancer Centre, 2000.
- (190) The Cancer Council NSW Professional Education and Training Committee. Communicating with your patients: an interactional skills training program for junior medical officers. Woolloomooloo: The Cancer Council NSW, 2004.
- (191) Tattersall M, Butow P, Griffin A, Dunn S. The take-home message: patients prefer consultation audiotapes to summary letters. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1994; 12:1305-1311.
- (192) Fallowfield L, Jenkins V, Farewell V, Saul J, Duffy A, Eves R. Efficacy of a Cancer Research UK communication skills training model for oncologists: a randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet* 359, 650-656. 2002.
- (193) Girgis A, Sanson-Fisher RW, McCarthy WH. Communicating with patients: Surgeons' perceptions of their skills and need for training. *The Australian and New Zealand Journal of Surgery*; 67:775-80.
- (194) National Institute for Clinical Excellence. Guidelines for supportive and palliative care. United Kingdom: National Institute for Clinical Excellence, 2003.
- (195) Devine E, Westlake S. The effects of psycho educational care provided to adults with cancer: meta-analysis of 116 studies. *Oncology Nursing Forum* 1995; 22:1369-1381.
- (196) Sallowfield L, Lipkin M, Hall A. Teaching senior oncologists communication skills: results from phase I of a comprehensive longitudinal program in the United Kingdom. *Journal of Clinical Oncology.* 1998; 16:1961-8.
- (197) Cain E, Kohorn E, Quinlan D, et al. Psychosocial benefits of cancer support group. *Cancer* 1986; 57:186-189.
- (198) Breitbart W. Identifying patients at risk for, and treatment of major psychiatric complications of cancer. *Support Care Cancer*, 1995; 3:45-60.
- (199) Rieker P, Fitzgerald E, Kalish L, et al. Psychological factors, curative therapies and behavioural outcomes: a comparison of testsis cancer survivors and a control group of healthy men. *Cancer* 1989; 64:2399-2407.
- (200) Parle M, Gallagher J, Gray C, et al. From evidence to practice: factors effecting the specialist breast nurse's detection of psychological morbidity in women with breast cancer. *Psycho-Oncology* 2001; 10:503-510.
- (201) Cancer Voices NSW. What is Cancer Voices NSW? Newsletter: Cancer Voices NSW 2003; June(11):6.
- (202) Rankin N. The use and acceptability of a one-on-one peer support program for Australian women with early breast cancer. *Patient Education & Counseling* 2003; In press.
- (203) Sanson-Fisher R, Girgis A, Boyes A, et al. The unmet supportive care needs of patients with cancer. *Cancer* 2000; 88(1):226-237.
- (204) Newell S, Sanson-Fisher R, Girgis A, Bonaventura A. How well do medical oncologists' perceptions reflect their patients' reported physical and psychosocial problems? Data from a survey of five oncologists. *Cancer* 1998; 83(8):1640-1651.
- (205) Ferrell B, Dow K. Portraits of cancer survivorship: a glimpse through the lens of survivors' eyes. *Cancer Practice* 1996; 4:76-80.
- (206) Gotay CC, Muraoka MY. Quality of life in long-term survivors of adult-onset cancers. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1998; 90(9):656-657.
- (207) Dow K, Ferrell B, Haberman M, Eaton L. The meaning of quality of life in cancer survivorship. *Oncology Nursing Forum* 1999; 26(3):519-528.
- (208) Ferrell B, Dow K. Measurement of the quality of life in cancer survivors. *Quality of Life Research* 1995; 4:523-531.
- (209) Wyatt G, Friedman L. Long-term female cancer survivors: quality of life issues and clinical implications. *Cancer Nursing* 1996; 19:1-7.
- (210) Hewitt M, Rowland J. Mental health service use among adult cancer survivors; analyses of the National Health Interview Survey. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2002; 20:4581-4590.
- (211) Hewitt M, Rowland J, Yancik R. Cancer survivors in the United States: age, health, and disability. *Journals of Gerontology Series* A: Biological Sciences & Medical Sciences 2003; 58:82-91.
- (212) Schultz P. Health profiles in 5836 long-term cancer survivors. International Journal of Cancer 2003; 104:488-495.
- (213) Blanchard C, Denniston M, Baker F, et al. Do adults change their lifestyle behaviours after a cancer diagnosis? *American Journal of Health Behavior* 2003; 27:246-256.
- (214) Matthews B. Role and gender differences in cancer-related distress: a comparison of survivor and caregiver self reports. *Oncology Nursing Forum* 2003; 30:493-499.
- (215) Arnold E. The cessation of cancer treatment as a crisis. *Social Work in Health Care* 1999; 29:21-38.
- (216) Gordon G. Care not cure: dialogues at the transition. *Patient Education and Counseling* 2003; 50:95-98.
- (217) Mahon S, Williams M, Spies M. Screening for second cancers and osteoporosis in long-term survivors. *Cancer Practice* 2000; 8(6):282-290.
- (218) Diller L, Nancarrow C, Shaffer K, et al. Breast cancer screening in women previously treated for Hodgkin's Disease: a prospective cohort study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2002; 20:2085-2091.
- (219) Green D, Galvin H, Horne B. The psycho-social impact of infertility on young male survivors: a qualitative investigation. *Psycho-Oncology* 2003; 12:141-152.

- (220) Ferguson R, Ahles T. Low neuropsychologic performance among adult cancer survivors treated with chemotherapy. *Current Neurology and Neuroscience Reports* 2003; 3:215-222.
- (221) Bowman K, Deimling GS, V, et al. Appraisal of the cancer experience by older long-term survivors. *Psycho-Oncology* 2003; 12:226-238.
- (222) Deimling G, Kahana B, Bowman K, Schaefer M. Cancer survivorship and psychological distress in later life. *Psycho-Oncology* 2002; 11:479-494.
- (223) Schmitt A, Singer S, Schwarz R. Evaluation of posttraumatic psychological problems in cancer patients. *Onkologie* 2003; 26(1):66-70.
- (224) Mosconi P, Apolone G, Barni S, et al. Quality of life in breast and colon cancer long-term survivors: an assessment with the EORTC QLQ-C30 and SF-36 questionaires. *Tumori* 2002; 88:110-116.
- (225) Tower D. Trans-survivorship: the cancer survivor's journey from trauma to transformation. Santa Barbara: The Fielding Institute, 2000: 398.
- (226) Davies H, Wales J. The effects of chemotherapy on the longterm survivors of malignancy. *British Journal of Hospital Medicine* 1997; 57:215-218.
- (227) Shusterman S, Meadows A. Long term survival of childhood leukemia. *Current Opinions in Hematology* 2000; 7:217-222.
- (228) Hudson M, Mertens A, Yasui Y, et al. Health status of adult long-term survivors of childhood cancer: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 2003; 24:1641-1643.
- (229) Bhatia S. Late effects among survivors of leukemia during childhood and adolescence. *Blood Cells, Molecules and Diseases* 2003; 31:84-92.
- (230) Elad P, Yagil Y, Cohen L, Meller I. A jeep trip with young adult cancer survivors: lessons to be learned. *Supportive Care in Cancer* 2003; 11:201-206.
- (231) Flechtner H, Bottomley A. Fatigue and quality of life: lessons from the real world. *Oncologist* 2003; 8(1):5-9.
- (232) Burnham T, Wilcox A. Effects of exercise on physiological and psychological variables in cancer survivors. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 2002; 34:1863-1867.
- (233) Courneya K, Friedenreich C, Sela R, et al. The group psychotherapy and home-based physical exercise (home-hope) trial in cancer survivors: physical fitmess and quality of life outcomes. *Psycho-Oncology* 2003; 12:357-374.
- (234) Mock V, Pickett M, Ropka M, et al. Fatigue and quality of life outcomes of exercise during cancer treatment. *Cancer Practice* 2001; 9:119-127.
- (235) Spelten E, Verbeek J, Uitterhoeve A, et al. Cancer, fatigue and the return of patient to work - a prospective cohort study. *European Journal of Cancer* 2003; 39:1562-1567.
- (236) Verbeek J, Spelten E, Kammereijer M, Sprangers M. Return to work of cancer survivors: a prospective cohort study into the quality of rehabilitation by occupational physicians. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 2003; 60(5):352-357.
- (237) Cole A. Rehabilitation for patients with disability due to cancer diagnosis progress report of a trial of a pilot program. *Cancer Forum* 2000; 24:226-228.
- (238) Winningham M. Strategies for managing cancer-related fatigue syndrome: a rehabilitation approach. *Cancer* 2001; 92:988-997.
- (239) Avila S, Marks R, Allegrante J. Body mass and physical capacity indicators of hip osteoarthritis patients with and without malignancy histories: implications for prevention and rehabilitation. *Disease Management* 2003; 6:27-34.

## NATIONAL SERVICE IMPROVEMENT FRAMEWORK FOR CANCER

- (240) National Institute for Clinical Excellence. Supportive and palliative care for adults with cancer: part A and part B. United Kingdom: National Institute for Clinical Excellence (In progress), 2004.
- (241) Steinhauser K, Christakis N, Clipp E, et al. Factors considered important at the end of life by patients, family, physicians, and other care providers. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 2000; 284(19):2476-2482.
- (242) Higginson I, Wade A, McCarthy M. Palliative care: views of patients and their families. *British Medical Journal* 1990; 301:277-281.
- (243) Wakefield M, Ashby M. Attitudes of surviving relatives to terminal care in South Australia. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management* 1993; 8:529-538.
- (244) Hearn J, Higginson I. Do specialist palliative care teams improve outcomes for cancer patients?: a systematic literature review of the evidence. *Palliative Medicine* 1998; 12:317-332.
- (245) World Health Organisation. National cancer control programmes: policies and managerial guidelines. *Geneva: World Health Organisation*, 2002.
- (246) Mitchell G, De Jong I, Del Mar C, et al. General practitioner attitudes to case conference: how can we increase participation and effectiveness? *Medical Journal of Australia* 2002; 177:95-97.
- (247) Carson G, Fitch M, Vachon M. Measuring patient outcomes in palliative care: a reliability and validity study of the Support Team Assessment Schedule. *Palliative Medicine* 2000; 14:25-36.
- (248) Goodwin D, Higginson I, Edwards A, et al. An evaluation of systematic reviews of palliative care services. *Journal of Palliative Care* 2002; 18(2):77-83.
- (249) Higginson I, Finlay I, Goodwin D, et al. Do hospital-based palliative teams improve care for patients or families at the end of life? *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management* 2002; 23:93-106.
- (250) Hanks G, Robbins M, Sharp D, et al. The imPaCT study: a randomised controlled trial to evaluate a hospital palliative care team. *British Journal of Cancer* 2002; 87:733-739.
- (251) Constantini M, Higginson I, Boni L, et al. Effect of a palliative home care team on hospital admissions among patients with advanced cancer. *Palliative Medicine* 2003; 17:315-321.
- (252) Higginson I, Finlay I, Goodwin D, et al. Is there evidence that palliative care teams alter end of life experiences of patients and their caregivers? *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management* 2003; 25:150-168.
- (253) State of the nation 1998 report of the national census of palliative care services. Canberra: Palliative Care Australia, 1998.
- (254) Eagar K. The Australian national sub-acute and non-acute patient casemix classification. *Australian Health Review* 1999; 2:180-196.
- (255) Palliative care: service provision in Australia: a planning guide. September ed. Canberra: Palliative Care Australia, 2002.

- (256) Franks P, Salisbury C, Bosanquet N, et al. The level of need for palliative care: a systematic review of the literature. *Palliative Medicine* 2000; 14:93-104.
- (257) Mitchell G. How well do general practitioners deliver palliative care?: a systematic review. *Palliative Medicine* 2002; 16(6):457-464.
- (258) Addington-Hall J, McCarthy M. Dying from cancer: results of a national population-based investigation. *Palliative Medicine* 1995; 9:295-305.
- (259) Higginson I. Palliative care services in the community: what do family doctors want? *Journal of Palliative Care* 1999; 15:21-25.
- (260) Palliative care: Service provision in Australia: a planning guide 2003. 2nd ed. Canberra: Palliative Care Australia, 2003.
- (261) Maddocks I. Palliative care in the 21st century. *Medical Journal of Australia* 2003; 179(6):S4-S5.
- (262) National palliative care strategy: a national framework for palliative care service development. Canberra: Commonwealth Department of Health and Aged Care, 2000.
- (263) Sloman R. Relaxation and imagery for anxiety and depression control in community patients with advanced cancer. *Cancer Nursing* 2002; 25:432-435.
- (264) Eagar K, Cromwell D, Kennedy C, Lee L. Classifying sub-acute and non-acute patients: results of the New South Wales Casemix Area Network study. *Australian Health Review* 1997; 20(2):26-42.
- (265) Steinhauser K, Christakis N, Clipp E, et al. Preparing for the end of life: preferences of patients, families, physicians, and other care providers. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management* 2001; 22(3):727-737.
- (266) Grande G, Addington-Hall J, Todd C. Place of death and access to home care services: are certain patient groups at a disadvantage? Social Science and Medicine, 1998; 47:565-579.
- (267) Maida V. Factors that promote success in home palliative care: a study of a large suburban palliative care practice. *Journal of Palliative Care* 18, 282-286. 2002.
- (268) Aranda S, Hayman-White K. Home caregivers of the person with advanced cancer: an Australian perspective. *Cancer Nursing* 2001; 24:300-307.
- (269) Schultz R, Beach S, Bonnie L, et al. Involvement in caregiving and adjustment to death of a spouse: findings from the caregiver effective study. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 2001; 285(3123):3129.
- (270) Harding R, Higginson I. What is the best way to help caregivers in cancer and palliative care?: a systematic literature review of interventions and their effectiveness. *Palliative Medicine* 2003; 17:63-74.
- (271) Beaver K, Luker K, Woods S. Primary care services received during terminal illnesses. *International Journal of Palliative Nursing* 2000; 6:220-227.
- (272) Emanuel E, Fairclough D, Slutman J, Emanuel L. Understanding economic and other burdens of terminal illness: the experience of patients and caregivers. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2000; 132:451-459.
- (273) Harding R, Learn C, Pearce A, et al. A multi-professional shortterm group intervention for informal caregivers of patients using a home palliative care service. *Journal of Palliative Care* 2002; 18:275-281.
- (274) Christakis N, Iwashyna T. The health impact of health care on families: a matched cohort study of hospice use by decendents and mortality outcomes in surviving, widowed spouses. *Social Science and Medicine* 2003; 57:465-475.

- (275) Ringdal G, Jordhoy M, Ringdal K, Kassa S. The first year of grief and bereavement in close family members to individuals who have died of cancer. *Palliative Medicine* 2001; 15:91-105.
- (276) Kissane D. Family focused grief therapy: the role of the family in the prevantative and therapeutic bereavement care. *Bereavement Care* 2003; 22:6-8.
- (277) Mercadante S. Pain treatment and outcomes for patients with advanced cancer who receive follow-up care at home. *Cancer* 1999; 85(8):1849-1858.
- (278) Jennings AL, Davies AN, Higgins JP, Gibbs JS, Broadley KE. A systematic review of the use of opioids in the management of dyspnoea. *Thorax*, 2002; 57:939-944.
- (279) Abernethy AP, Currow DC, Firth P, Fazekas BS, McHugh A, Bui C. Randomised double-blinded placebo-controlled crossover trial of sustained-release morphine for the management of refractory dyspnoea. *British Medical Journal* 327, 523-552. 2003.
- (280) Taylor K, Currow D. A prospective prevalence study of the unmet Activity of Daily Living needs amongst cancer patients at a comprehensive cancer care centre. *Australian Journal of Occupational Therapy* 2003; 50:79-85.
- (281) Willis J. Dying on country: implications of culture in the delivery of palliative care in indigenous Australian communities. *Anthropology and Medicine* 1999; 6:423-435.
- (282) Parker D, De Bellis A. A profile of dying residents in South Australian nursing homes. *International Journal of Palliative Nursing* 1999; 5(164):170.
- (283) Collins J, Stevens M, Cousens P. Home care for the dying child: a parent's perception. *Australian Family Physician* 1998; 27:610-614.
- (284) McGrath P, Vun M, McLeod L. Needs and experiences of non-English-speaking hospice patients and families in an Englishspeaking country. *The American Journal of Hospice and Palliative Care* 2001; 18:305-312.
- (285) Chan A, Woodruff R. Comparison of palliative care needs of English and non-English-speaking patients. *Journal of Palliative Care* 1999; 15:26-30.

- (286) McNamara B, Martin K, Waddell C, Yuen K. Palliative care in a multicultural society: perceptions of health care professionals. *Palliative Medicine* 1997; 11:359-367.
- (287) McConigley R, Kristjanson L, Morgan A. Research study: palliative care nursing in Western Australia. *International Journal* of *Palliative Nursing* 2000; 6:80-90.
- (288) Moorhouse C, George M, Smith B. Palliative care in rural Australia: involving the community in multidisciplinary coordinated care. *Australian Journal of Primary Health* 2000; 6:141-146.
- (289) Currow D, Noel M, Sullivan K. Place of death: what is the measure of success? *Illinois Medical Journal* 2003; 96(4):120-121.
- (290) Hinton J. Which patients with terminal cancer are admitted from home care? *Palliative Medicine* 1994; 8:197-210.
- (291) Grande G, Todd C, Barclay S, Farquhar M. Does hospital at home for palliative care facilitate death at home?: randomised controlled trial. *British Medical Journal* 1999; 319:1472-1475.
- (292) Tiernan E, Connor M, Kearney P, O'Siorain M. A prospective study of preferred versus actual place of death among patients referred to a palliative care home-care service. *Irish Medical Journal* 2002; 95(8):232-235.
- (293) Van den Eynden B, Hermann I, Schrijvers D, et al. Factors determining the place of palliative care and death of cancer patients. *Supportive Care in Cancer* 2000; 8:59-64.
- (294) Kissane D, McKenzie D, McKenzie M, Forbes A, O'Neill I, Boch S. Psychosocial morbidity associated with patterns of family functioning in palliative care:baseline data from the Family Focused Grief Therapy controlled trial. *Palliative Medicine* 2003; 17:527-537.
- (295) Horowitz MJ, Siegel B, Holden A, Bonanno GA, Milbrath C, Stinson CH. Diagnostic criteria for complicated grief disorder. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 1997; 154:904-910.
- (296) Raphael B. Preventive intervention with the recently bereaved. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 1977; 34:1450-1454.